AN ABSTRACT OF THE THESIS OF

<u>Michael W. Collier</u> for the degree of <u>Master of Science</u> in <u>Water Resources</u> <u>Engineering</u> presented on <u>August 22, 2008</u>. Title: <u>Demonstration of Fiber Optic Distributed Temperature Sensing to Differentiate</u> <u>Cold Water Refuge between Ground Water Inflows and Hyporheic Exchange.</u>

Abstract approved:

Richard H. Cuenca

Recent developments in Distributed Temperature Sensing (DTS) have allowed new insight into the surface-to-ground water interaction. The continuous temperature measurement by the DTS allows for cool water inflows to be located during warm summer months. These cool water inflows can then be differentiated between ground water and hyporheic exchange. The cool water inflows are important to many species that inhabit the rivers of the Western United States. As temperatures increase due to climate change the importance of cool water inflows will grow.

This study used fiber optic cable and the DTS system to measure the temperature in 2km of the Walla Walla River, near Milton-Freewater, Oregon. The temperature data was split into nighttime and daytime averages. The correlation between these two data sets was calculated to reveal when the daytime and nighttime data followed the same cooling pattern (evidence of ground water inflow) or when the nighttime temperature increased, but the daytime temperature decreased (evidence of hyporheic exchange). Nine areas of apparent ground water inflow and nine areas of expected hyporheic exchange were identified. The average quantity of inflow at each ground water site was calculated as 0.04 m³/s. The computed average hyporheic exchange depth along the 2000 m channel was 0.32 m. The located cold water inflows were compared to salmon and trout location from a US Fish and Wildlife Survey. This comparison showed that the cool mid-day inflows (either ground water or hyporheic exchange locations) made up 1/3 of the study reach length and had

approximately 60% of the cold water fish. Half of the cool water inflow sites did not have fish present during the survey which suggests that while influent cool water is a major factor for fish congregation, it is not the sole factor.

©Copyright by Michael W. Collier September 17, 2008 All Rights Reserved Demonstration of Fiber Optic Distributed Temperature Sensing to Differentiate Cold Water Refuge between Ground Water Inflows and Hyporheic Exchange

> by Michael W. Collier

A THESIS

submitted to

Oregon State University

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

Presented August 22, 2008 Commencement June 2009 Master of Science thesis of Michael W. Collier presented on August 22, 2008.

APPROVED:

Major Professor, representing Water Resources Engineering

Director of the Water Resources Graduate Program

Dean of the Graduate School

I understand that my thesis will become part of the permanent collection of Oregon State University libraries. My signature below authorizes release of my thesis to any reader upon request.

Michael W. Collier, Author

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The author expresses sincere appreciation to my faculty advisor, Richard Cuenca, he has been an encourager and friend throughout the graduate years. Also, to my minor advisor and project leader John Selker, he allowed me to work with him on this project and has helped me think through many of the complexities that this project has brought. John has also been a friend and his enthusiasm and energy for research is at a level few may ever understand. I appreciate the entire Hydraulic Science Team, Yutaka, Ari, Josh, Travis, Kent, and Suva, making the rainy Oregon winters bearable with office banter and for helping me with my thesis and research. A special thanks to Yutaka, you are the heart and soul of the HST. Thanks to all of you who read through my thesis, it was a great help. Thanks to Julie, Nick, and Martijn for help with MatLab. Thanks to Chadi and Chris for miscellaneous help throughout the project. I also wanted to acknowledge my parents for teaching me to enjoy education and trust in the Lord. To my family, friends, and fiancé for staying with me through some of the stressful times of research and thesis writing, many of whom also helped in the process. Rachelle, I love you and am grateful for the comfort and grace you have shown me. Lastly, I thank God for blessing me and carrying me through so much during my graduate school years.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

1.0 Introduction	1
2.0 Literature Review	4
2.1 Temperature and the Energy Budget	6
2.2 Tracers	10
2.3 Distributed Temperature Sensing	11
2.4 Ground Water to Surface Water Interaction	14
2.5 Ecological Considerations	17
3.0 Materials, Methods, and Theory	21
3.1 Instrumentation	21
3.2 Site	22
3.3 Objectives and Method3.3.1 Initial Data Processing3.3.2 Calculations	26 26 29 54
4.0 Results	55
4.1 Calibration and Jitter Removal of DTS Data	55
4.2 Cold Water Refugia	56
4.3 Calculations	65
4.3.1 Solar Radiation4.3.2 Ground Water4.3.3 Hyporheic Exchange	65 66 68
4.4 Fish Locations	72

TABLE OF CONTENTS (Continued)

5.0 Discussion	77
5.1 Solar Radiation Blocked	77
5.2 Refugia	79
5.2.1 Ground Water Inflow5.2.2 Hyporheic Exchange	80 80
5.3 Fish Response to Cold Water Inflows	84
5.4 Difficulties	84
6.0 Concluding Remarks and Suggestions for Future Studies	90
7.0 References	95

<u>Page</u>

LIST OF TABLES

Table	<u>Page</u>
3.1 Key specifications for the Agilent N4386A	21
4.1 Surface water flow measurements and calculated ground water inflows.	61
4.2 Ground water inflows calculated; the inflow from 1980 to 2045m was neglected in average due to the possible end effects that could be giving a false decrease in temperature reading at this site	67
4.3 Calculated hourly energy fluxes	71
4.4 Snorkel surveys completed on 8/16/2007	74
4.5 Fish locations from USFWS survey in connection with sites of refugia	76

LIST OF FIGURES

Figures	Page
2.1 Surface water-ground water interaction in hyporheic exchange	9
3.1a Map of the general research location, circle encompasses the Walla Walla Watershed which crosses the Oregon/Washington Border	23
3.1b Map of study reach location on the Walla Walla River within the Walla Walla Watershed	24
 3.2 Detailed Milton-Freewater quadrangle, Oregon – Umatilla Co., 7.5 minute series, topographic map of study reach on Walla Walla River (contour interval 20ft. National Geodetic Vertical Datum of 1929). 	25
3.3 Image of study site including yellow markers every 100m, the cable junction, start and end of project, ground water and hyporheic exchange sites, and refugia sites with fish present	28
3.4 High precision temperature probe measurements compared to DTS measurements for 1000m of the study reach at 1pm	30
3.5 Average cool night-time daily summer time temperature profile for the study reach in the Walla Walla River, Oregon for July 30 th to August 20 th , 2007 with air temperature removed	34
3.6 Average peak daily summer time temperature profile for the study reach in the Walla Walla River, Oregon from July 30 th to August 20 th , 2007 with air temperature removed	35
3.7 Average daily summer time temperature profile for the study reach in the Walla Walla River, Oregon from July 30 th to August 20 th , 2007 with air temperatures removed	36
3.8 Depiction of ground water system	38
3.9 Example of what is expected from a trace from a ground water inflow site during summertime temperatures	39
3.10 Depiction of expected temperature change from hyporheic exchange during summer	40

LIST OF FIGURES (Continued)

Figures	Page
3.11 Depiction of the energy sources and sinks for the study reach in Milton Freewater, OR	44
3.12 Conceptual model of the continuous hyporheic exchange	45
3.13 Depiction of energy inflows and outflows to the control volume.	45
3.14 Expected temperature from the energy budget compared to the actual temperature with hyporheic exchange	48
3.15 Wind speed comparison between 2002 to 2007 for the Walla Walla River near Milton-Freewater, Oregon.	49
3.16 Comparison of air temperature and relative humidity between 2002 and 2007 for the Walla Walla River near Milton-Freewater, Oregon	50
3.17 Conceptual model of continuous hyporheic exchange	52
4.1 The un-calibrated graph shows eight hours of temperature profile for the reach	57
4.2 Single temperature profile of raw data for study site on Walla Walla River, 21 August 2007 at 4pm only adjusted for temperature offset.Single Temperature Profile of Raw Data Adjusted for Offset.	58
4.3 Daily temperature variations with jitter present for July 30 th to August 20 th , 2007 for meter markings on cable of 1077 to 1425m; typical examples of jitter circled	59
4.4 Daily temperatures from DTS with running average for to smooth Jitter from August 4 th to August 20 th from the 1077 to the 1425 meter mark.	60
4.5 Average day summertime temperature reduced by 2.2 °C compared with a correlation coefficient to nighttime temperature for July 30 th to August 20 th , 2007 along the study reach in the Walla Walla Piver Oragon	67
wana wana Kiver, Oregon.	02

LIST OF FIGURES (Continued)

Figures	Page
4.6 Possible locations of ground water inflows for the Walla Walla River study site based on temperature data from 30 July to 20 August 2007.	63
4.7 Possible locations of hyporheic exchange for the Walla Walla River study site based on temperature data from 30 July to 20 August 2007	64
4.8 Example of a ground water inflow based on the locations found through the correlation coefficient from 915 to 930 meters	69
4.9 Two examples of hyporheic exchange based on the locations found through the correlation coefficient	73
5.1 Result of air temperature (giving a false hyporheic exchange reading from the correlation coefficient) and agricultural return flow (giving a false ground water inflow reading from the correlation coefficient) in the temperature data.	87
5.2 High loss cable (acceptable loss is 1dB/ km) and an approximate 0.5 dB loss encountered at a barrel connector at 1030 and 0.75 dB loss at the barrel connector at 2060 meters.	88
5.3 Air temperature and barrel connector site from the temperature profile, the barrel connector is the large spike during both the night and day at 1030 m.	89

1.0 Introduction

Fresh water is important to many aspects of aquatic and terrestrial life: food, shelter, oxygen, protection, temperature management, and hydration. Problems arise from the limited supply of fresh water available for an ever-increasing number of uses. Managing this limited resource is vital given the growing demand from industry, agriculture, municipalities, and recreation. Also, managers must consider natural ecosystems under stress from these anthropogenic uses (e.g., grazing and mining). The effects of these anthropogenic uses on the natural ecosystems are amplified by the increasing pace of climate change (e.g., Panagoulia and Dimou, 1996; Lettenmaier et al., 1999; Arnell and Liu, 2001; Snyder et al., 2002; Bower et al., 2004; Sophocleous, 2004; Barnett et al., 2005; Hatch, et al., 2006). There have been declining levels of water availability in many streams and aquifers, especially in the summer months, throughout the western United States (Winter et al., 1998; Sophocleous, 2000; Bachman et al., 2005; Hatch et al., 2006). With regards to natural ecosystems, the interaction between ground water and surface water is especially important for riparian systems to stabilize temperatures because they promote areas of increased biological activity. To appropriately manage the riparian systems it is vital to understand and quantify these interaction zones. Therefore, increasing our knowledge about the complexities and dynamics found in the fresh water supply, specifically between surface and ground water sources, is critical for improving our management strategies.

Ground water is water that has passed through the earth's subsurface and arrived at the water table as recharge and surface water is water on the earth's surface generally in the form of ponds, lakes, rivers, and streams (Dingman, 2002). While these have traditionally been managed as separate entities they are in reality one common source. An important aspect in surface-to-ground water interaction is that a change in the quantity of surface water will relate to a change in the water's source. In riparian systems, this relates to precipitation which percolates through the soil within the watershed and becomes ground water. The ground water can be identified and quantified if it flows into a river. Quantification of ground water flows will provide further understanding of spatial and temporal patterns of the interactions between surface and ground water. (Constantz, 1998; Kalbus et al., 2006b).

One limiting issue in understanding the dynamic nature of streams in the past was locating ground water inflows. Hydrologists have shown that stream temperatures can be used to better understand the hydrologic dynamics within a riverine system (Atwell et al., 1971; Ingebritsen et al, 1992; Constantz et al., 1994; Hondzo and Stefan, 1994; Johnson and Jones, 2000; Conant, 2004; Selker et al., 2006a; Selker et al., 2006b). Inflows can be located through temperature measurements that are continuous in time and in distance, however past technology could not give sufficiently high resolution readings over space and time to achieve this. Over the past decade, Distributed Temperature Sensing (DTS) has been developed and applied in a new way, identifying ground water inflows. The DTS system uses fiber optic technology to measure temperatures along the entire fiber. The temperature measurement is made by passing a laser's light through the fiber optic; the light from the laser passes through the glass and is scattered back to a sensor that counts returning photons. These photons return at the initial wavelength and, due to Raman scattering, wavelengths just above and just below this value. The measurement distance along the fiber optic cable is determined from the time of arrival of the back scattered light at the receiver. The intensity of the shorter returning wavelength is highly dependent on the temperature, and is called anti-Stokes. To improve accuracy, measurements are averaged spatially and temporally to increase the number of photons counted. The most common applications of DTS were for pipeline monitoring, oil well monitoring, power cable and fire detection systems (Grattan and Meggitt, 2000).

The possibility of applying DTS technology in the natural sciences has created much interest from hydrologists, ecological scientists, and geologists. This technology has been used in previous experiments (Selker et al., 2006b; and Westhoff et al., 2007) in headwater streams to identify ground water inflow locations. Although Selker et al. (2006b) and Westhoff et al. (2007) used DTS to measure stream temperature to quantify lateral inflow; this was not the first time temperature had been used for this purpose. Temperature is a proven way to quantify gains and losses to streams, either through measurement of stream temperature or the bed material (Stallman, 1965; Lapham, 1989; Silliman et al., 1995; Constantz, 1998; Constantz et al., 2003; Becker et al., 2004; Niswonger et al., 2005). Past temperature methods were based on point measurements. A DTS system has the ability to have temporal resolution from seconds to months. Also, these same temperature measurements can be taken at thousands of locations along the fiber optic cable. These measurements can be done either discretely or on an averaged basis. The new quantity of temperature data available through the DTS technology makes it easier to locate multiple cool water inflows to a river.

The objective of this research is to improve upon locating discrete cool water inflows to the Walla Walla River near Milton Freewater, Oregon through the use of a DTS system. These cooling inflows can then be separated between ground water inflows and hyporheic exchange sites (locations where surface water enters the streambed and re-emerges down gradient). The ground water inflows can be quantified from the temperature measurements and surface water flows. Also, the depth of hyporheic exchange can be quantified by calculating the volumetric heat capacity of the hyporheic exchange from an energy budget. This research also examines the possible relationship between these cool water inflows and the locations trout and salmon may reside in during summertime peak temperatures. The fish locations will be taken from a Fish and Wildlife survey that was completed at the study reach while the instrumentation was in place (between July 30th and August 24th, 2007).

2.0 Literature Review

Ground water to surface water interaction has been an area under critical review. This section of the thesis will give an overview of the cooling processes found in surface waters, how temperature can be used as a tool to analyze these processes, some of the ecological impacts of temperature, and how the DTS system can be used to improve upon the current hydrologic principals for ground water to surface water interaction.

Only recently have water managers and the legal system begun to look upon ground water and surface water as a single interconnected source and managed them as such (Harvey and Fuller, 1998; Winter et al., 1998). For the most part they have been managed as two distinct sources. With increasing water demands however, incorporating the interplay between these water supplies in our calculations has been essential for land managers (Stonestrom and Constantz, 2003). Not only is ground water a necessary component for aquatic ecosystems, it has become important politically. Water rights disputes between ground water and surface water users are increasingly common. Despite the legal distinction, they are, in fact, drawing from a common pool of water. Methods to account for surface water diversions, ground water pumping, and return flows are therefore necessary (Harvey and Fuller, 1998).

The contribution of ground water to surface water has been well established. Field work and data analysis have shown that ground water can make up a large percentage of the surface water budget (Winter, 1978, 1981, 1983, 1986). One of the most difficult tasks for computing the water budget for surface waters is the field identification of ground water upwelling sites (Lee and Hynes, 1977; Lee, 1985). Silliman and Booth (1993) made a significant methodological contribution to quantifying ground water inflows through temperature measurements of the streambed and the surface water. In the past, for hydrologists to locate ground water to surface water interface and quantify ground water discharge to surface water, extensive arrays of boreholes and piezometers were used (Winter, 1986; Kenoyer and Anderson, 1989). Past monitoring was completed through a multitude of methods. Hydrologists would install heat flow meters (Kerfoot, 1987; Ballard, 1996) and complete hydraulic testing with minipiezometers (Lee and Cherry, 1978) and seepage meters (Lee and Cherry, 1978; Lee and Hynes, 1977; Carr and Winter, 1980; Shaw and Prepas, 1990; Shaw et al., 1990; Avery, 1994; Landon et al., 2001; Paulsen et al., 2001). To further understand the ground water component, hydrologists model vertical streambed temperature profiles (Lapham, 1989; Silliman et al., 1995; Constantz and Thomas, 1996; Constantz, 1998; Bartolino and Niswonger, 1999; Fryar et al., 2000) and perform tracer tests (Lee et al., 1980; Harvey and Bencala, 1993; Meigs and Bahr, 1995). These monitoring systems are intensive and expensive to employ, may alter the natural flow in the stream, and are unable to detect small-scale spatial exchanges through the streambed (Conant, 2004).

A more recent development in locating ground water inflows to surface water has been through remote sensing. For example, remote sensing using FLIR (Forward Looking InfraRed) is used to find discrete locations of inflows and has been well established through the work of Nelson et al. (1991), and Atwell et al. (1971). FLIR has high spatial resolution and can be sampled by airplane. FLIR images indicate the temperatures of the land and water surface, showing locations where ground water seepage near the stream banks occurs. One drawback of FLIR is that the image encompasses only a snapshot in time. Distinctions between ground water and surface water temperatures are controlled by weather in diurnal variations, meaning during certain times of year some sources may be missed. Furthermore, FLIR does not penetrate the water column; cold water is denser and sinks, so groundwater upwelling locations may not be visible. Finally, FLIR does not give insight into the ground water exchange dynamics that time series data would (Silliman and Booth, 1993).

Temperature can be measured through other methods besides FLIR imaging to find ground water fluxes into the surface water systems (Stonestrom and Constantz, 2003). Building on early work by Bredehoeft and Papadopolous (1965) and Stallman (1965), temperature profiles have been successfully used in basins to estimate ground water recharge and discharge rates (Cartwright, 1970; Taniguchi, 1993; Taniguchi, 1994; Ferguson et al., 2003; Anderson, 2005). Estimates of ground water discharge are most reliable when the difference between surface water and ground water temperatures are at a maximum. At this point, there is the largest difference in temperature and any variance between the true temperature and the measured temperature will less significantly affect the computed flux. At sites of focused ground water inflows, there are abrupt changes in longitudinal temperature measurements. These ground water inflow sites are more stable than the surface water, which is not directly influenced by the ground water inflows because ground water dampens the extremes found in the surface water alone (Stonestrom and Constantz, 2003; Conant, 2004; Lowry et al., 2007). The temperature differences between the surface and ground water inflows may be observed by a shift in the surface water temperature when compared to the trend in the longitudinal profile of the surface water temperatures for a particular reach (Selker et al., 2006b).

2.1 Temperature and the Energy Budget

To use temperature to find ground water inflows and to differentiate this flow from hyporhiec exchange, it is necessary to understand the processes that give rise to a river's temperature. Stream temperature is influenced by many processes; solar radiation, air temperature, wind speed, shade, relative humidity, percent shade, aspect, ground temperature, precipitation, surface water inflows, and hyporheic exchanges. Other sources of energy for stream temperature include conduction of temperature to the stream substrate (Crittenden, 1978; Hondzo and Stefan, 1994; Evans et al., 1995; Johnson and Jones, 2000), evaporation and sensible heat exchange with the atmosphere (Sinokrat and Stefan, 1993; Webb and Zhang, 1997; Johnson and Jones, 2000), and energy contributed by advection from ground water (Ingebritsen et al., 1992; Sinokrat and Stefan, 1993; Webb and Zhang, 1997; Constantz, 1998; Johnson and Jones, 2000).

The three major processes that contribute to peak river heat reduction are shade, ground water inflows, and hyporheic exchange. Solar radiation on the water surface is the major input of thermal energy to most streams (Beschta et al., 1987; Sinokrat and Stefan, 1993; Webb and Zhang, 1997; Johnson and Jones, 2000).

Shading is known for blocking solar radiation, thus reducing the stream's heat during the day when the solar radiation would be expected to effectively warm the surface water (Davies and Nelson 1994; Hostetler 1991, Li et al., 1994, Naiman et al., 1992; Poole and Berman, 2001). Ground water inputs provide continuous summer cooling by adding water to the stream at distinct locations at the annual average air temperature (here only summer time is considered as this is when the cable was deployed) (Westhoff et al., 2007). Hyporheic exchange averages in time the river temperature, cooling mid-day peak temperature, and increasing nighttime low temperature. This temperature modification occurs due to the increased time water is held at the location of hyporheic exchange (Lee, 1985; Nelson, 1991; Silliman and Booth, 1992; Stonestrom and Constantz, 2003). These three processes of river heat reduction will be further considered in up coming sections of this thesis.

Through analysis of the temperature data we hoped to quantify ground water inflows and hyporheic exchange in the river, both of which could provide cold water refugia for fish. These refugia are expected to be found through the longitudinal temperature profiles acquired by the DTS. If the fiber optic cable goes through an unmixed zone of cool water, it is expected the cable will have a cooler signature until the cool water inflow thoroughly mixes with the surface water. The temperature offset may not differ between a ground water input and hyporheic exchange, both cooling the river during the heat of the day, at a single snap shot in time. The large difference between ground water and hyporheic exchange flows will be witnessed during the night, as ground water carries the average yearly air temperature and the hyporheic exchange will carry a lagged temperature signature from the river earlier in the day. It is anticipated that the return flow from the hyporheic exchange will show an increase in temperature during the night and a decrease during the day.

Hyporheic exchange is stream water that enters riparian sediment and reemerges further downstream, it is a process that creates surface water refugia but at a much smaller temporal and spatial scale than ground water exchange (Naiman and Bilby, 1998). Hyporheic exchange is pressure driven (Thibodeaux and Boyle, 1987; Savant et al., 1987; Stanford and Ward, 1988; Triska et al., 1989; Williams, 1989; Hendricks and White, 1991; White, 1993; Hutchinson and Webster, 1998; Wondzell and Swanson, 1999; Stonestrom and Constantz, 2003; Conant, B., Jr, 2004) and is caused by pool-to-riffle sequences, slope changes, and obstacles found in the stream bed, such as a log jam. Hyporheic exchange is an active area in current hydrologic research and is poorly understood due to the dynamic space and time nature and difficulty of measurement. (Larkin and Sharp, 1992; and Harvey and Bencala, 1993) The increased attention to hyporheic exchange has shown that it is present in most rivers (Boulton et al., 1998; Naiman et al., 1998; Winter et al., 1998). Water in the hyporheic exchange locations can range from 100% river water to a mixture dominated by ground water (Hinkle et al., 2001). The work here will concentrate on the thermal affects that this zone may have on surface water bodies and the possible quantification of such affects.

Hyporheic exchange time lag is determined by two components; the tortuous path the water is required to take and the heat capacity of the combined water and bed material. Hyporheic water will have the average temperature for the time duration it was flowing through the porous media of the substrate and will be dampened due to the heat capacity of the gravel and water it has flowed through (see Figure 2.1 for examples of hyporheic exchange). For example, if the surface water enters the substrate and later re-enters the river, it will carry the temperature the average surface water had for the same time duration the water was in the subsurface. The re-entering water would also have a decrease in temperature due to the lack of solar radiation input for the duration it flowed through the bed material and would have an additional drop in temperature due to the volumetric heat capacity in the hyporheic exchange zone versus that of the water alone.



Figure 2.1 Surface water-ground water interaction in hyporheic exchange. With (a) a pool and riffle sequence and (b) with stream meanders (Winter et al., 1998).

When considering a cooled section of stream due to hyporheic exchange it is important to define the hyporheic exchange by residence time. Residence time must be used to distinguish between a ground water inflow and something more closely related to hyporheic exchange if considering DTS temperature data. For this research the residence time has been approximated to be 6 hours in order to simplify calculations for differentiating the daily lag in the temperature measurement through the hyporheic exchange site. To distinguish between the ground water flow and the hyporheic flow from continuous temperature data, you need only average together multiple weeks of data. If the cold water source is in fact ground water, then once averaged, the temperature signature should remain. This is because ground water maintains the yearly average air temperature, which would be distinctly lower than the average mid-summer stream temperature. At a location of ground water inflow the surface water should be cooler for nighttime, daytime, and for the average water temperature, during warm summer months. Hyporheic exchange, on the other hand, would cool the peak daytime river temperatures, but heat these same locations during the low nighttime river temperatures of summer. Rather than providing net cooling, hyporheic exchange simply moderates daily temperature extremes.

2.2 Tracers

The previous section discussed that the subsurface is important for stabilizing surface water temperature and recharging surface waters. One way to gain insight into the interactions between surface and subsurface water systems is through the use of tracers. This approach can be particularly useful for understanding flow patterns and the timing of subsurface waters (Flury, and Wai, 2003). Tracers have been proven useful for illuminating transport and transformation within subsurface flow systems. Use of tracers can improve knowledge of subsurface flows, giving new insight to the hydrological cycle; identifying subsurface flow connections, velocities, and dispersion are all common uses of tracers (Flury and Wai, 2003).

Tracers are chemicals, biological masses, isotopes, or anything else that can be detected at different points along the hydrologic cycle. Tracers used in hydrologic systems come in two main categories, added and natural tracers. Added tracers are artificially incorporated in known quantities at some point in the hydrologic cycle and then are detected at another point along the cycle. Usually there are very low to no background concentrations of these tracers so everything detected will come from the added source. Natural tracers include chemicals, temperature, or isotopes that are found in the natural setting and can be detected at different amounts throughout the hydrologic cycle (Bencala et al., 1987).

Much research has been completed using added chemical tracers to find ground water patterns and flows to surface waters. These studies did not quantify ground water inflows based on the tracer information. Chemical tracers for ground water applications work well if the concentration of the chemical in the ground water is uniform and significantly different than the surface water (Cook et al., 2003). If the concentration difference from ground water to surface water is not detectible, or if measuring the chemical tracer is costly, another method should be considered.

Temperature may be used as a tracer (Kobayashi, 1985; Shanley and Peters, 1988; Kobayashi et al., 1999). One study compared heat (as a natural tracer) to bromide (as an added tracer) (Constantz et al., 2003). Employing the heat and solute ground water transport model VS2DH (Healy and Ronan, 1996), showed that both bromide and natural temperature differences in the stream could be used to find ground water and surface water exchange sites. Cox et al. (2007) compared temperature with selected commonly measured water quality parameters and also found that temperature could be used as an in-stream tracer to evaluate spatial and temporal patterns of surface water and ground water exchange. Temperature as a natural tracer has an added benefit of differentiating between temporal variations in ground water inflows.

Temperature used as a hydrologic tracer has several advantages. The signal arrives naturally and will continue to arrive as long as the ground water and surface water are connected. Measurement of temperature is robust and relatively inexpensive. It also has the additional advantage of not contaminating the local environment with introduced chemicals (Stonestrom and Constantz, 2003; Kalbus et al., 2006a). One disadvantage is that the interactions cannot be seen through temperature measurements if the surface water and ground water are near the same temperature. The importance of using natural tracers, such as temperature, over added tracers to find cool water inflows rivers can now be further understood.

2.3 Distributed Temperature Sensing

Using temperature as a tracer is made robust with the application of the DTS technology. The DTS system sends light down the fiber optic cable and as the light interacts with the glass in the fiber optic cable a portion is scattered, with some returning toward the source. A portion of this scattered light is at the original laser energy and another portion of the light is adsorbed and reemitted at wavelengths just

above ("Stokes") and just below ("anti-Stokes") the original wavelength due to Raman scattering (Wait and Newson, 1995; Selker et al., 2006a). The back-scattered light has important properties that reflect the temperature of the glass at the scattering location. Specifically, anti-Stokes intensity is related exponentially to the temperature of the fiber, while the Stokes is much less temperature dependent. Thus, the temperature is linearly related to the log of the ratio of the Stokes and anti-Stokes intensities (Selker et al., 2006b). The distance for each recorded temperature measurement is based on the speed of light and the time it took for the light signal to return to the receiver. By the Central Limit Theorem the precision of the temperature measurements will increase with the square root of the integration interval, so for a very precise temperature reading, a longer integration time is required in order to have more photons counted by the receiver. Also, a more powerful laser can give more photons to count, again increasing the precision. (Selker, et al., 2006b)

To deploy a DTS system it is necessary to calibrate the system to the cable planned for use prior to field installment (via the Agilent Configuration Wizard) and it may be necessary to calibrate the temperature measurements post-collection (with at least two known temperatures along the cable). To calibrate the DTS to the specific cable the temperature offset, gain (a parameter to take into account the slope), and attenuation ratio of the fiber are needed. To find the offset, gain, and attenuation ratio two known temperatures are necessary along the cable. This can be done with either two temperature baths or running the DTS in the double-ended configuration. The ongoing auto-calibration present in a double-ended measurement further simplifies the calibration process and improves measurement accuracy by continuously correcting the attenuation ratio (Tufillaro et al., 2007). The offset and gain of the calibration should not change for the cable after the initial calibration, but the attenuation ratio may need re-calibrating if the DTS is not run in the double-ended configuration. The attenuation ratio can change for the cable if it makes many bends, or if the layout of the cable is changed. Calibration is very important for an accurate temperature reading. However, if interested in precise temperature changes and do not care about

the temperature itself the manufacturer's calibration of the DTS system is reliable. The calibration of the DTS from Agilent is typically precise on the order of 0.01°C.

There are several different types of DTS systems available. The DTS systems range in cost, power consumption, resolution, and durability. The Optimum DTS for a particular use depends on how the project characteristics correspond to these variables. This research project required a unit that had low energy consumption for remote use, durability for field deployment, and low cost. Resolution was of concern, but it was thought that all units would be adequate to meet the goals. In retrospect, more variables needed to be considered beyond the instrument itself, such as the loss of the fiber optic cable. Agilent's DTS (N4386A), which came to the market in May 2006, was selected. This system was designed for remote environmental applications. This DTS operates on less than 40 W at 12 V within an operating temperature range of 10 to 60° C (other systems operate from 85-150W at a max temperature of 40° C). Also, the Agilent DTS can report temperature every meter along the cable, but if more precise readings are desired the Agilent DTS can integrate over a longer distances of cable (Selker, et al., 2006a). The precision of the instrument doubles if the distance of integration is changed from 1 meter intervals to 1.5 meter intervals. The system consists of a computer with software installed for data retrieval and saving. The software creates ASCII files with temperatures, loss, the distances along the attached fiber optics cable, and the number of measurement points along the cable.

Before the DTS technology was available for environmental applications, temperature was taken through point measurements. One concern of point measurement methods is that the longitudinal resolution is low and there is a risk that some inflows may be missed (Kalbus et al., 2006b). The DTS system overcomes this by providing continuous temporal and longitudinal temperature measurements. The DTS will measure a temperature shift for incoming water at a different temperature than the stream temperature trend prior to the localized inflow (Selker et al., 2006b). This measurement may not be able to find the smallest inflows into large rivers, but it can show many of the significant flows that would occur over a reach and fall outside the standard deviation in the surface water temperature. When the temperature of an inflow is within the standard deviation of the DTS measurement of the river's temperature, the inflow will not be statistically different and not be able to differentiate from the noise found within the DTS measurements.

One concern with the use of fiber optic cable for temperature measurements was the time response upon a change in temperature. It has been shown that fiber optic cable has a fast temperature response through jacketing made of PVC and steel cable, found to be less than a 10 second response time from unpublished studies for a Brusteel fiber optic cable from Brugg.

If care is taken in calibration and high quality fiber optic cable is purchased, temperature resolution of 0.01°C and spatial resolution down to 0.5 m with temporal resolution down to 3 seconds along standard fiber optic communication cables with lengths of up to 30,000 m are all possible (depending on the DTS machine used, manufacturers and models vary) (Selker et al., 2006a; Moffett et al., 2007). There are tradeoffs between theses specifications; shorter integration distances and times will have higher uncertainty in the temperature measurements.

This technology has opened new possibilities for environmental sensing. The fiber is deployable in many different configurations, due to the flexibility of the cable allowing measurement in many new areas (measurement of an air shed or the snow through a net configuration, down a sinuous stream, or the creation of a high resolution pole through wrapping the fiber around a PVC pipe). Measurements that seemed impractical before seem manageable, such as taking thousands of measurements at points longitudinally down a river and collecting data from the network continuously for months. Using the DTS method for this research will give the needed measurements to separate the cool water inflows between ground water and hyporheic exchange.

2.4 Ground water to surface water interaction

One approach to quantify surface-to-ground water interactions is to monitor temperature variations in surface waters due to ground inflows (Lee, 1985; Nelson, 1991; Silliman and Booth, 1993). The use of temperature as a natural tracer has become increasingly common because it can be measured with relative ease in a channel to obtain high resolution temporal and spatial information. (Hatch, et. al., 2006; Constantz and Thomas, 1996; Selker et al, 2006b; Westhoff et al., 2007). Riverine systems are very dynamic and the use of time series temperature data can increase understanding of the changing sources of flow.

Temperature was used to identify the interaction between the surface water and ground water system by Rorabaugh (1956). He used temperature measurements to estimate the stream loses below the Ohio River, OH. Heat has been used as a tracer of surface water and ground water exchanges and to quantify these exchanges (Silliman and Booth, 1993; Silliman et al., 1995). Much of this previous research concentrated on areas of stream loss (Constantz et al., 2002). Analysis of temperature profiles has shown point measurement of ground water flow beneath streams. The temperature differences found on a diurnal and seasonal basis are partially a function of the different temperatures between the stream and near stream sediment (Rorabough, 1963; Stephens and Heermann, 1988; Constantz et al., 1994; Constantz and Zellweger, 1995; Constantz and Thomas, 1996). Through continuous surface water temperature measurements, areas of gain to a stream from ground water can be found (Selker et al., 2006b; Westhoff et al., 2007).

Fiber optic cable (Brusense, Brugg, Switzerland) was installed in the Maisbich, a ground water fed, first order stream in Luxembourg with a DTS (Sentinel DTS-LR, Sensornet, London, England) system. Surface water flux along the study reach was determined through DTS and flow measurements. The changes in temperature at points of ground water input allowed for accurate estimates of point-wise ground water inflows based on an energy balance coupled with a mass balance (Selker et al., 2006b).

As seen by Selker et al., (2006b) a loss in a stream can be assumed when either upstream flows are larger than downstream flows, or when the upstream and downstream flow readings are the same and ground water inflows are witnessed. It is difficult to find where these losses occur through longitudinal surface water temperature measurements. Through a distributed temperature sensing (DTS) system,

the gains can be found through the longitudinal surface water temperature measurements and if discharge is not significantly different between upstream and downstream measurements we can conclude that there are some losing sections within this stream, as well as areas gaining. A loss, be it gradual or abrupt, only results in a gradual change of the temperature profile due to changes in warming and cooling patterns; it will reduce the volume and flow of the river which will give more solar radiation per volume of water in the same channel shape. Such losses might be quantified through a complete mass and energy balance for the stream; however, energy budgets of this precision are difficult in natural streams. To have the most distinct temperature difference, in order to estimate ground water inflows from surface flow measurements, data should be retrieved for times of low flow so that any increase in flow can be attributed to ground water inflow and not directly from precipitation (Kalbus et al., 2006b). In-stream flows measured at two points along a stream reach, accounting for stream diversions and tributary inflows first, can be used to determine if a stream is gaining or losing. If downstream flow is greater than upstream flow, the stream gains; if downstream flow is less than the upstream flow, the stream loses water to the aquifer (Riggs, 1972; Stonestrom and Constantz, 2003).

Exchange direction can be determined through stream bed sediment temperature measurements. In a gaining reach, the sediments will take on the ground water temperature, and therefore the sediments will have a stable temperature. On the other hand, losing reaches will take on the surface water temperature, which generally follow the diurnal daily temperature cycle (Winter et al., 1998; Stonestrom and Constantz, 2003; Kalbus et al., 2006a). For the purpose of this thesis, surface water temperature alone will be used to locate gaining portions of the study reach, based on a method that was established by Selker et al. (2006a), Selker et al. (2006b), and Westhoff et al. (2007). It is much more difficult to use only surface water temperatures to find the losing portions of a river, and stream temperature reduction is much more dependent on gaining cool water than on losing warmer water.

Since ground water temperature is generally stable throughout the year, the temperature difference can be interpolated between the ground water and the surface

water to differentiate the ground water inflows from the surface water. During the warmest and coldest times of the year there will be the most dramatic temperature difference between the surface and ground water supplies (Stonestrom and Constantz, 2003; Conant, 2004), allowing for easier differentiation.

Through the use of the DTS system cool water inflows to the river can be located during summer months for the entire length of the study reach. An important byproduct of locating the temperature drops in the surface water is determining the cool water inflows. Fluxes usually are calculated for the ground water-to-surface water interface through an application of Darcy's law (Darcy, 1856) which states that water flux is a function of hydraulic gradient and hydraulic conductivity. A second method is based on a water budget; ground water contribution is computed in this method as the difference between the inflow and outflow. For the mixing zones or areas of hyporheic exchange either of the methods can be used (Kalbus et al., 2006b).

2.5 Ecological considerations

The temperature data gathered to estimate ground water and hyporheic exchange can be valuable to ecologists to identify ecosystem dynamics within a river. Temperature-dependent water quality and geochemical processes can be calculated based on the locations found through temperature measurements (Selker et al., 2006b). Also, identification of habitat and migration patterns based on temporal and thermal conditions (Torgersen et al., 1999; Selker et al., 2006b) can be employed to determine the extent of expected distribution of selected species.

Maintaining a specific temperature range in surface waters is vital for many different aquatic habitats. The cooling of summer time surface water occurs from subsurface water emerging to the surface. These locations are important because coldwater fish species have begun to decline in population due to physiological effects from warming waters. The river waters have warmed due to many anthropogenic causes. These anthropogenic causes include de-vegetation, re-chanalization, broader streams from lack of root systems and impacts of grazers, and disconnection of flood plains (Resh et al., 1988; Hornung and Reynolds, 1995). Warming to many surface waters has also been attributed to climate change (Rahel et al., 1996).

Due to the increase in temperature and the decrease in available water, the amount and location of surface and ground water exchange are increasingly important to identify for ecosystem considerations of temperature sensitive fish species. For example, anadromous salmon and many trout require specific temperature ranges to successfully develop, migrate, and spawn (Power, 1980; Baltz et al., 1987; Curry and Noakes, 1995; Curry et al., 1995; Halupka, 2000; Stonestrom and Constantz, 2003). To protect these cold-water species ways must be found to continue to keep our surface waters cool; locating cooling sources is a wise first step (Silliman and Booth, 1993). Stream temperature is also a critical parameter to other ecosystems within the stream. Temperature controls rates of metabolism, the number of aquatic insects, growth, decomposition, and solubility of gases, as well as many other processes and biotic interactions (Beitinger and Fitzpatrick, 1979; Beschta et al., 1987; Harvey et al., 1998; Johnson and Jones, 2000). Hyporheic exchange increases stream temperature regulation and nutrient cycling (Hendricks and White, 1991; Wood and Petts, 1999; Hatch et al., 2006), both of which are important for aquatic habitat (Power et al., 1999; Hayashi and Rosenberry, 2002; Alexander and Caissie, 2003; Hatch et al., 2006).

The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) in 2001 employed several Global Climate Models and expects a 1 to 7 °C increase in mean global temperature within the next 100 years. This may have a devastating impact on cold water fish (Ficke et al., 2007). Many rivers and streams in Oregon have been determined to be in violation of the Clean Water Act due to high temperatures by the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) (DEQ, 2005). Trout and salmon populations in many of these systems are of concern because of the elevated temperatures and have experienced die off during warm summer periods. High water temperature has a significant influence on salmonid behavior and growth (Li et al., 1994). Several species of cold-water fish locate thermal refugia several degrees cooler than ambient water temperatures (Torgersen et al., 1999; Ebersole et al., 2003) during summer. Fish are known to move into cooler ground water springs for refuge from excessively warm stream temperatures (Power et al., 1999). Ground water discharge increases biological abundance, diversity, and biogeochemical cycling (McClain et al., 2003; Hunt, 2006; Lowry, 2007). Fish find these cool ground water sources not just for refuge but also because the flow between surface water and ground water creates habitat for species that are part of the food chain for these fish (Harvey et al., 1998).

When water temperatures are outside of a fish's survival range during the cold of winter or the heat of summer, ground water becomes a crucial component of river habitat. Ground water provides areas of warmer water inflow in the winter, and in the summer, ground water is important for maintaining discharge and moderating surface water temperatures. Learning more about these ground water distribution pathways is critical to developing plans to protect these species (Power et al., 1999).

Habitat suitable for rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) is temperature dependent, with the lethal limit taken to be 25 °C (Hokanson et al., 1977; Jobling, 1981; Bjornn and Reiser, 1991; Matthews and Berg, 1997). There is a rich supply of literature on the importance of cool water refugia for salmonids during summer periods of high water temperatures (e.g., Gibson, 1966; Keller and Hofstra, 1983; Berman and Quinn, 1991; Matthews et al., 1994; Nielsen and Kiorboe, 1994). In a study by Matthews and Berg (1997), areas of stream temperatures which remained cool due to ground water seeps during summer months consistently had more trout than did areas with higher water temperatures. The Oregon Department of Environmental Quality (DEQ) has temperature TMDLs (total maximum daily loads) for the Walla Walla River in Oregon (this study site) set to below 18 °C for salmonid and trout rearing from spring to early fall. Also, during spawning for these two species (January 1st to June 15th, 2007) 13 °C water is necessary. For Bull trout spawning, the temperature should be ≤ 12 °C. (DEQ, 2005)

Salmon and trout begin to experience serious effects at temperatures below their chronic lethal limits. Temperatures selected by these fish correlate with their optimal temperatures for growth, around 17 °C (Myrick and Cech, 2001). Increases in stream temperature below lethal levels have been linked to increased fish mortality of cold water fish (Brett, 1952; Beschta et al., 1988; McCullough, D., 1999), increased occurrence of disease (Becker and Fugihara, 1978), and increases in competition between species (Reeves et al., 1987; Johnson and Jones, 2000). The trout and salmon species are the focus for this thesis because they are the species found within the Walla Walla River that most depend on cool temperatures for their life cycle. Thus, locating and understanding the cool water inflows is vital to further protect these two species. This research was carried out in the northwestern United States where salmon and trout are important to commercial fishing, recreation, and are good indicator species for the current condition of aquatic ecosystems (Cairns, 1974).

3.0 Materials, Methods, and Theory

3.1 Instrumentation

The primary instrument used in this project was the Agilent N4386A Distributed Temperature Sensor.

Table 3.1 Key	specifications	for the Agilent N4386A	(Tufillaro et al.,	2007)
2	1	0	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	

Key specifications for Agilent N4386A DTS		Environment	
Distance Range	8 km	Operating Temperature Range	-10 to 60 C
Spatial Resolution (minimum)	1 m	Storage Temperature	-40 to 80 C
Temperature Resolution	0.01 K	Supply Voltage	10 to 30 V DC
Temperature Repeatability	0.1 K	Power	15 W at room temperature, 40 W maximum

Within the DTS housing a Fujitsu Stylistic ST5000 tablet PC was placed in order to run the DTS Configurator version 3.0 and for data saving. Two 1000m lengths of Kaiphone's Mini armored fiber optic cable. The cable was duplex, multi-mode, graded index, 50/125, armored (stainless steal wrapped), black jacketed in PE, and had aramid strength members. End connectors used to connect the cable to the DTS were APC e2000s. Where the two 1000m cables were connected and where the last cable doubled back, female/female e2000 adapters were used. The cable was tied into place along the river using 1/2 inch rebar stakes driven 1/3 of a meter into the streambed approximately every 75 meters. The fiber optic cable was held onto the rebar with zip ties. Aerial cable hangers were also used to secure the cable at three locations where the cable was purposefully out of the water.

Flow measurements were taken using cross-sectional data of the channel and by using a flow meter according to the "Standard Operating Procedure for Stream flow Measurement" (EPA, 2004) (completed by the Walla Walla Basin Watershed Council). Immediately prior to taking the cable out of the river two ice baths were placed along it for system calibration. One ice bath was placed near the DTS and one at the midway where the two cables were connected. Approximately 20 meters of cable were placed into each bath. A digital data logger thermometer (VWR model 61220-601) with a resolution of 0.001 °C and an accuracy of \pm 0.05 °C was used to take temperature measurements along the cable and in the ice baths to field check the DTS temperature measurements. Digital photos of the site were taken at locations identified by a Garmin Geko 301 GPS. Meteorological data was downloaded from the LeFore ETo station (identification #TOACI1) south of the research location to check for DTS system errors (sudden jumps in temperature data). Data interpretation was done through the use of Microsoft Excel 2003 and MatLab R2007a.

A snorkel fish survey conducted by the Fish and Wildlife Service parallel to the DTS installation was completed on 8/16/2007 by Courtney Newlon, Marshall Barrows, and Ryan Koch of the USFWS, Columbia River Fisheries Program Office, Vancouver, WA. The survey started at the downstream end of cable and ended at Mauer Lane.

3.2 Site

Milton Freewater, Oregon, USA is within the Walla Walla Watershed, which spans Oregon and Washington (see Figure 3.1a and 3.1b). The southern end of the site was at Mauer lane just north of the city of Milton Freewater. Measurements continued north 2 km along the river's thalweg ending prior to a well-known swimming hole, to reduce the likelihood of tampering and vandalism, approximately 500m south of the Washington State border. (Figure 3.2). The DTS was placed at the end of Mauer Lane (Figure 3.2). This location was chosen based on expected ground water emergences as advised by project collaborator Bob Bower from the Walla Walla Basin Watershed Council and the availability of line power.

The Walla Walla River is habitat to threatened and endangered species such as the Columbia River Salmon, Steelhead Trout, and Bull Trout. The upper geology of the study area consists of a shallow gravel aquifer (approximately 20 to 30m) on top of a deep fractured basalt rock aquifer. The Walla Walla watershed is a 1,758 square mile area with a majority found in the southeast corner of Washington (figure 3.1a). The headwaters originate in the Blue Mountains of Oregon at the eastern boundary of the
watershed. The climate is characterized by hot, arid summers and cold, wet winters. Summer temperatures in the basin soar frequently exceed 38° C (100° F) and fall below freezing in the winter. This watershed receives between 12 and 16 inches of annual precipitation (PRISM, 2002), most of which is contained in the annual snow pack (Baldwin and Stohr, 2007). The near-stream vegetation found at this site consists of grasses, blackberry vines, willows, alders and other riparian species (Volkman, 2003). The majority of the water drafted from this river is used for agriculture, some of which eventually returns to the river. Most of the properties surrounding the study reach were either riparian lands or agricultural fields.



Figure 3.1a Map of the general research location, circle encompasses the Walla Walla Watershed which crosses the Oregon/Washington Border. (Google, 2008)



Figure 3.1b Map of study reach location on the Walla Walla River within the Walla Walla Watershed (www.wallawallawatershed.org)



Figure 3.2 Detailed Milton-Freewater quadrangle, Oregon – Umatilla Co., 7.5 minute series, topographic map of study reach on Walla Walla River (contour interval 20ft. National Geodetic Vertical Datum of 1929). (USGS)

3.3 Objectives and Methods

The objectives of this research is to further understand ground water and hyporheic exchange flows as revealed by accurate temperature readings from the DTS for longitudinal temperatures of the Walla Walla River. These inflows were separated between ground water and hyporheic exchange. Then the inflows were compared to fish distribution along the study reach. For this particular project it was most important to get accurate temperature differences in space and time to identify and quantify cool water inflows. This was completed by taking measurements of the river every hour for a three-week duration (July 30th to August 24th, 2007).

The methodology for the research in this thesis can be split into two groups; those methods from before data collection and those after data collection. Prior to data collection consisted of cable selection and cable placement in the thalweg of the river. After the data collection included the initial data cleaning by calibrating the system, smoothing the diurnal temperature, and temperature measurement noise reduction. The analysis of the data was completed by comparing the average daytime and nighttime temperatures through a correlation coefficient. Once completed ground water inflow was quantified and an estimated depth of hyporheic exchange was calculated.

The data was calibrated and processed to locate possible errors in the data; some of the time steps from the DTS were flawed. After the initial data processing the data set was used to find and differentiate areas of cooling within the stream. Finally, the cooled river sections were compared with the US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS) snorkel fish survey to see if patterns emerged between fish location during summer daytime temperature and cool water inflows.

3.3.1 Initial data processing

The temperature data was collected through double-ended measurements, which was possible because the fiber optic cable looped back to the Agilent DTS. Double-ended measurements were a new capability for the Agilent DTS as of July 2007. This function passes light one direction through the fiber optic cable then passes light the opposite direction through the cable, allowing for automatic correct for the attenuation ratio (loss of optical energy that may create a false temperature change) and the gain (slope). Double-ended measurements should be used when attenuation ratio and gain may be inaccurate due to poor calibration or multiple sharp bends in the fiber optic cable.

DTS data from fiber optic cables generally require post-collection calibration to be corrected for temperature gain and offset in the measurement. In the case of double-ended measurements, only offset must be found. The data was collected on two cables, resulting in two unique offsets, one for each cable. First estimates for these offsets can be obtained prior to data collection by using the Calibration Wizard found in the Agilent DTS Configurator software package, but generally, these values must be adjusted after returning from the field to precisely address effects of connectors and other non-calibrated elements.

For this study, data acquisition was completed through the DTS Configurator software version 3.0 available for the Agilent DTS system. The data was then imported to MATLAB, a powerful numerical computer program that allows for easy manipulation of matrices. The DTS temperature measurements were double-checked with a hand measurement of the ice bath with the hand-held precision temperature probe (Figure 3.4). An ice or water bath that slowly changes temperature and a second temperature measuring device are important to validate the DTS temperature measurements. Redundant temperature data may be needed if calibration of the fiber optic cable was not properly completed prior to data acquisition from the DTS system. For this research the offset correction made use of a 0°C known temperature provided by two ice baths with 20m of submerged cable in each (Figure 3.3). The temperature measurements from the ice bath were averaged together for the 20 meter length and for one hour in time. The averaged ice bath temperature was then compared with the ice bath temperature taken with the hand-held temperature probe. The upstream ice bath was found to be -0.006° C and the downstream bath to be 0.012° C. The difference between these two temperatures was found and used for the temperature offset of the entire cable.



Figure 3.3 Image of study site including the cable junction, start and end of project, ground water and hyporheic exchange sites, and refugia sites with fish present. (Image from Google Earth, 26 June 2008)

The longitudinal temperature profiles were then plotted and viewed in a movie setting through MATLAB as multiple traces viewed through time. This movie making process (not presented in this thesis) is used to view stream dynamics through time, possibly locating temperature patterns for additional evaluation or possible erroneous data.

For this study a true or absolute temperature reading (accuracy) is not as important for final data interpretation as the ability to quantify spatial and temporal changes in temperature (precision). Since the DTS was run in double-ended mode the software adjusts for an incorrect slope of the trace automatically, giving precise measurements of temperature change. If a single temperature measurement is taken at a specific location on the fiber optic cable, then this location is heated and an additional temperature measurement is taken, the difference between the two temperatures is an attribute of the DTS itself and cannot be adjusted through calibration. The DTS has a high precision when looking at the temperature difference between two temperatures as long as the slope, and to a lesser amount, the gain of the trace is correct.

3.3.2 Energy Budget Calculations

For this thesis we used the water budget (based on the conservation of mass) in conjunction with the conservation of energy to quantify the ground water inflows to the surface water. First presented are simple quantifiable methods to see possible effects of different cooling components. The different components that are considered in this research are: how shade may block the solar radiation from increasing stream temperatures, the effect ground water will have on cooling a stream, and the effect the hyporheic exchange will have on cooling a stream.

Shade is a surface process that effects stream temperature. Shading blocks short-wave solar radiation from adding energy to the stream. This blocked solar radiation would have otherwise increased stream temperature. This form of cooling is actually better stated as heat blockage than an actual cooling influence. Shade does



Figure 3.4 High precision temperature probe measurements compared to DTS measurements for 1000m of the study reach at 1pm.

not universally reduce the temperature, but rather diminishes the rate of energy input during the daytime.

For this study it is important to quantify the effects of solar radiation upon the water surface. Once the calculations are completed shading effects on a localized scale can be determined (at our study reach in particular). To find the change in temperature expected for a 50 meter shaded section of the river, it is necessary to know the travel time of the water for the 50 meters, the solar energy expected for the particular setting (location, time of year, and time of day), and the channel width for the 50 meter shaded section of river. The total energy absorbed based on the density, volume, and heat capacity of water for the 50 meter section can then be found and the expected temperature change determined. Shading will be included in the calculations, but will not be located through DTS measurements.

Cold water refugia have been defined as portions of surface water where the water temperature is colder than the daily maximum temperature of the adjacent wellmixed flow of water. These refugia provide local cold water within the surface waters of warm streams, affording potential thermal refuge for cold water fishes during periods of heat stress for energy conservation (Berman and Quinn, 1991; DEQ, 2006; Ebersole et. al., 2003). Examples of common areas of cold water refugia are: water entering from subsurface flow, input from springs, hill slope seeps, and tributaries which have not mixed with surface stream flow. Both ground water upwelling and hyporheic exchange can provide cold water refugia. These locations are often found near islands, pools, and rock out-croppings along stream banks (Berman and Quinn, 1991).

This study concentrates on detection of cool water inflows using a DTS system. The goal is to calculate the effect each ground water inflow and hyporheic exchange will have on the temperature in the study reach on the Walla Walla River. This is completed through energy budget calculations based on the computed flows expected at a ground water site and the calculated volumetric heat capacity at a site of hyporheic exchange.

The correlation coefficient was used to locate cool water inflows and to distinguish them between ground water and hyporheic exchange water. The absolute value of the correlation coefficient of 1.0 is a perfect correlation and anything greater than 0.8 is well correlated. If a 0.7 correlation coefficient was chosen, sites other than refugia would be included; these sites may include deep pools of water and sites of high noise in the data. If a 0.9 correlation was used we would not include many of the refugia sites because they are naturally variable and only sites where the cable is out of the water or connector sites will be found. This correlation coefficient was completed for running 15 meter sections of the temperature dataset that had been averaged for three meter lengths. Fifteen meter sections were used for the correlation coefficient because this length recorded distinguishable ground water inflow and hyporheic exchange sites at above a 0.8 correlation without including areas that were due to noise in the temperature measurements or possibly due to deep pools. The inflows that are cooler both at night and daytime, giving a positive correlation coefficient result in a ground water inflow. The second type of cool water inflows are when the inflow is colder in the day but warmer at night, giving a negative correlation coefficient and resulting in a location of hyporheic exchange. The correlation coefficient shows the locations of temperature change that are distinguishable outside of the measurement noise. These locations can be compared with locations we have visually determined to be ground water or hyporheic exchange in order to see if the correlation coefficient can be used to easily find and differentiate the locations of cold water refugia from the DTS temperature profile.

A ground water inflow can be located by using time series longitudinal surface water temperature traces. The average temperature profile for cool summer nighttime data (3am to 7am) was processed and compared with the average temperature profile of the peak summer daytime data (6pm to 10pm). These traces were compared with the total average temperature trace of the river for the study duration (Figures 3.5, 3.6 and 3.7, respectively). When the comparison was completed, locations where sudden steps or slopes downward in the DTS data, that were at the same location throughout the daily temperature cycle, were considered to be ground water inflow sites.

Locating areas of continuous temperature shift is important when removing other factors that may contribute to cooled locations of surface water during daily peak temperatures. It can be argued that these cooled areas are due to riparian shading, wind, hyporheic exchange, or evapotranspiration. However, when nighttime temperature change is similar to daytime and overall average temperature trends, we are able to remove the temperature signature that may be from environmental factors that give a false cooling signal.

A heat balance equation to calculate ground water discharge from measurements of stream temperatures and surface water flow was developed by Kobayashi et al. (1999) and was used by Becker et al. (2004) and Kalbus et al. (2006). In their research a stream was divided into reaches where temperature measurements were taken and a balanced equation was set up. The local stream temperature is a function of the ground water discharge rate, the difference in stream water and ground water temperature, stream flow, and additional heat gains and losses through the stream surface. This approach will also calculate the ground water inflow based on the flow and temperatures of the surface water and the ground water. The difference between their method and the one chosen for this study is that the Kobayashi method has also incorporated the surface heat flux into its estimations. However, these are considered to be constant over the stream, and can be neglected for this data analysis.

Flow contributions along a reach can be separated into surface and subsurface flow using temperature, through application of mass and heat conservation. For this study a slightly modified versions of the Kobayashi mass and energy balance equations for flows and temperatures were used (Selker et al., 2006b; Westhoff et al., 2007; Tufillaro et al., 2007).

Mass balance, Energy balance, $Q_d = Q_u + Q_l$ $T_d Q_d = T_u Q_u + T_l Q_l$



Figure 3.5 Average cool night-time daily summer time temperature profile for the study reach in the Walla Walla River, Oregon for July 30^{th} to August 20^{th} , 2007 with air temperature removed.



Figure 3.6 Average peak daily summer time temperature profile for the study reach in the Walla Walla River, Oregon from July 30^{th} to August 20^{th} , 2007 with air temperature removed.



Figure 3.7 Average daily summer time temperature profile for the study reach in the Walla Walla River, Oregon from July 30th to August 20th, 2007 with air temperatures removed.

Where Q is discharge (m^3/s) , T (°C) is the water temperature and the subscripts d is downstream flow, u upstream flow and l is lateral inflow. The ratio between $\frac{Q_l}{Q_d}$ can be derived by solving the mass and energy balance equations above:

$$\frac{Q_l}{Q_d} = \frac{T_d - T_u}{T_l - T_u}$$

The determination of $\frac{Q_l}{Q_d}$ from temperature measurements can be done only if the lateral inflow significantly alters the stream water temperature. Thus, the more

precisely temperature can be measured, the more accurately inflows can be quantified.

An assumption that is implicit in these equations is that over the time interval

between the night and day temperature profiles T_1 and $\frac{Q_l}{Q_d}$ are constant. The approach assumes there is full mixing soon after the ground water enters the stream, and that the temperature over the cross section of the stream is constant. These equations also assume that the flow is constant over time and only varies due to ground water sources (Westhoff et al., 2007). Other assumptions are: there is no bed conduction loss; there is negligible solar, long wave, and evaporative heat exchange; and that there is negligible direct gain or loss through evaporation and precipitation.

We can move from quantifying each ground water input (for a depiction of the ground water system see Figure 3.8) to how ground water inflows will change surface water DTS measurements. The expected reaction of the summertime surface water temperature due to gains from a ground water inflow is illustrated in Figure 3.9. At a location of ground water inflow we expect that during summer the temperature trace will show reduction in temperature both day and night. This is the case as long as summertime surface water temperatures are above the average yearly air temperature, which is the temperature of incoming ground water from shallow sources. Ground water inflows can be found through the use of a correlation coefficient computed for spatial changes in daytime to nighttime temperatures. That is to say that at locations of ground water emergence we expect evidence of cooling with

downstream flow for both day and nighttime DTS data. The temperature change is determined from 10m before the ground water inflow location to 10m after the ground water inflow location. To use the correlation coefficient to locate the ground water inflows the surface water temperature of the average low nighttime and average peak daytime are used. The temperature data showing the ground water locations can be plotted to ensure that the locations are not only a positive correlation, but are in fact areas of cooling. Based on visual inspection, a false positive from the correlation coefficient can be seen in the data at areas of continuous warming or at a fiber optic cable junction site, both will be discussed later. Each of the ground water inflows that were found can be quantified using the coupled conservation of mass and energy equation from Selker et al., (2006b).



Figure 3.8 Depiction of ground water system (Waller, 1988).



Figure 3.9 Example of what is expected from a trace from a ground water inflow site during summertime temperatures.

Hyporheic exchange sites are found through the correlation coefficient however, a negative correlation also occurs in areas where the cable is out of the water and recording air temperatures. Thus, identification of hyporheic exchange needs to be validated. Areas with cable exposed to the air will have a greater temperature difference than the surface water between the night and day temperatures allowing visual inspection of the traces to easily differentiate between the sites that are hyporheic exchange and the sites that are air exposed cable.

Most hyporheic exchange occurs in pool to riffle sequences, with water entering the sediment after the pool and coming out of the sediment after the riffle. During the warm times of day this creates a slight drop in the temperature at the hyporheic exchange site, and during the cooler time of night it gives an increase in temperature at the same site (Figure 3.10). This change is due to the time it took the water to pass through the sediment. For the purpose of this thesis exchanges longer than 1day duration are not considered in our determination of hyporheic exchange. Hyporheic flow longer than a one day residence time can occur; examples of these longer duration hyporheic exchanges include when a secondary channel, braided channel, or meander bend is present in the surface waterway (Vervier and Naiman, 1992; Harvey and Bencala, 1993; Wondzell et al., 1996; Wondzell and Swanson, 1999). These longer duration exchanges cannot be found through the three week duration data that we have available. In essence, these locations of hyporheic exchange make the temperature of the surface water more stable, bringing the surface water back to the daily average temperature. These river temperature characteristics along with the porosity of the streambed will be used to calculate the depth and width



Figure 3.10 Depiction of expected temperature change from hyporheic exchange during summer.

of hyporheic exchange flows. These same parameters will define the water's travel time through the hyporheic exchange zone (Wondzell and Swanson, 1999).

Let us look at the collective cooling from hyporheic exchange between the surface water and the bed material over a section of river. For these calculations the hyporheic volume will be considered a continuous mixing zone throughout the entire length of the river. To estimate this overall hyporheic exchange we can consider the difference in temperature from the average daily temperatures to the average peak daily temperature for the upstream portion of the reach and compare it to this same measurement for the downstream portion of the stream. The upstream and downstream portions of the reach are considered to be the first and last 50 meters of in-stream fiber optic cable, respectively; bounding an 1800m section of the river. This will serve as the upper and lower boundary for an energy balance.

The energy balance is used to find the mass of material required to match the actual in-stream temperature change we see in the data. The amount of energy coming into the reach minus the energy leaving the reach must equal the energy stored within the reach (see Figure 3.11). The energy balance will be used to find the amount of energy that must go into the hyporheic exchange and volume of surface water. The stored energy can be put in terms of thermal heat capacity for the hyporheic exchange and surface water to determine the depth of the hyporheic exchange. To determine the depth of hyporheic exchange that is evenly distributed over the entire river bottom from the stored energy term we will use the surface area of the hyporheic exchange.

To calculate the depth of hyporheic exchange the solar radiation is equally distributed across the river reach, the quantity of ground water inflow are of equal magnitude at each inflow site, and the ground water inflows are restricted to the discrete locations found through the DTS temperature readings. The ground water inflows are included in the calculation for hyporheic exchange depth because we are basing the hyporheic exchange depth on the heat capacity of the hyporheic exchange site and to find the heat capacity we will need to include the ground water energy for the conservation of energy equation that is used. An important feature of this river reach is that the flow from the upstream to the downstream portion of the reach does not change. This is justified by the flow measurements along the reach completed by Bob Bower from the Walla Walla Basin Watershed Council that shows upstream to downstream measurements to be within the 10% error interval of the measurement method (personal communication, Bob Bower, October 2007). Since the flow

measurements are within the 10% error interval, there is no statistical difference between the upstream and downstream flows. Lastly, solar radiation, ground water inflow, and hyporheic exchange are assumed to be the major processes contributing to river cooling and are therefore the major components in the energy balance and are the main processes taken into account for this thesis. The long wave radiation, evaporation, and air exchange (convection) will be lumped into one term. The value for this term was estimated using a calibrated energy balance via the software Heat Source v. 7.0 (ODEQ, 2005), energy balance software that was calibrated and updated for the Walla Walla River in the summer of 2005.

We can now look at the method developed to find the expected volumetric heat capacity for the hyporheic exchange. Prior to calculation a conceptual model may help to understand the major contributions and makeup of the channel energy budget in question (see Figure 3.11 and 3.12). Using this conceptual model we can find the thermal mass of the hyporheic exchange by using a conservation of energy balance equation. For the conservation equation we need to account for all the major inputs and outputs of energy, depicted in Figure 3.11. The input energies to this system are the inflowing surface water energy, the solar energy, the ground water energy. The out flow of energies include the losses of surface water to ground water, the lumped term for the convection, evaporation, and long wave radiation energies, and the water energy leaving the study reach. The energies will be calculated as a flux in joules per second.

The objective here is to determine the thermal mass of hyporheic exchange. This was completed by computing the energy fluxes into and out of the control volume to find the rate of change of stored energy within the control volume. Since the control volume contains a known volume of surface water the thermal mass of hyporheic exchange can be separated and computed.

The energy balance for this study is based on the control volume in Figure 3.13. This control volume comes from the instantaneous energies for the study reach assuming all flows of water are steady. The control volume consists of the incoming energy of the water [1], the incoming solar radiation energy [2], the ground water

energy into the reach [3], the ground water energy out of the reach [4], the lumped energy term (from the energy for evaporation, convection, and long wave radiation) [5], the outgoing energy of the water [6], and the stored energy (going into hyporheic exchange and the surface water). Conduction is an additional energy in the system. The control volume contains both the river water and the conduction of river water to bed material (the hyporheic exchange site). Therefore, the conduction term is incorporated into the stored energy in the control volume.

The energy balance is based on the conservation of energy and can be written as the rate of change of stored energy is equal to the difference between the total incoming energy (E_{ti}) and the total out going energy (E_{to}).

Rate of change of stored energy within the control volume = $E_c [J/s] = E_{ti} - E_{to}$ For the purpose of this study it can be stated as:

Rate of change of stored energy = (incoming water energy + solar radiation energy + ground water energy in) – (ground water energy out + lumped energy + outgoing water energy)

Where the energy stored remains in the materials within the control volume, including the surface water and the hyporheic exchange zone.

The energy fluxes are denoted:

water energy in $= E_i [J/s]$

solar radiation energy = E_s [J/s]

ground water energy in = E_{gi} [J/s]

ground water energy out = E_{go} [J/s]

lumped energy term = E_1 [J/s]

water energy out = $E_o [J/s]$

In this notation the energy balance can be written as:

 $E_{c} = (E_{i} + E_{s} + E_{gi}) - (E_{go} + E_{l} + E_{o})$



Figure 3.11 Depiction of the energy sources and sinks for the study reach in Milton Freewater, OR



Figure 3.12 Conceptual model of the continuous hyporheic exchange.



Figure 3.13 Depiction of energy inflows and outflows to the control volume.

The makeup of each energy flux within the energy balance can now be determined. The energy fluxes will be computed to solve for the difference between the inflowing and outgoing energy giving the rate of change of stored energy within the control volume (see Figure 3.14 for concept of dampened temperature at outflow due to hyporheic exchange). First the inflowing energy flux is computed. The incoming water energy [1] is computed at the point entry to the control volume by finding the incoming temperature (T_u [°C]). All temperatures are referenced to 0°C to insure correct energy flux calculations. To compute the energy flux the temperature is multiplied by the volumetric thermal heat capacity of water (C_{vw} = 4.18 x 10⁶ J/°C m³, for water at 20°C) and the flow into the study reach (Q_s [m³/s]) to determine the inflow energy.

 $E_i = C_{vw}(T_u)(Q_s)$

Solar radiation follows a diurnal pattern and is therefore a function of time. The energy input from solar radiation (S) [2] was acquired from weather station data in the Walla Walla River Basin near the study reach. The net solar energy flux is computed as the solar radiation as a function of time multiplied by the fraction of the river's surface area (R $[m^2]$) that is exposed to the solar radiation. Because the solar radiation does not directly impact the shaded portion of the river, the surface area will be multiplied by the fraction of area that is exposed to the solar radiation. In this case 10% of the river was shaded so the surface area was multiplied by a shade factor (F) of 0.9.

$E_s = S(R)(F)$

The energy of the ground water inflow [3] can be determined by finding the temperature of the ground water inflow ($T_{gi} = 14^{\circ}C$). The energy flux is computed by multiplying by the volumetric thermal heat capacity of water and the total ground water flow in the reach ($Q_{gi} = 0.36 \text{ m}^3/\text{s}$).

 $E_{gi} = C_{vw}(T_{gi})(Q_{gi})$

The energy for the ground water outflow [4] is determined similarly, taking its temperature to be equal to that of the surface water of the control volume, T_{cv} [°C]. The flow data for the study reach shows no significant change in water from the

inflow to the outflow; since we have determined that there is cold water flowing into the reach their must be an equal amount of water flowing out of the reach. For this particular case the ground water outflow we take to be equal to the ground water inflow ($Q_{go} = 0.36 \text{ m}^3/\text{s}$).

$E_{go} = C_{vw}(T_{cv})(Q_{go})$

The lumped energy term (L [J/s m²]) representing evaporation, convection and long wave radiation [5] was obtained from Heat Source v. 7.0 (ODEQ, 2005), an energy model that has been calibrated for this river reach. This term for our study reach was determined by using the Heat Source information from August 2002, giving an estimate for this study (summer of 2007). As seen in Figures 3.15 and 3.16 the climatic data for August in these two years is similar, therefore 2002 data can be used as an approximation for 2007. The energy taken from Heat Source is then multiplied by the surface area of the river reach.

 $E_l = L(R)$

The energy flux out of the river reach [6] is determined in the same manner as the energy into the reach. The volumetric heat capacity of water and the flow of the reach are multiplied by the downstream temperature (T_d [°C]).

 $E_o = C_{vw}(T_d)(Q_s)$

The conceptual model (Figure 3.12) above also pertains to the energy balance necessary to find the functional volume of the hyporheic exchange. The hyporheic exchange depicted in the model along with the surface area of the hyporheic exchange can be used together to find the functioning depth of this zone. Some assumptions made for this calculation are that the hyporheic exchange is continuous along the study reach and is directly below the surface water, not coming in on the sides of the channel. The second assumption stated above is viable when there is such a large width of surface water to depth of water ratio. These assumptions help to keep this calculation as a stripped down simple formula to help quantify the hyporheic exchange. The same idea of the continuous hyporheic exchange can be used to find the depth for discrete zones of hyporheic exchange; the depth will be much greater in discrete locations of hyporheic exchange because the same amount of cooling must



Figure 3.14 Expected temperature from the energy budget compared to the actual temperature with hyporheic exchange.



Figure 3.15 Wind speed comparison between 2002 to 2007 for the Walla Walla River near Milton-Freewater, Oregon.



Figure 3.16 Comparison of air temperature and relative humidity between 2002 and 2007 for the Walla Walla River near Milton-Freewater, Oregon

take place in a shorter distance. Both continuous and discrete hyporheic exchange are important to consider, but the DTS instrument is capable to pin point the discrete locations based on the peak hot and cold daily temperature profiles.

Depth of the hyporheic exchange can be found through consideration of the control volume (Figure 3.13). Since we have the calculation for the rate of change of stored energy for the control volume (hyporheic exchange plus surface water) and we know the volumetric heat capacity for water and the bed material, the volume of water above the hyporheic exchange site, and the porosity of the bed material to be 0.3 (Constantz et al., 1996; Edwards, 1998), we are able to calculate the volume of the hyporheic exchange site. Since the porosity of the bed material is 0.3 we know that the bed material takes up 0.7 of the volume in the hyporheic exchange site, this will be used to help calculate the volume of the hyporheic exchange site.

The energy stored within the control volume (E_c [J/s]) resides in both surface water and the water sediment mix of the hyporheic exchange. The depth of hyporheic exchange calculation is based on the energy stored in the control volume that is not stored in the surface water.

The energy balance will be based on the volumetric heat capacities of the different material within the control volume and the stored energy within the control volume. The stored energy within the control volume will be integrated over time in order to find the cumulative energy the thermal mass of the hyporheic exchange must account for. From Figure 3.17 we can see a model of what the control volume contains. Using this model (containing a known volume of surface water), the volumetric heat capacity of the sediment, and the temperature change of the control volume over a specific time period we can derive an equation to determine the depth of the hyporheic exchange.



Figure 3.17 Conceptual model of continuous hyporheic exchange.

The terms used for this derivation are denoted:

 E_c = Rate of change of stored energy within the control volume (J/s)

 V_{cv} = Total volume of control volume (m³)

 V_h = Total volume of hyporheic (m³)

 V_w = Total volume of water above hyporheic exchange zone (m³)

T = Temperature of the control volume for time duration (°C)

t = Time duration the calculation was completed (s)

 C_{cv} = Thermal volumetric heat capacity of control volume (J/°C m³)

 C_{vw} = Thermal volumetric heat capacity of water (J/°C m³)

 C_{vs} = Thermal volumetric heat capacity of sediment (J/°C m³)

SA = Surface area of hyporheic zone (m²)

 D_h = Depth of hyporheic zone (m)

We begin with the previously calculated energy stored within the control volume and find:

$$E_{c} = \left(\frac{dT}{dt}\right) C_{cv} V_{cv}$$

This can be integrated as:

$$\int dT = \frac{E_c}{C_{cv}V_{cv}} \int dt$$

Giving:

$$\Delta T = \frac{E_c}{C_{cv} V_{cv}} \Delta t$$

Now we can expand the control volume terms to incorporate the materials involved.

$$C_{cv}V_{cv} = C_{vw}(V_w + 0.3V_h) + C_{vs}0.7V_h$$

This can be substituded in for the control volume terms:

$$\Delta T = \frac{E_c}{C_{vw} (V_w + 0.3V_h) + C_{vs} 0.7V_h} \Delta t$$

The volume of hyporheic exchange can be computed as:

$$V_h = \frac{\frac{\Delta t E_c}{\Delta T} - C_{vw} V_w}{0.3 C_{vw} + 0.7 C_{vs}}$$

Once the volume of the hyporheic exchange has been calculated the depth of the exchange can be found by simply dividing the calculated volume by the surface area the hyporheic exchange occurs over (for our case we have made the assumption that the hyporheic exchange occurs over the entire length and width of the channel).

$$D_h = \frac{V_h}{SA}$$

3.3.3 Fish Survey

During this study, the USFWS conducted a survey on the fish found in this reach of the Walla Walla River. The survey determined the number of fish and species found throughout the study reach during warm daytime temperatures. The surveyors recorded the cable distances when they came to a school of fish during their snorkel survey which started at the downstream section of the study reach and went up the river to the end of the study reach. This fish survey will be used to determine if the fish populations are locating the cold water inflows during warm daytime periods.

4.0 Results

4.1 Calibration and Jitter Removal of DTS Data

The temperature offset for post calibration of the DTS data was determined to be approximately 5° C by checking ice bath temperatures using a high resolution VWR temperature probe, which has a temperature resolution of 0.001° C. This was determined through calculating the difference between the VWR temperature measurement and the temperature measurement given by the DTS for the ice bath. The upstream ice bath was found to be -0.006° C and the downstream bath to be 0.012° C. The two fiber optic cables used for this study meet at the ice bath at the 1030 meter mark. This junction is noticeable in the temperature measurements because at this point the temperature profile shows a spike in the record due to the barrel connector. In Figure 4.1 it is easy to see that the ice slurry baths are not read as zero by the DTS system, giving the necessity for the offset correction. The entire temperature profile was adjusted for this offset to get temperatures that will be close to the true stream temperature.

The offset was found to be a reduction of the DTS measurements by 5.02° Celsius. Figure 4.2 shows the basic trace acquired from DTS viewed through MatLab that has been adjusted for the offset. This trace gives the temperature averaged for one hour every meter along the 2000 meter study reach.

When the temperature data was viewed in the MatLab movie format, a jitter (typically between 0.5 to 1.0° C) was seen, where the data was displaced either up or down (movie not presented in this thesis). This "jitter" was first seen in an ice temperature bath. The temperature should not quickly change within the bath, but some jumps were noticed. Through discussions with the DTS manufacturer it was learned that this defect reflected a firmware defect which is prominent when the instrument is used in double-ended mode with high loss fiber optic cable (our case). The jitter seen was not due to true temperature changes from the river and therefore it was necessary to remove before further data interpretation took place. This jitter was

corrected for by first plotting temperature versus the time for the DTS measurements (Figure 4.3). The plotted river temperature should follow a smooth pattern due to the influence of air temperature, solar radiation, and the high thermal heat capacity of water. This was not the case with the jitter present so the data set needed to be smoothed out post collection. To accomplish the smoothing, a 5hr running average of the hourly temperatures was taken to get an adjusted temperature measurement (see Figure 4.4). For the running average a section from 1077 to 1425 meters along the river was used because it showed quality water temperature with no spikes due to air temperature. The differences between the averaged temperature and the true temperature were found and added to the entire dataset for the duration of the study. This gave a new adjusted temperature dataset to be used for all calculations.

4.2 Cold Water Refugia

The temperature data was viewed at several different time intervals throughout the day to see how nighttime temperature changes may differ from the ones during the daytime (see Figures 3.5 and 3.6). The temperature data were averaged throughout space and time to find locations where there was a continuous drop in the surface water temperature; possibly indicating areas of cool water inflow (see Figure 4.5). The three meter average nighttime (3am to 7am) temperature was plotted along with the three meter average hot daytime (6pm to 10pm) temperature in Figure 4.5 to see if the dynamics expected between hyporheic interaction zones and ground water inflows would become noticeable in this dataset.

The flow survey done by the Walla Walla Basin Watershed Council (WWBWC) at the time of the DTS and fish study found average stream flow of 0.9 m^3/s (Table 4.1) for the entire river reach with an error of 10 % for the cross-sectional flow measurement method used (Bob Bower, per communication, 2007). The flow data was necessary to help quantify the ground water inflow to our study reach. The ground water temperature is also necessary for the combined conservation of mass and conservation of energy equation used to quantify ground water inflow.



Figure 4.1 The un-calibrated graph shows eight hours of temperature profile for the reach. The duplex cable used shows a mirrored image after 2060 meters. Blue circles indicate ice baths and red circles locations of known air exposed sections of cable.



Figure 4.2 Single temperature profile of raw data for study site on Walla Walla River, 21 August 2007 at 4pm only adjusted for temperature offset.


Figure 4.3 Daily temperature variations with jitter present for July 30th to August 20th, 2007 for meter markings on cable of 1077 to 1425m; typical examples of jitter circled.



Figure 4.4 Daily temperatures from DTS with running average for to smooth Jitter from August 4th to August 20th from the 1077 to the 1425 meter mark.

		Surface						
Ground Water		Water	Te	emperati	ure (C)	Ground Water		
		Flows						
Start (m)	Stop (m)	(cfs)	Tg	Ti	То	Flow (cfs)	Flow (m^3)	
315	355	32.8	14	17.96	17.87	0.76	0.02	
460	500	34.2	14	18.04	17.96	0.69	0.02	
630	705	32.5	14	18.12	18.00	0.98	0.03	
918	940	32.6	14	18.04	17.84	1.70	0.05	
978	1008	32.1	14	17.92	17.72	1.73	0.05	
1610	1643	32.9	14	18.20	18.00	1.64	0.05	
1900	2048	30.4			Average	1.25	0.04	
	Average	32.9						

Table 4.1 Surface water flow measurements and calculated ground water inflows. Shaded ground water inflow neglected in averages due to connector effect.

The data from ground water wells in the same aquifer indicate the average ground water temperature for July of 2006 (most recent data) to be 14° C. The ground water inflow sites were determined through the correlation coefficient from cool nighttime to the warm daytime temperature of the surface water (Figure 4.5). Any place that the two dropped in unison was designated as ground water and the distance that the drop lasted was recorded (see Figure 4.6 for specific sites). At each identified ground water inflow the temperatures from 10m before the drop to 10m after the temperature drop were recorded and the ground water inflows were quantified using (Table 4.1).

The traces for peak daytime temperature and for cool nighttime temperature (Figures 3.5 and 3.6) can be examined for hyporheic exchange as well. The overall average will not show any temperature shift or will show very little temperature structure for the location of hyporheic exchange. However, when comparing the peak daily to the cool nightly temperatures the location of hyporheic exchange should be noticeable. Remembering that these locations can be seen as temperature drops during the peak daily surface water temperatures, but should rise in temperature at the same location during the low nightly temperatures (see Figure 4.7 for possible hyporheic exchange sites). The temperature shift between night and daytime temperatures at these hyporheic exchange sites are a negative correlation coefficient (Figure 4.5).



Figure 4.5 Average day summertime temperature reduced by 2.2 °C compared with a correlation coefficient to nighttime temperature for July 30th to August 20th, 2007 along the study reach in the Walla Walla River, Oregon. Light blue line represents locations fish were found from the USFWS survey.



Figure 4.6 Possible locations of ground water inflows for the Walla Walla River study site based on temperature data from 30 July to 20 August 2007.



Figure 4.7 Possible locations of hyporheic exchange for the Walla Walla River study site based on temperature data from 30 July to 20 August 2007

4.3 Calculations

4.3.1 Solar Radiation

For this section the influence of solar radiation is considered. This calculation will be used to understand the expected magnitude of the solar radiation from sunrise to mid-day and the amount shade will reduce the surface water temperature. To complete this calculation we will use the solar radiation, a shade factor (the shade changes diurnally on the channel, we have used the shade expected during the mid-day peak solar radiation), and the channel's surface area. The total solar radiation will be determined based on the surface area of the water that is affected by the solar radiation. Using the Lefore Eto meteorological station data for the study duration we found the average hourly values of solar radiation from sunrise to sunset. The length for the site specific channel values was taken from the DTS measurements and the width was determined from a field visit (the width is not precise and therefore can be considered an assumed width). The calculation for the effect of shading at peak solar radiation can be completed as follows:

Peak solar radiation: 1000 W/m^2 or $1000 \text{ J/}(\text{m}^2\text{s})$ (NASA, 2008)

Example shaded channel distance: 50 m

Average channel width: 10 m

Average water depth: 0.1 m

Heat capacity of water: 1 cal/ (gram °C) or 4.18 J/ (gram °C)

Water flow (Q): $32 \text{ cfs or } 0.9 \text{ m}^3/\text{s}$

Velocity = Q / cross-sectional area

 $= 0.9 \text{ m}^3/\text{s} / (0.1 \text{m}^*10 \text{m}) = 0.9 \text{m/s}$

Time of water travel = distance / velocity

= 50m/0.9 m/s = 55 s

Water mass = density * volume

 $= 1 \text{g/cm}^{3} (1000 \text{cm}^{*} 10 \text{cm}^{*} 5000 \text{cm}) = 5.0^{*} 10^{7} \text{g}$

Total Solar radiation = Travel time * solar energy * surface area

 $= 55.12s * 1000 \text{ J/} (\text{m}^2\text{s}) * 500 \text{ m}^2 = 2.76*10^7 \text{ J}$

Energy per water mass

 $= 2.76^{*}10^{7} \text{ J} / (5.0^{*}10^{7} \text{g}) = 0.55 \text{ J/g}$

Change in water temperature from 50m of shade

= 0.55 J/g / (4.18 J/ (g °C)) = 0.13 °C

4.3.2 Ground Water

To quantify the expected down stream temperature in the river due to ground water inflow, it is necessary to use the flow and temperature of the upstream water and average it with the flow and temperature of each ground water inflow site. The following is a simple calculation to quantify the effect a ground water inflow has on the surface water temperature in our study reach in the Walla Walla River, Oregon. Surface water flow, 32 cfs or 0.9 m³/s; average ground water inflow quantified (table 4.1), 1.4 cfs or 0.04 m³/s; surface water average peak summer daytime temperature to be 20.44 °C found from averaging the daytime temperature from the temperature measurements in Figure 4.6; and ground water temperature, 14 °C. After mixing (weighted average) the expected down stream temperature is $= (0.9 \text{ m}^3/\text{s} * 20.44 °C + 0.04 \text{ m}^3/\text{s} * 14 °C)/(0.04 \text{ m}^3/\text{s} + 0.9 \text{ m}^3/\text{s}) = 20.18 °C$

This calculation suggests that there is an average decrease of 0.26 $^{\circ}C$ to the surface water per ground water site. All sites do not have the same flow, but here we have used the average flow expected for the typical ground water site along the study reach (see Table 4.2 for flow data). This value is useful when determining how much each ground water site throughout the study reach may decrease the river's overall temperature. Also, the calculated temperature decrease from ground water is important to find the expected energy stored in hyporheic exchange, which is discussed later in this thesis.

As discussed earlier, the ground water inflow sites (Figure 4.6) have a strong positive correlation coefficient because in summer months the ground water inflows are continuously at a cooler temperature than the surface water flow. Both nighttime and daytime temperatures at these sites will be cooler than the surface water

Table 4.2 Ground water inflows calculated; the inflow from 1980 to 2045m was neglected in average due to the possible end effects that could be giving a false decrease in temperature reading at this site. Standard deviations of surface water temperature of the 10m section before and 10m section after the ground water inflow are given.

		Tei	mperatu	re (C)			Tempe	erature (C)			
Gro	und	Surface		Co	old	Standard	Ground			Standard	Ground
Wa	iter	Water		Nigh	ttime	Deviation	Water	Warm	n Daytime	Deviation	Water
Start	Stop	Flows					Flow				Flow
(m)	(m)	(m^3/s)	Тg	Ti	То		(m^3/s)	Ti	То		(m^3/s)
240	260	0.93	14	16.98	16.94	0.06	0.01	20.45	20.30	0.02	0.02
600	630	0.97	14	17.38	17.23	0.04	0.05	20.47	20.33	0.03	0.02
918	940	0.92	14	17.57	17.38	0.11	0.05	20.08	19.78	0.07	0.05
970	1000	0.91	14	17.55	17.15	0.03	0.12	19.88	19.65	0.01	0.04
1330	1345	0.92	14	17.73	17.61	0.02	0.03	19.98	19.84	0.03	0.02
1445	1455	0.92	14	17.84	17.69	0.08	0.04	19.91	19.82	0.04	0.01
1825	1835	0.91	14	17.89	17.82	0.02	0.02	20.13	19.92	0.05	0.03
1925	1950	0.93	14	17.81	17.57	0.08	0.06	20.00	19.70	0.06	0.05
1980	2045	0.86	14	17.55	16.70		0.27	19.77	18.97		0.14
						Average	0.05			Average	0.03
					Average	Inflow	0.04				

temperatures found upstream to these sites; one example is Figure 4.8. In Figure 4.8 the highlighted section of the graph shows that both the nighttime temperature and the daytime temperature both have a cooling trend in this location which, according to our definitions, is a ground water inflow.

Using the nighttime temperature change at meters 915 - 930, using the ground water inflow calculation we find:

$$Q_1 = 0.9 \text{ m}^3/\text{s} * \left(\frac{17.38 \text{ }^\circ\text{C} - 17.57 \text{ }^\circ\text{C}}{14.0 \text{ }^\circ\text{C} - 17.57 \text{ }^\circ\text{C}}\right) = 0.05 \text{m}^3/\text{s}$$

And for a daytime temperature change at the same location we find:

$$Q_1 = 0.9 \text{ m}^3/\text{s} * \left(\frac{19.78 \text{ }^\circ\text{C} - 20.08 \text{ }^\circ\text{C}}{14.0 \text{ }^\circ\text{C} - 20.08 \text{ }^\circ\text{C}}\right) = 0.05 \text{m}^3/\text{s}$$

this represents about 5 % of the total stream flow per ground water site.

4.3.3 Hyporheic Exchange

For this discussion hyporheic exchange will be characterized as an area where surface water drops below the bed material into the subsurface where it is not directly affected by solar radiation for duration of up to one day. The water then re-emerges to combine with the surface water. The temperature in the hyporheic exchange is based on the diurnal temperature cycle and therefore was important to set the passage of water through the hyporheic exchange to six hours. If the duration of water passage through the gravel was less than six hours it is expected that downstream temperatures would not cool off to the same degree that were found in the measurements. The water would not carry the temperature signature from a cooler time of day, but rather a signature from a time of day slightly prior to the recorded time. Likewise, if the time of travel were much longer than the six hours, a longer lag in the temperature would be expected and it will begin to re-enter the stream with a signature close to the average daily or average weekly temperature. If hyporheic exchange is defined by a longer duration it will be difficult to locate through DTS measurements. Water emerging with residence time greater than one day will be designate as a ground water for the purpose of this study.



Figure 4.8 Example of a ground water inflow based on the locations found through the correlation coefficient from 915 to 930 meters.

For the hyporheic exchange we are interested in finding the depth of the hyporheic exchange that is necessary for the temperatures we have recorded along the fiber optic cable. For the data interpretation, a 6-hour travel time for water through the gravel will be used to further simplify the calculations. Through the energy balance incoming and outgoing calculated energies are used to find the necessary rate of change of stored energy in our control volume to show where any excess energy must have gone. The energy balance can be used to find the rate of change of stored energy in the control volume with the assumption that the hyporheic exchange is continuous over the entire study reach (1.7 km). In order to further understand the calculation it has been broken up into energy budget components and calculated for each hour from sunrise to peak solar radiation (the example calculations will be for 1pm, peak solar radiation for the Walla Walla River in August, 2007).

Incoming energy, $E_i = C_{vw}(T_u)(Q_s)$

$$4.18 \times 10^6 \text{ J/}(^{\circ}Cm^3) \times 20.64 \text{ }^{\circ}C \times 0.9 \text{ m}^3\text{/s} = 7.8 \times 10^7 \text{ J/s}$$

Solar radiation energy, $E_s = S(R)(F)$

 $1011 \text{ J/sm}^2 * 20000 \text{ m}^2 * 0.9 = 1.6 \text{ x } 10^7 \text{ J/s}$

Ground water energy in, $E_{gi} = C_{vw}(T_{gi})(Q_{gi})$

$$4.18 \ge 10^6 \text{ J/}(^\circ \text{Cm}^3) \ge 14^\circ \text{C} \ge 0.32 \text{ m}^3/\text{s} = 1.9 \ge 10^7 \text{ J/s}$$

Ground water energy out, $E_{go} = C_{vw}(T_{cv})(Q_{go})$

4.18 x 10⁶ J/(° Cm^3) * 20.45 °C * 0.32 m³/s = 2.0 x 10⁷ J/s

Lumped energy term, $E_l = L(R)$

 $88.2 \text{ J/sm}^2 * 20000 \text{m}^2 = 1.5 \text{ x } 10^6 \text{ J/s}$

Outgoing energy, $E_o = C_{vw}(T_d)(Q_s)$

$$4.18 \times 10^6 \text{ J/}(^{\circ}Cm^3) \times 20.35 \,^{\circ}C \times 0.9 \text{ m}^3/\text{s} = 7.7 \times 10^7 \text{ J/s}$$

The rate of change of stored energy would be the incoming energies minus the outgoing energies, $E_c = (E_i + E_s + E_{gi}) - (E_{go} + E_l + E_o) = 6.5 \times 10^6 \text{ J/s}$

This was done for all hours from sunrise to the peak mid-day solar radiation (Table 4.3) and the sum was computed. The depth of the hyporheic exchange can now be found from the cumulative amount of energy that went into storage. This depth can

be computed with the known volumetric heat capacity of both water and sediment in the control volume, the porosity of the bed material, and the known volume of surface water.

Hour	Ei (J/s)	Es (J/s)	Egi (J/s)	Ego (J/s)	EI (J/s)	Eo (J/s)	Ec (J/s)
5am	5.4E+07	2.2E+05	1.9E+07	2.0E+07	2.8E+06	5.8E+07	-8.2E+06
6am	5.7E+07	2.1E+06	1.9E+07	2.1E+07	2.8E+06	6.0E+07	-5.7E+06
7am	6.1E+07	4.5E+06	1.9E+07	2.2E+07	2.6E+06	6.3E+07	-3.5E+06
8am	6.5E+07	7.5E+06	1.9E+07	2.3E+07	2.4E+06	6.5E+07	-1.4E+05
9am	7.0E+07	9.7E+06	1.9E+07	2.5E+07	2.0E+06	7.0E+07	1.6E+06
10am	7.3E+07	1.2E+07	1.9E+07	2.6E+07	1.6E+06	7.3E+07	3.1E+06
11am	7.6E+07	1.3E+07	1.9E+07	2.7E+07	1.5E+06	7.5E+07	4.3E+06
12pm	7.7E+07	1.5E+07	1.9E+07	2.7E+07	1.4E+06	7.6E+07	6.1E+06
1pm	7.8E+07	1.6E+07	1.9E+07	2.7E+07	1.5E+06	7.7E+07	6.5E+06
						Sum	4.0E+06

Table 4.3 Calculated hourly energy fluxes.

The apparent heat capacity of the hyporheic exchange should equal the heat capacity of the overlaying water (C_{vw}) plus the heat capacity of the sediment (C_{vs}) (2.64 x 10⁶ J/(°*C* m³)) (Kulongoski and Izbicki, 2008) and the water in the hyporheic exchange combined. Using these values we may calculate the apparent hyporheic exchange depth. The heat capacities used are volumetric so the volumes of water (V_w) and hyporheic exchange (V_h) must be incorporated. These volumes are necessary to calculate the depth of hyporheic exchange. The volume for the hyporheic exchange is based on porosity for the alluvium; the stream bed material for the study has an assumed porosity of 0.3. Once the volume for the hyporheic exchange is found, the depth can be derived by dividing the volume by the surface area (SA) for the reach; 17,080 m². For a continuous hyporheic exchange in this study reach we can calculate the volume as:

$$V_{h} = \frac{\frac{32400s * 4.0 * 10^{6} J/s}{5.3^{\circ}C} - 4.18 * 10^{6} J/m^{3} \circ C}{0.3 * 4.18 * 10^{6} J/m^{3} \circ C + 0.7 * 2.64 * 10^{6} J/m^{3} \circ C} = 5530m^{3}$$

V_h/SA = Depth
5530m³ / 17080 m² = 0.32 m
0.3 m *100 cm/m = 30 cm

Having assumed that there is 10 cm surface water present above these locations of hyporheic exchange (based on field visits) the same methodology as used for the continuous hyporheic exchange above is acceptable for discrete locations of hyporheic exchange with one exception; the surface area of allowable exchange has been limited. The volume of the discrete hyporheic exchange will still be the same:

$$V_{h} = \frac{\frac{32400s * 4.0 * 10^{6} J/s}{5.3^{\circ}C} - 4.18 * 10^{6} J/m^{3} \circ C}{0.3 * 4.18 * 10^{6} J/m^{3} \circ C + 0.7 * 2.64 * 10^{6} J/m^{3} \circ C} = 5530m^{3}$$

However the surface area of interaction has changed: 5530 m³ / 3100 m² = giving 1.8 m of depth per site.

Individual locations, determined through the negative correlation coefficient between night and daytime surface water temperature measurements, of hyporheic exchange can be seen in Figure 4.9.

4.4 Fish locations

The last objective of this research was to compare the USFWS fish survey with the locations of cool water refugia that had been determined through the correlation coefficient. The USFWS survey was overlain on the hyporheic and ground water sites found through the stream analysis. This was done to see if the cold water fish species are congregating in cool water inflows during the warmest times of the day. Through this comparison the number of cold water fish found at these sites is compared to the total amount of cold water fish found over the entire reach (see Figure 3.3 for satellite imagery of the stream reach). Table 4.4 shows the fish location data collected by the USFWS during their fish survey completed for the study reach. Through the cool water location data and the fish survey data, a greater understanding of where fish may be located to avoid warm river temperatures in the Walla Walla River may be realized. The percentage of fish congregating at cold water refugia sites and whether they are cold water species is seen in Table 4.5 and is discussed later in this thesis. Ultimately, this may provide valuable information for the protection of these species.



Figure 4.9 Two examples of hyporheic exchange based on the locations found through the correlation coefficient.

Table 4.4

Snorkel surveys completed on 8/16/2007. This survey was completed by Courtney Newlon, Marshall Barrows, and Ryan Koch of the USFWS, Columbia River Fisheries Program Office, Vancouver, WA.

Snorkeling started at the downstream end of cable and ended at Maurer Lane.

Cable	Cable	Hat.	Nat CHK	0 mykies	Padeida			N	Adult
Start (matama)	(mantana)			0. IIIyKiss	Ch	Deee			Chinaala
(meters)	(meters)	juv	juv	juv	Sn.	Dace	sucker	pikeminnow	Спіпоок
13	45	0	24	12	200	200	60	100	0
58	85	0	17	10	50	150	10	25	0
68	94	3	6	7	80	150	20	15	0
111	141	2	25	21	100	150	20	20	3
192	228	3	8	20	50	250	100	25	0
438	462	2	75	30	200	300	10	30	0
496	527	0	15	4	25	500	25	5	0
604	627	0	160	22	200	400	35	25	0
645	660	0	20	0	250	200	100	10	0
698	712	0	144	25	100	200	40	15	0
733	756	0	26	3	50	300	25	15	0
860	883	1	194	55	300	500	100	50	0
948	1018	0	15	35	50	100	0	5	0
1045	1068	2	40	18	50	100	10	10	0
1120	1135	0	19	8	50	20	5	2	0
1154	1180	1	40	25	150	300	40	30	0

74

1318	1332	1	16	15	20	150	5	2	0
1366	1398								
		4	128	60	100	400	60	30	0
1550	1564	0	41	27	20	250	0	3	0
1616	1664	0	105	63	200	550	75	100	0
1787	1798	0	23	5	18	55	0	3	0
1845	1886	1	75	38	100	200	50	25	0
		Hat.							
		CHK	Nat. CHK	O. mykiss	Redside			N.	Adult
		juv	juv	juv	Sh.	Dace	sucker	pikeminnow	Chinook
	Totals	20	1216	503	2363	5425	790	545	3

Table 4.2 (continued)

Shading for locations with ground water inflow or hyporheic exchange Chinook Cable start Cable end Distance Salmon and Rainbow Trout (meters) (meters) (meters) All fish % stream length in refugia with fish present 17.8 Cold water All Fish species Total Individuals residing in refugia

% of Individuals residing

in refugia

Table 4.5 Fish locations from USFWS survey in connection with sites of refugia

5.0 Discussion

When the data analysis was first underway some issues arose that had to be managed for; this included the high noise in this data set and the jitter from the DTS. The temperature profiles for this study had high noise; the standard deviation in the data is 0.52 °C. This high noise is probably due to the high loss cable used (discussed further in the concluding remarks of this thesis) and the short distance that was used to integrate the temperature over (one meter). For the jitter found in this data set a smoothing average was employed to have the data follow the smooth daily temperature variations that are occurring in the natural setting. Still some small bumps in the data remain. These bumps, seen in Figure 4.3, may represent true temperature variations that occur in this river. The river is completely regulated during the time of year the cable was deployed. The temperature changes may be due to water being drafted or diverted for agriculture up stream of the study reach (per communication with WWBWC, 25 June 2008).

5.1 Solar Radiation Blocked

Solar radiation is the largest contributor to river heat and is therefore important to understand. It is equally important to understand what happens to the river temperature when the solar radiation is blocked. Shading blocks solar radiation, in essence, cooling a stream reach by reducing the heat load (Hostetler, 1991; Naiman et al., 1992; Davies and Nelson, 1994; Li et al., 1994; Poole and Berman, 2001). The magnitude of reduced heating from shading can be seen through simple calculations that account for the heat capacity of water, the solar radiation input, the surface area of the river, and the flow for the river. The objective is to see if these calculations will show that the heat blocked from a shaded stretch of a river reach will be noticed in the DTS temperature profile of the study reach.

Let us consider the difference a 50-meter patch of shading would have on a 2000-meter section of river. The addition of a 50-meter patch of shade would result in a 0.13 °C reduction in the peak downstream temperature, as seen in the results section.

This calculation was completed using the peak summertime solar radiation of 1000 $Watt/m^2$, as discussed earlier. This gives the basic understanding of what may be expected for a small section of shade in a 2000-meter segment of river in a location similar to the Walla Walla River where this study was completed. Due to the high noise in our measurements and the gradual nature of surface water cooling from shade we are unlikely to detect the discrete temperature changes from shade, in our study reach. A single patch of shade will have a temperature change that would fall within the standard deviation of a single trace.

Now consider our study site in the Walla Walla River specifically. A majority of the river had limited vegetative cover during the peak solar radiation. There was approximately triple the amount of shade from the above example, 150-meters of shade over the entire 2000-meter stretch that was surveyed. This suggests a maximum of 0.47 $^{\circ}$ C mid-day reduction of temperature once the water flows from the top to the bottom of the 2000-meter study reach. Since this temperature change in the natural setting is gradual for the river reach (shading is in distinct locations covering the entire river at some locations, and is in patchy spots for other locations) sudden drops in the DTS temperature trace due to the shaded sections are not expected. Cumulatively these shaded sections have an effect on the reach, giving a net change of temperature for the entire study reach of $0.47 \circ C$. This shows how re-vegetating a river may decrease the river's temperature significantly if completed over a long stretch of the river. Shading a river can have a large cumulative affect on decreasing the river's overall daily temperature. This is especially true for those rivers that need a 1 or 2 °C drop in the peak temperature for their TMDLs. By shading an additional 300 meters of the study reach we would expect approximately a 1 °C drop in the temperature of the outflow of the reach during peak temperatures.

This same calculation can be used to find solar heating for the entire 2000 meter reach un-shaded. When calculated for peak daily solar radiation, an increase in temperature by about 40 times this amount or $5.3 \degree C$ was found. If the 2000 meter study reach was not shaded the water temperature would increase $5.3 \degree C$ from beginning to end of the study reach. Through this we can see that when a river reach

has its vegetative cover completely removed, we may expect some devastating affects on cool water dependent fish species. The shade does not create any sudden changes in structure in the temperature profile that would give rise to thermal refuge for surface water species; however it does keep the river from maximized temperatures.

For the study reach the heat blocked by shade is scattered and is therefore difficult to quantify and locate through the DTS measurements. Much of this study reach has full sun exposure and is not well shaded. This study will take into account the effect shade will have on blocking solar radiation, but will not try and find an example of shading using the DTS measurements. There may be a reduction in temperature for the entire river due to shade, but for the study reach it is difficult to locate specific changes from the DTS temperature data due to stream shade.

5.2 Refugia

The hyporheic exchange and ground water inflow sites (Figures 4.6 and 4.7) were found by using DTS temperature data. The sections of the river that were identified through the correlation coefficient as either hyporheic exchange or ground water inflow were then visually checked to see if the locations agreed with our understanding of what a ground water inflow or hyporheic exchange location would look like from temperature profiles of the river. We have created a method to continuously locate areas along any particular river reach that give the most amount of cooling. These locations can be differentiated and maintained in order to help ensure that cooling at the hyporheic exchange and ground water sites during peak temperatures continues.

One concern with temperature measurements from the DTS system is the magnitude of the temperature change that the DTS measures from the cool water input to the river. The DTS is giving a reading every meter, but the water flowing from the hyporheic exchange may not fully mix for several meters, so a false reading for the amount of cooling occurring to the surface water from hyporheic exchange or ground water input may be seen. If the surface water is not completely mixed with the cool water inflow a larger drop in temperature for each cool water inflow site would be

used in the calculations, giving calculated cool water inflows that are larger than reality.

5.2.1 Ground Water Inflow

The ground water inflow sites were chosen based on the positive correlation coefficient between the night and daytime temperatures. This was then visually inspected to make sure that the temperature pattern expected for ground water is found from the data determined to be ground water through the correlation coefficient. Areas that are not accepted as ground water inflow sites are discussed later. For an example of ground water inflow see Figure 4.8, the correlation coefficient for the site is 0.95. The expectation for a strong positive correlation for a ground water location is a sudden drop in temperature for both night and day time temperatures. Surface water temperatures will not show a sudden decrease in temperature continuously for the three week average day and three week average nighttime temperatures unless a cooling source enters the river. For the data from the Walla Walla River, locations that have the characteristics seen in example Figure 4.8 are considered ground water sources. Through the DTS method we have successfully located cool ground water inflows to the study reach. This information will be useful for the Walla Walla Basin Watershed Council to help protect cold water fish in the region.

The ground water inflows were based on the surface water flows found in the river at one hour of the day. This river fluctuates in surface water flow during the summer months due to withdrawals upstream. The fluctuating surface water flows will give a fluctuating computed ground water inflow; this was not accounted for in this thesis. The surface water flows from the single hour flow survey were used to show the utility of the hyporheic exchange calculation not for accurate daily ground water flow measurements.

5.2.2 Hyporheic Exchange

The apparent global hyporheic exchange and evidence for local hyporheic exchange were also considered in this research. The difference in energy inflows and

outflows to the study reach will show the amount of energy the hyporheic exchange must have stored. For the hyporheic exchange calculation to find the incoming water temperature the first 50 meters of DTS surface water temperature data were used. For the outgoing water temperature the last 50 meters of DTS water temperature data were used. By subtracting the average daily temperature from the peak daily temperature for the upstream section, we find a $1.73 \,^{\circ}C$ average daily and when the same is done for the downstream section we get a $0.88 \,^{\circ}C$ average daily increase. Making this calculation we see that the upstream temperature change is greater than the downstream temperature? We think that this can be explained through the hyporheic exchange sites in the river.

The stored energy in the control volume gives the necessary thermal mass for the hyporheic exchange in order for the downstream temperature of the study reach to have a temperature lower than what would be found through the energy budget if no hyporheic exchange was considered. Because there is no assumed depth we can use the heat capacity of the hyporheic exchange and surface area of the river to determine the necessary depth of the hyporheic exchange.

From what has been calculated for the thermal mass of the hyporheic exchange the necessary depth for this zone can now be found. This depth is the distance that surface water had to continuously infiltrate into the streambed for the entire reach length in order to create the energy exchange needed for the downstream temperature found in the DTS temperature profile.

The effective depth that the surface water flowed into the hyporheic is approximately 30 cm. This is on the same order as the 2.5-15cm range that Harvey et al. (1998) found for similar stream bed porosity as this study (0.3). This indicates that approximately 50 percent of the total water is continually in hyporheic exchange, or that an additional 9.6 cm of water can be found in the sediment below the 10 cm of surface water that is flowing along the stream reach.

It is important to consider locations of hyporheic exchange that may be located through the DTS temperature measurements; these are the discrete hyporheic

exchange sites. The same calculations as used for continuous hyporheic measurement were for the effective depth of the hyporheic exchange at each of the discrete hyporheic exchange locations. Each site is assumed to have had 10 cm of surface water above them so a majority of the water flows through the porous media of the stream bed. The nine locations where the discrete hyporheic exchange takes place will be used; this is based on a -0.8 correlation coefficient or less.

By changing the calculation from a continuous hyporheic exchange to discrete locations of exchange, while maintaining all other aspects of the study channel equal, each hyporheic site would have approximately 1.8 meters depth of exchange. This depth for a single hyporheic exchange site is comparable with some of the findings by Fellows et al. (2001) where one of the streams in their study had a hyporheic exchange depth of 2.04 meters. This means that below the 10 cm of water on the surface there is an additional 50 cm of water within the sediment, or that 80 percent of the total amount of water is flowing through hyporheic exchange at these locations. This does not seem impractical from what was seen in the field. These calculations show that this new method of locating and describing hyporheic exchange continuously along a river reach looks to be comparable to past research. This method has advantages over past methods in that it will continuously locate the hyporheic exchange and show the temperature dynamics found at the research site. An additional aspect of the method is the use of simple calculations to find the depth of hyporheic exchange sites.

Once the negative correlation has been validated the hyporheic exchange site can be used to quantify the expected depth of sediment that is needed for the amount of cooling that had taken place. For the representative site chosen in Figure 4.9 from distance 705 to 720m the correlation coefficient from Figure 4.5 is found to be -0.83. From Figure 4.9 we can see that at night the river temperature increases approximately 0.1 °C at this location and during the day time the river temperature decreases approximately 0.2 °C at the same location. The calculation was completed for this site that shows the hyporheic depth of exchange for to be approximately 1.8 m in order to reduce the temperature of the water by the amount viewed in the DTS data. In reality both global and localized hyporheic interaction processes take place, but the analysis completed thus far will be enough to help identify these locations in the DTS data from the research site. One additional point must be made; some of the calculations done here were based on assumptions for the data, or data from a different year, or from low quality data. If higher quality data that represented the exact times considered were used the calculated hyporheic exchange depth would become much more accurate.

The river characteristics that are used for the calculations for the global hyporheic exchange were not very accurate and could easily be off by 25%. So let us consider a situation where the river characteristics make the river cooler, which should give a hyporheic exchange that is not as deep. We will say that the river is 7.5 m wide instead of 10 m, the flow is 1.1 m^3 /s instead of 0.9 m³/s, the 35% of the channel is shaded instead of 10%, and all other factors will remain the same. This would give a negative 4.5 m depth of hyporheic exchange. This means that for these new river characteristics and the temperature change of the control volume we would actually need the hyporheic exchange to increase the temperature of the river. Another possibility is that the river characteristics make a warmer situation than we have shown. Now the river is 12.5 m wide instead of 10 m, the flow is $0.7 \text{ m}^3/\text{s}$ instead of 0.9 m^3 /s, the 0% of the channel is shaded instead of 10%, and all other factors will remain the same. For these river characteristics and the same temperature change for the control volume the global hyporheic exchange would need to be 2.7 m in depth. We can see how accurate measurements of the river's characteristics are important to give accurate measurements of hyporheic exchange depth.

We can also consider how hyporheic exchange changes the river temperature. For the original hyporheic exchange calculation we find the control volume's outflow temperature from sunrise to daily peak solar radiation to have changed by 5 °C. If there is no hyporheic exchange (such as a bedrock reach) we would see this change to be 7 °C and if the hyporheic exchange was doubled we would find the temperature change of the river from sunrise to the daily peak solar radiation to be 3 °C. During peak solar radiation the temperature of the river dropped by 0.1 °C from the bedrock scenario to the hyporheic exchange found in our calculations then dropped another 0.1°C when the hyporheic exchange was doubled.

5.3 Fish Response to Cold Water Inflows

Cross-analysis of the fish survey with the DTS data shows that 60% of the cold water fish (salmonids and trout) were found in the cold water inflow locations that make up 18% of the river, showing that the areas identified by the DTS to be either ground water or hyporheic exchange had over three times the density of cold water fish population than the overall stream. In addition, when cold water fish and warm water fish are combined, 53% of the fish are found in 18% of the river at these cold water inflows (see Table 4.5). This shows that most of the cold water fish will reside at these cold water inflows during warm summer months. A cold water inflow does not seem to be the only attribute that determines fish presence. An additional 13% of the river reach consisted of cold water inflows but did not have fish present. This suggests that cold water inflows are not the sole driver for cold water fish movement, but are one of the defining attributes.

5.4 Difficulties

This research was new and exploratory which led to many difficulties along the way. In this section we will disclose some of the problems that were faced so projects in the future will not follow the same path.

One such difficulty came up when visually validating the cool water inflows determined through the correlation coefficient. Occasionally the cool water inflows were not found at the locations where they were expected from the correlation coefficient analysis. An example of this was when the cable was out of the water as seen in Figure 5.1 from 1570 to 1583 meters. This can happen when the cable is moved around by the water during high flows (if the cable is not well anchored to the river bed) or when people or animals drag the cable out of the water. The cable is also taken out of the water when there is a connector or if the cable is placed into an ice or water bath. At these locations you may find air temperatures show up in the data.

These locations are easy to identify; they will have a strong negative correlation similar to the hyporheic exchange sites, but the temperature will follow the diurnal cycle (warm in the day and cold at night), unlike the expectations for a cool water refugia. This is because the DTS will be measuring the air temperature which has greater peaks than the surface water temperature. For this study the air temperatures, were removed prior to data interpretation.

Unexpected warm water additions to the river added an additional problem with data analysis. This discrepancy was found in the data when using the correlation coefficient to locate cool water inputs. It could be seen as a continuous warm water inflow, such as an agricultural return flow (see Figure 5.1 from a distance of 1627 to 1634 meters for an example). The correlation coefficient for this site is strongly positive (0.95) which would lead us to believe it is a ground water inflow. Visual inspection reveals the opposite of what is expected for a ground water inflow. Instead of the expected ground water temperature change (a drop in temperature both day and night) an increase in temperature both day and night is found, possibly giving the signature that would be expected from an agriculture return flow or some other warm water supply continuously entering the river at this location.

When barrel connectors (a female / female connector, see Figure 5.2 at the 1030 meter distance) are present, there is an increase in the amount of light that escapes; giving more loss. In this circumstance both the night and day time temperature will either remain at an extremely high or low temperature (Figure 5.3). This is for a short distance and has much higher amplitude than the temperature variations that are expected. This large loss at the site of the barrel connecter will give more noise in the signal for the remainder of the measurements. Another problem is that the connectors themselves have shown temperature dependency, this was seen in a project completed at Lake Tahoe (accepted for publication at Water Resource Research, 2008). In addition, it is important to have the connectors be sealed from water. For this reason in this project the connectors remained out of the water which gives us an increased amount of air temperature data. The sections of river where this occurs can be removed from the data set so that it they will not impact any data

analysis. However, due to the double-ended nature of the temperature measurements, the locations have already increased the noise of the temperature measurements. This barrel connector affect shows that fusing cables together may be a better option than trying to use the barrel connector.



Figure 5.1 Result of air temperature (giving a false hyporheic exchange reading from the correlation coefficient) and agricultural return flow (giving a false ground water inflow reading from the correlation coefficient) in the temperature data.



Figure 5.2 High loss cable (acceptable loss is 1dB/ km) and an approximate 0.5 dB loss encountered at a barrel connector at 1030 and 0.75 dB loss at the barrel connector at 2060 meters.



Figure 5.3 Air temperature and barrel connector site from the temperature profile, the barrel connector is the large spike during both the night and day at 1030 m.

6.0 Concluding Remarks and Suggestions for Future Studies

Through continuous temperature analysis we have begun to locate cool water inflows to surface water. Once these areas of interaction are found they can be identified as either ground water or hyporheic exchange (depending on the designated timescales used) and quantified. Using the temperature measurements and stream data we can begin to determine the approximate depth that we would expect for the hyporheic exchange. The research has also used simple calculations to estimate expected temperature changes for a river from increasing shade, known ground water inputs, and from any hyporheic exchange that may be occurring or new hyporheic exchange zones planned in future projects. This temperature data is also being used in correlation with fish surveys to locate areas of habitat; fish rely on during peak day time temperatures and see if the fish locations relate to sites of cool water refugia found through DTS temperature analysis.

Cooling of surface waters during peak temperatures is important for the future of surface water ecosystems. With increasing temperatures worldwide do to climate change, it is important to find new ways to examine, define, and measure cool water inflows. We have presented the basics behind warming a river due to solar radiation. We briefly described the affects of shading on a river reach, quantified the amount of energy that is blocked by shading, and translated this to effective temperature reduction of the river. Then cold water inflows that cool peak temperatures, possibly sources of cold water refugia (ground water inflows and hyporheic exchange sites), were found. These sources of cool water were used to calculate the cooling expected on the study reach in the Walla Walla River. Then the data was used to quantify ground water inflows and the depth of the hyporheic exchange throughout the study reach. The data from the DTS was used to locate the cool water inflows for peak day time temperatures during the summer months. By comparing the nighttime to peak daytime temperatures through the correlation coefficient the hyporheic exchange sites were separated from the ground water inflows. This gave the WWBWC locations that can be protected for cold water inflows into the river to try to meet the TMDLs (Total

Maximum Daily Load) for temperature. Finally, the cold water sites were matched with a US Fish and Wildlife Service survey to see if the cold water fish were congregating at these cold water sites during the warm daytime temperatures. We found that 60% of the cold water fish were gathering in 18% of the river where cool water inflows were present. It is also important to note that 56% of the cold water inflows had the cold water fish present. The cold water inflows (ground water and hyporheic exchange) make up approximately one-third of the river's total length. We have given a method to locate cool water inflows and determine where approximately 60% of the cold water fish are located during summer daytime temperatures. We now know that 60% of the fish are in 18% of the river and that through the DTS measurements we can narrow the search for these cold water fish to 32% of the river.

This project has given new insight into river dynamics through the use of distributed temperature measurement. This data can be valuable to land managers in determining locations that deserve special protection in order to maintain cool water flows to the river and has shown how different cold water fish species rely on the cold water inflows for habitat during the warm summer months. We gave a simple overview on how cooling of surface waters may be represented in a natural setting and how this may look quantitatively.

A few problems did arise during the data acquisition and interpretation that should be briefly reviewed. DTS technology has been used in the environmental sciences for only a few decades and is still relatively new. The technology is coming along quickly, but there are a few problems that were seen during our field deployment. One of these issues is calibration of the system. Calibrating the DTS to your specific cable is very important, but can be difficult, especially when multiple cables are used. Each section of cable must be calibrated using two different known temperatures for each calibrated cable in order to get a correct calibration for both gain and offset. Recently, Agilent created a double-ended measurement which corrects for attenuation constantly along the cable which is a great improvement for the technology; however this has increased the overall noise of the temperature measurements. Since noise has a significant effect on fine-scaled measurements, a high quality cable is important. One of the cables used in this study had a large amount of loss (on the order of 8dB once connectors were added) which got attributed to both ends of the cable due to the double-ended measurement setup. A cable should have less than 1dB/km loss to maintain minimal noise in the measurement when using the double ended setting. Also, it is important to minimize the number of connectors used as they have a much greater loss than a fusion splice. The fusion splices are another issue; they are a necessary evil. The fusion splice is a learned skill and some of the field deployable units are finicky and demand a very clean environment. It is important to be well prepared before attempting fusions in the field.

Additional problems became evident during data interpretation. The cable doubles back at the 2061 meter mark, at this point there is a large drop in temperature. This drop may be where the ground water table is at the river's elevation, but it could also be due to a large loss and possibly some other effects from the connector at this location. This data had a slight "jitter" in the daily temperatures. The jitter was an artifact of the Agilent DTS; it was noticed because the water temperature did not follow the daily air temperature and daily solar radiation pattern. The daily air temperature and daily solar radiation data sets were plotted and viewed on an hourly basis for the entire stream we could see jumps in the data occurring, since water changes temperature slowly due to solar radiation and air temperature these jumps were determined to be instrument noise and have since been brought to the attention of Agilent.

DTS measurements are an excellent way to record temperature data for an entire stream reach continuously over time. This technology can be used in the future for the Walla Walla Basin Watershed Council, or by others, to show cold water inflows into a river. An additional season of data would greatly help clarify some of the findings presented in this thesis. It would allow us to determine if the ground water inflows are still occurring in the same locations and how the hyporheic exchange sites might change year to year. We could also investigate whether the fish are still in the same cold water refugia as observed in the summer of 2007. We might be able to determine if the large cool water zone at the end of the 2061 meters of cable was indeed a ground water upwelling. This could be found by increasing the reach length approximately 100 meters on the downstream end of the reach. If this location continued to show a large cooling we would know that there is a large interaction with the ground water occurring. If it had disappeared or had moved down to the new cable end, we would know that there is either a problem with the cable layout or the DTS itself.

Due to the high amount of light loss in the cable, the low spatial resolution of 1m, and capturing the data only ¼ of the time desired the temperature measurements from the project have high noise. We expect to find 1dB loss for 1km of cable distance, so for this project we would expect 4db loss for the 4km of cable we were getting data from. However, for this project we had a total loss of 12dB, which is a 93.7% loss of light and is 33.7% less light than what was expected. Since noise goes with the light^{0.5} a quality cable would give 2.5 times less noise, changing spatial resolution from 1m to 1.5m would give 1.4 times less noise, and capturing data every 15 minutes instead of every hour would give 2 times less noise; giving a possible total noise reduction of 7 times; therefore improving the calculated ground water inflow and hyporheic exchange depth quantities.

This research attempts to further introduce the DTS technology as an important new technology for environmental analysis. The DTS can be a useful tool in many areas of ecological engineering. Newer DTS instruments may not have as many of the problems that were noticed in this instrument; jitter in data, lack of temperature validation until the end of the project, the use of high loss fiber optic cable, increased care in the deployment and retrieval of the cable (at least with a 5 man crew if relying on man power), and loss of data due to the instrument not taking as much data as expected due to the nature of the double-ended measurement setting. Recently, a competing company has made steps toward a new DTS option that will automatically calibrate the cable to the DTS system. This development would be great progress in making the DTS a tool for land managers of all disciplines; as calibration is one of the more problematic features of the current technology. There was a large learning curve in the use of DTS as a tool for ecosystem science during this project. Future work can rely on this account to get through instrument set-up, deployment, and interpretation without some of the same issues arising. Additional studies using the DTS system should have a better data set to work with if the problem items listed above are taken into account. This should improve the temperature measurements greatly, reducing the noise to levels that will allow easier determination of the temperature changes in the sites of refugia.

This report will be sent to Bob Bower and the WWBWC to further their threatened and endangered fish projects in the basin. It will be added to the general research that has occurred in the basin in conjunction with Oregon State University over the past decade. It will also be used for practical management that may come from increased knowledge of the locations of the cool water locations found throughout the study reach.
7.0 References

Alexander, M.D. and Caissie, D. 2003. Variability and comparison of hyporheic water temperatures and seepage fluxes in a small Atlantic salmon stream. Ground Water 41: 72–83.

Anderson, M. P. 2005. Heat as a ground water tracer. Ground Water. 43: 951–968.

Arnell, N. W., and Liu, C. 2001. Hydrology and water resources, in Climate Change 2001: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability: Contribution of Working Group II to the Third Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change: 194–227. Cambridge Univ. Press, New York.

Atwell, B.H., MacDonald, R.B., and Bartolucci, L.A. 1971. Thermal mapping of streams from airborne radiometric scanning. Water Resources Bulletin. 7(2): 228-243.

Avery, C. 1994. Interaction of ground water with the Rock River near Byron, Illinois. U.S. Geological Survey Water-Resources Investigations Report. 94(4034).

Bachman, S., Hauge, C., McGlothlin, R., Parker, T.K., Saracino, A.M. and Slater, S.S. 2005. California Groundwater Management. 272. Groundwater Res. Assoc. of Calif., Sacramento.

Baldwin, K. and Stohr, A. 2007. Walla Walla Watershed Temperature Total Maximum Daily Load Water Quality Improvement Report. Water Quality Program and Environmental Assessment Program Washington State Department of Ecology Olympia, Washington 98504-7710. Publication No. 07-10-030.

Ballard, S. 1996. The in situ permeable flow sensor: A ground-water flow velocity meter. Ground Water. 34(2): 231-240.

Baltz, D.M., Vondracek, B., Brown, L.R., and Moyle, P.B. 1987. Influence of temperature on microhabitat choice by fishes in a California stream. Trans. Amer. Fish. Soc. 116: 12-20.

Barnett, T. P., Adam, J.C. and Lettenmaier, D.P. 2005. Potential impacts of a warming climate on water availability in snow-dominated regions. Nature. 438(7066): 303–309.

Bartolino, J.R., Niswonger, R.G. 1999. Numerical simulation of vertical ground-water flux of the Rio Grande from ground-water temperature profiles, central New Mexico. US Geol Surv Water-Resour Invest Rep. 99(4212): 34.

Becker, C.D., and Fugihara, M.P. 1978. The bacterial pathogen, Flexibacter columnaris, and its epizootiology among Columbia River fish: a review and synthesis. Am. Fish. Soc. Monogr. No. 2.

Becker, M.W., Georgian, T., Ambrose, H., Siniscalchi, J., and Fredrick, K. 2004. Estimating flow and flux of groundwater discharge using water temperature and velocity. Journal of Hydrology 296(1–4): 221–233.

Beitinger, T.L., and Fitzpatrick, L.C. 1979. Physiological and ecological correlates of preferred temperature in fish. Am. Zool. 19: 319–329.

Bencala, K.E., McKnight, D.M., and Zellweger, G.W. 1987. Evaluation of natural tracers in an acidic and metal-rich stream. Water Resour. Res. 23: 5.

Berman, C.H. and Quinn, T.P. 1991. Behavioral thermoregulation and homing by spring Chinook salmon, Oncorhynchus tshawytscha (Walbaum), in the Yakima River. Journal of Fish Biology. 39: 301-312.

Beschta, R.L., Bilby, R.E., Brown, G.W., Holtby, L.B., and Hofstra, T.D. 1987. Stream temperature and aquatic habitat: fisheries and forestry interactions. In Streamside management: forestry and fishery interactions. Edited by Salo, E.O. and Cundy, T.W. Institute of Forest Resources, University of Washington, Seattle, Wash.: 191–232.

Beschta, R.L., and Taylor, R.L. 1988. Stream temperature increases and land use in a forested Oregon watershed. Water Resour. Bull. 24: 19–25.

Bjornn, T.C. and Reiser, D.W. 1991. habitat requirements of salmonids in streams. p. 83-138 in W.R. Meehan, editor. Influences of forest and rangeland management on salmonid fishes and their habitats. American Fisheries Society Special Publication. 19.

Boulton, A.J., Findlay, S., Marmonier, P., Stanley, E.H., and Valett, H.M. 1998. The functional significance of the hyporheic zone in streams and rivers. Annual Reviews in Ecology and Systematics. 29: 59–81.

Bower, D., Hannah, D.M., and McGregor, G.R. 2004. Techniques for assessing the climatic sensitivity of river flow regimes. Hydrol. Processes. 18: 2515–2543.

Bredehoeft, J. D. and Papadopolous, I.S. 1965. Rates of vertical groundwater movement estimated from the Earth's thermal profile, Water Resour. Res. 1: 325–328.

Brett, J.R. 1952. Temperature tolerances in young Pacific salmon, Oncorhynchus. J. Fish. Res. Board Can. 9: 268–323.

Cairns. 1974. Indicator species vs. the concept of community structure as an index of pollution. Journal of the American Water Resources Association. 10(2): 338–347.

Carr, M.R., and Winter, T.C. 1980. An annotated bibliography of devices developed for direct measurement of seepage. U.S. Geol. Surv. Open-File Rep. 80(344): 38.

Cartwright, K. 1970. Groundwater discharge in the Illinois basin as suggested by temperature anomalies. Water Resources Research. 6(3): 912–918.

Conant, B., Jr. 2004. Delineating and quantifying ground water discharge zones using streambed temperatures. Ground Water. Vol. 42. No. 2: 243-257.

Constantz, J. 1998. Interaction between stream temperature, streamflow, and groundwater exchanges in alpine streams. Water Resources Research. Vol. 34. No. 7: 1609–1615.

Constantz, J., Cox, M.H., Su, G.W. 2003. Comparison of Heat and Bromide as Ground Water Tracers Near Streams. Ground Water. 41 (5): 647–656.

Constantz, J., Stewart, A.E., Niswonger, R., and Sarma, L. 2002. Analysis of temperature profiles for investigating stream losses beneath ephemeral channels. Water Resources Research, Vol. 38, No. 12: 1316.

Constantz, J. and Thomas, C.L. 1996. The use of streambed temperature profiles to estimate the depth, duration, and rate of percolation beneath arroyos. Water Resources Research. 32(12): 3597-3602.

Constantz, J., Thomas, C.L., and Zellweger, G. 1994. Influence of diurnal variations in stream temperature on streamflow loss and groundwater recharge, Water Resour. Res. 30(12): 3253–3264.

Constantz, J. and Zellweger, G. 1995. Relations between stream temperature, discharge, and stream/groundwater interaction along several mountain streams. *In* Guy, B. T. and Barnard, J. (Eds), Mountain Hydrology Proceedings. Can. Wat. Resour. Ass., Ontario, Canada. p. 285.

Cook, P.G., Favreaub, G., Dighton, J.C., and Tickell, S. 2003. Determining natural groundwater influx to a tropical river using radon, chlorofluorocarbons and ionic environmental tracers. Journal of Hydrology. Volume 277, Issues 1-2: 74-88.

Cox, M.H., Su, G.W., Constantz, J. 2007. Heat, Chloride, and Specific Conductance as Ground Water Tracers near Streams. Ground Water. 45 (2): 187–195.

Crittenden, R.N. 1978. Sensitivity analysis of a theoretical energy balance model for water temperatures in small streams. Ecol. Model. 5: 207–224.

Curry, R.A., and Noakes, D.L.G. 1995. Groundwater and the selection of spawning sites by brook trout (Salvelinus fontinalis). Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 52: 1733–1740.

Curry, R.A., Noakes, D.L.G., and Morgan, G.E. 1995. Groundwater and the emergence of brook trout (Salvelinus fontinalis). Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 52: 1741–1749.

Davies, P.E. and Nelson, M. 1994. Relationships between riparian buffer widths and the effects of logging on stream habitat invertebrate community composition and fish abundance. Aust. J. Mar. Freshwater Res. 45: 1289–1305.

Darcy, H. 1856. Les fontaines publiques de la ville de Dijon. Dalmont, Paris.

DEQ (Oregon Department of Environmental Quality). August 2005. Walla Walla Subbasin Stream Temperature Total Maximum Daily Load and Water Quality Management Plan.

http://www.deq.state.or.us/wq/tmdls/docs/wallawallabasin/tmdlwqmp.pdf. [accessed 26 June 2008]

DEQ (Oregon Department of Environmental Quality). 2006. Draft Proposed Rule Revisions to OAR Chapter 340, Division 041: Water Quality Standards. <http://www.deq.state.or.us/wq/standards/WQStdsTurbidity.htm>. [accessed 29 December 2007].

Dingman, S.L. 2002. Physical Hydrology 2nd ed. Prentice-Hall, Inc. Upper Saddle River, New Jersey. p. 252, 325 and 489.

Ebersole, J.L., Liss, W.J., and Frissell, C.A. 2003. Thermal Heterogeneity, stream channel morphology, and salmonid abundance in northeastern Oregon streams: Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences. v. 60: 1266-1280.

Edwards, R.T. 1998. The hyporheic zone. In: Naiman RJ, Bilby RE, editors. River ecology and management. New York: Springer-Verlag. p 399–429.

EPA. 2004. Standard operating procedure for streamflow measurement. http://www.epa.gov/region6/6pd/qa/qadevtools/mod5_sops/misc_field_procudures/r6f lowmeasure_sop013103.pdf. [accessed 26 June 2008]

Evans, E.C., Greenwood, M.T., and Petts, G.E. 1995. Short communication: thermal profiles within river beds. Hydrol. Processes. 9: 19–25.

Fellows, C., Valett, H., Dahm, C. 2001. Whole-stream metabolism in two montane streams: contribution of the hyporheic zone. Limnol Oceanogr 46: 523-531

Ferguson, G., Woodbury, A.D., and Matile, G.L.D. 2003. Estimating deep recharge rates beneath an interlobate moraine using temperature logs. Ground Water. 41(5): 640–646.

Ficke, A.D., Myrick, C.A., Hansen, L.J. 2007. Potential impacts of global climate change on freshwater fisheries. Rev Fish Biol Fisheries. 17: 581–613.

Flury, M. and Wai, N.N. 2003. Dyes as tracers for vadose zone hydrology. Rev. Geophys. 41(1): 1002.

Fryar, A.E., Wallin, E.J., and Brown, D.L. 2000. Spatial and temporal variability in seepage between a contaminated aquifer and tributaries to the Ohio River. Ground Water Monitoring and Remediation. 20(3): 129-146.

Gibson, R. J. 1966. Some factors influencing the distribution of brook trout and young Atlantic salmon. Journal of the Fisheries Research Board of Canada. 23: 1977-1980

Google. 2008. Google Maps. http://maps.google.com/maps?hl=en&tab=wl. [accessed 27 July 2008]

Grattan, L.S., and Meggitt, B.T. 2000. Optical fiber sensor technology: advanced applications Bragg gratings and distributed sensors. Springer, London.

Halupka, K.C., Bryant, M.D., Willson, M.F., and Everest, F.H. 2000. Biological characteristics and population status of anadromous salmon in southeast Alaska. Gen. Tech. Rep. PNW-GTR-468. Portland, OR: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Research Station. 255 p.

Harvey, J.W. and Bencala, K.E. 1993. The effect of streambed topography on surface-subsurface water exchange in mountain catchments. Water Resources Research. 29(1): 89-98.

Harvey, J.W. and Fuller, C.C. 1998. Effect of enhanced manganese oxidation in the hyporheic zone on basin-scale geochemical mass balance. Water Resour. Res. 34:623–36

Hatch, C.E., Fisher, A.T., Revenaugh, J.S., Constantz, J., and Ruehl, C. 2006. Quantifying surface water–groundwater interactions using time series analysis of streambed thermal records: Method development. Water Resources Research. Vol. 42: W10410. Hayashi, M. and Rosenberry, D.O. 2002. Effects of ground water exchange on the hydrology and ecology of surface water. Ground Water. 40: 309–316.

Healy, R.W. and Ronan, A.D. 1996. Documentation of computer program VS2DH for simulation of energy transport in variably saturated porous media – modification of the US Geological Survey's computer program VS2DT. US Geol. Surv. Water-Resour. Invest. Rep. 96(4230): 36.

Hendricks, S.P. and White, D.S. 1991. Physicochemical patterns within a hyporheic zone of a northern Michigan river, with comments on surface water patterns. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 48: 1645–1654.

Hinkle, S. R., Duff, J.F., Triska, F.J., Laenen, A., Gates, E.B., Bencala, K.E., Wentz, D.A., and Silva, S.R. 2001. Linking hyporheic flow and nitrogen cycling near the Willamette River—A large river in Oregon, USA. J. Hydrol. 244: 157–180.

Hokanson, K.E.F., Kleiner, C.F., and Thorslund, T.W. 1977. Effects of constant temperatures and diel temperature fluctuations on specific growth and mortality reates and yield of juvenile rainbow trout, Salmo gairdneri. J. Fish. Res. Bd Can. 34: 639-648.

Hondzo, M., and Stefan, H.G. 1994. Riverbed heat conduction prediction. Water Resour. Res. 30: 1503–1513.

Hornung, M. and Reynolds, B. 1995. The effects of natural and anthropogenic environmental changes on ecosystem processes at the catchment scale. Trends in Ecology and Evolution. Volume 10. Issue 11. Pages 443-449.

Hostetler, S.W. 1991. Simulation of lake ice and its effect on the late-Pleistocene evaporation rate of Lake Lahontan. Climate Dyn. 6: 43-48.

Hunt, R.J. 2006. Ground water modeling applications using the analytic element method. Ground Water. 44: 5–15.

Hutchinson, P.A. and Webster, I.T. 1998. Solute uptake in aquatic sediments due to current–obstacle interactions. J Environ Eng, ASCE. 125(5): 419–426.

Ingebritsen, S.E., Sherrod, D.R., and Mariner, R.H. 1992. Rates and patterns of groundwater flow in the Cascade range volcanic arc, and the effect on subsurface temperature. J. Geophys. Res. 97: 4599–4627.

Jobling, M. 1981. Dietary digestibility and the influence of food components on gastric evacuation in plaice, Pleuronectes platessa. L. J. Fish Biol. 19: 29–36.

Johnson, S.L. and Jones, J.A. 2000. Stream temperature responses to forest harvest and debris flows in western Cascades, Oregon. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 57(Suppl. 2): 30–39.

Kalbus, E., Reinstorf, F., and Schirmer, M. 2006a. Measuring methods for groundwater – surface water interactions: a review. Hydrol. Earth Syst. Sci. 10: 873–887.

Kalbus, E., Reinstorf, F., and Schirmer, M. 2006b. Measuring methods for groundwater, surface water and their interactions: a review. Hydrol. Earth Syst. Sci. Discuss. 3: 1809–1850.

Keller, E. A. and Hofstra, T.D. 1983. Summer cold pools in Redwood Creek near Orick, California, and their importance as habitat for anadromous salmonids. Pages 221-224 in Proceedings of first biennial conference of research in California national parks. U.S. National Park Service, Cooperative Park Studies Unit, Davis, California.

Kenoyer, G.J., and Anderson, M.P. 1989. Groundwater's dynamic role in regulating acidity and chemistry in a precipication-dominated lake. J. Hydrol. 109: 287-306.

Kerfoot, H.B. 1987. Soil-Gas measurement for detection of groundwater contamination by volatile organic compounds. Environ. Sci. Technol. 21(10): 1022–1024.

Kobayashi, D. 1985. Separation of the snowmelt hydrograph by stream temperatures. J. Hydrol. 76: 155-165.

Kobayashi, D., Ishii, Y. and Kodama, Y. 1999. Stream temperature, specific conductance and runoff process in mountain watersheds. Hydrol. Process. 13: 865-876.

Kulongoski, J.T. and Izbicki, J.A. 2008. Simulation of fluid, heat transport to estimate desert stream infiltration. Ground Water. 46(3): 462-474.

Landon, M.K., Rus, D.L., and Harvey, F.E. 2001. Comparison of instream methods for measuring hydraulic conductivity in sandy streambeds. Ground Water. 39(6): 870-885.

Lapham, W. W. 1989. Use of temperature profiles beneath streams to determine rates of vertical ground-water flow and vertical hydraulic conductivity. U.S. Geol. Surv. Water Supply Pap. 2337: 35.

Larkin, R.G. and Sharp, J.M. Jr. 1992. On the relationship between river-basin geomorphology, aquifer hydraulics, and ground-water flow direction in alluvial aquifers. Geological Society of America Bulletin. 104: 1608-1620.

Lee, D.R. 1985. Method for locating sediment anomalies in lakebeds that can be caused by groundwater flow. Journal of Hydrology. 79: 187-193.

Lee, D.R. and Cherry, J.A. 1978. A field exercise on groundwater flow using seepage meters and minipiexometers. J. Geol. Educ. 27: 6-10.

Lee, D.R., Cherry, J.A., and Pickens, J.F. 1980. Groundwater transport of a salt tracer through a sandy lakebed. Limnology and Oceanography. 25(1): 45-61.

Lee, D.R. and Hynes, H.B.N. 1977. Identification of groundwater discharge zones in a reach of Hillman Creek in Southern Ontario. Water Pollut. Res. Can. 13: 121-133.

Lettenmaier, D.P., Wood, A.W., Palmer, R.N., Wood, E.F., and Stakhiv, E.Z. 1999. Water resources implications of global warming: A U.S. regional perspective. Clim. Change. 43: 537–579.

Li, H.W., Lamberti, G.A., Pearsons, T.N., Tait, C.K., and Buckhouse, J.C. 1994. Cumulative effects of riparian disturbances along high desert trout streams of the John Day Basin, Oregon: Transactions of the American Fisheries Society. v. 123: 627-640.

Lowry, C.S., Walker, J.F., Hunt, R.J., and Anderson, M.P. 2007. Identifying spatial variability of groundwater discharge in a wetland stream using a distributed temperature sensor. Water Resources Research. Vol. 43: W10408.

Matthews, K.R. and Berg, N.H. 1997. Rainbow trout responses to water temperature and dissolved oxygen stress in two southern California stream pools. Journal of Fish Biology. 50: 50–67.

Matthews, K.R., Berg, N.H., and Azuma, D.L. 1994. Cool water formation and trout habitat use in a deep pool in the Sierra Nevada, California. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society. 123: 549-564.

McClain, M.E., Boyer, E.W., Dent, C.L., Gergel S.E., Grimm N.B., Groffman P.M., Hart S.C., Harvey J.W., Johnston C.A., Mayorga E., McDowell W.H., and Pinay G. 2003. Biogeochemical hot spots and hot moments at the interface of terrestrial and aquatic ecosystems. Ecosystems. 6: 301–312.

McCullough, D. 1999. A Review and Synthesis of Effects of Alterations to the Water Temperature Regime on Freshwater Life Stages of Salmonids, with Special Reference to Chinook Salmon. Columbia Intertribal Fisheries Commission, Portland, OR. Prepared for the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency Region 10. EPA 910-R-99-010.

Meigs, L.C. and Bahr, J.M. 1995. Three-dimensional groundwater flow near narrow surface water bodies. Water Resources Research. 31(12): 3299-3307.

Moffett, K.B., Tyler, S.W., Torgersen, T., Menon, M., Selker, J.S. and Gorelick, S.M. 2007. Processes Controlling the Thermal Regime of Salt Marsh Channel Beds. Env. Sci. and Tech.

Myrick, C.A. and Cech Jr., J.J. 2001. Temperature Effects on Chinook Salmon and Steelhead: a Review Focusing on California's Central Valley Populations. Bay-Delta Modeling Forum Technical Publication 01-1.

Naiman, R.J., Beechie, T.J., Benda, L.E., Berg, D.R., Bisson, P.A., MacDonald, L.H., O'Connor, M.D., Olson, P.L., and Steel, A. 1992. Fundamental elements of ecologically healthy watersheds in the Pacific Northwest coastal ecoregion. *In* Watershed Management. R.J. Naiman. (ed.). pp. 127–188. New York: Springer-Verlag.

Naiman, R.J. and Bilby, R.E. (eds.). 1998. River Ecology and Management: Lessons From the Pacific Coastal Ecoregion. New York: Springer-Verlag.

Naiman, R.J., Magnuson, J.J., and Firth, P.L. 1998. Integrating cultural, economic, and environmental requirements for fresh water. Ecological Applications. 8: 569-570.

NASA. National Aeronautics and Space Administration. 2008. Educational Brief. Solar Radiation and the Earth System. Relating Solar Radiation Physics to Earth and Space Science Concept. http://edmall.gsfc.nasa.gov/inv99Project.Site/Pages/sciencebriefs/ed-stickler/ed-irradiance.html. [accessed 26 June 2008]

Nelson, R.L., McHenry, M.L., and Platts, W.S. 1991. Mining. Pages 425-457 *in* W.R. Meehan. (ed.). Influences of forest rangeland management on salmonid fishes and their habitatas. American Fisheries Society Special Publication 19.

Nielsen, T.G. and Kiorboe, T. 1994. Regulation of zooplankton biomass and production in a temperate, coastal ecosystem. 2. Ciliates. Limnol Oceanogr. 39: 508–519.

Niswonger, R. G., Prudic, D. E., Pohll, G., and Constantz, J. 2005. Incorporating seepage losses into the unsteady streamflow equations for simulating intermittent flow along mountain front streams. Water Resour. Res. 41. W06006.

Panagoulia, D., and Dimou, G. 1996. Sensitivities of groundwater-streamflow interaction to global climate change. Hydrol. Sci. J. 41(5): 781–796.

Paulsen, R.J., Smith, C.F., O'Rourke, D., and Wong, T.F. 2001. Development and evaluation of an ultrasonic ground water seepage meter. Ground Water. 39(6): 904-911.

Poole, G.C. and Berman, C.H. 2001. An ecological perspective on in-stream temperature: natural heat dynamics and mechanisms of human-caused thermal degradation. Environ. Manage. 27: 787–802.

Power, G. 1980. The brook Charr, Salvelinus Fontinalis. *In* Balon, E.K. (Ed.). Charrs: Salmonid Fishes of the Genus Salvelinus. Junk, The Hague. 141-203.

Power, G., Brown, R.S., Imhof, J.G. 1999. Groundwater and fish - insights from northern North America. Hydrological Processes. Volume 13. Issue 3: 401 – 422.

PRISM. 2002. Oregon annual precipitation. http://www.ocs.orst.edu/prism/. [accessed 18 March 2008]

Rahel, F.J., Keleher, K.J., and Anderson, J.L. 1996. Potential habitat loss and population fragmentation for cold water fish in the North Platte River drainage of the Rocky Mountains: response to climate warming. Limnol. Oceanogr. 41: 1116–1123.

Reeves, G.H., Everest, F.H., and Hall, J.D. 1987. Interactions between the redside shiner (Richardsonius balteatus) and the steelhead trout (Salmo gairdneri) in western Oregon: the influence of water temperature. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 44: 1603–1613.

Resh, V.H., Brown, A.V., Covich, A.P., Gurtz, M.E., Li, H.W., Minshall, G.W., Reice, S.R., Sheldon, A.L., Wallace, J.B., and Wissmar, R.C. 1988. The Role of Disturbance in Stream Ecology. Journal of the North American Benthological Society. Vol. 7. No. 4. pp. 433-455.

Riggs, H.C. 1972. Low-flow investigations: U.S. Geological Survey Techniques of Water-Resources Investigations. Book 4, chap. B1: 18.

Rorabaugh, M.I. 1956. Ground water in North-eastern Louisville, Kentucky, with reference to induced infiltration. US Geological Survey Water-Supply Paper. 1360-B, 68.

Rorabough, M.I. 1963. Stream-bed percolation in development of water supplies, *in* Methods of Collecting and Interpreting Groundwater Data. R. Bentall. (ed.). U.S. Geol. Surv. Water Supply Pap. 1544-H: 47–62.

Savant, S. A., Reible, D.D., and Thibodeaux, L.J. 1987. Convective transport within stable river sediments. Water Resour. Res. 23: 1763–1768.

Selker, J.S., The´venaz, L., Huwald, H., Mallet, A., Luxemburg, W., Van de Giesen, N., Stejskal, M., Zeman, J., Westhoff, M., and Parlange, M.B. 2006a. Distributed fiber-optic temperature sensing for hydrologic systems. Water Resour. Res. 42: W12202.

Selker, J., Van De Giesen, N., Wethoff, M., Luxemburg, W., and Parlange, M.B. 2006b. Fiber optics opens window on stream dynamics. Geophys. Res. Lett. 33: L24401.

Shanley, J.B. and Peters, N.E. 1988. Preliminary observations of streamflow generation during storms in a forested Piedmont watershed using temperature as a tracer. Journal of Contaminant Hydrology. 3: 349–365.

Shaw, R.D. and Prepas, E.E. 1990. Groundwater-lake interactions. I. Accuracy of seepage meter extimations of lake seepage. J. Hydrol. 119: 105-120.

Shaw, R.D., Shaw, J.F.H., Fricker, H., Prepas, E.E. 1990. An integrated approach to quantify groundwater transport phosphorus to Narrow Lake, Alberta. Limnol. Oceanogr. 35: 870-886.

Silliman, S.E., and Booth, D.F. 1993. Analysis of time-series measurements of sediment temperatures for identification of gaining vs. losing portions of Juday Creek, Indiana. J. Hydrol. 146(1–4): 131–148.

Silliman, S. E., Ramirez, J., and McCabe, R. 1995. Quantifying downflow through creek sediments using temperature time series: Onedimensional solution incorporating measured surface temperature. J. Hydrol. 167(1–4): 99–119.

Sinokrat, B.A., and Stefan, H.G. 1993. Stream temperature dynamics: Measurement and modeling, Water Resour. Res. 29(7): 2299–2312.

Snyder, M. A., Bell, J.A., Sloan, L.C., Duffy, P.B. and Govindsamy, B. 2002. Climate responses to a doubling of atmospheric carbon dioxide for a climatically vulnerable region. Geophys. Res. Lett. 29(11): 1514.

Sophocleous, M. 2000. From safe yield to sustainable development of water resources—The Kansas experience. J. Hydrol. 235: 27–43.

Sophocleous, M. 2004. Climate change: Why should water professionals care?, Ground Water. 42(5): 637.

Stallman R.W. 1965. Steady one-dimensional fluid flow in a semi-infinite porous medium with sinusoidal surface temperature. J. Geophys. Res. 70: 2821–2827.

Stanford, J.A., and Ward, J.V. 1988. The hyporheic habitat of river ecosystems. Nature (Lond.). 335: 64–66.

Stephens, D. B., and Heermann, S. 1988. Dependence of anisotropy on saturation in a stratified sand. Water Resour. Res. 24. 770–778.

Stonestrom, D.A., and Constantz, J. (ed.). 2003. Heat as a tool for studying the movement of ground water near streams. USGS Circular 1260. USGS.

Taniguchi, M. 1993. Evaluation of vertical groundwater fluxes and thermal properties of aquifers based on transient temperature-depth profiles. Water Resources Research 29(7): 2021–2026.

Taniguchi, M. 1994. Estimated recharge rates from groundwater temperatures in the Nara Basin, Japan. Hydrogeology Journal. 2(4): 7–14.

Thibodeaux, L.J., and Boyle, J.D. 1987. Bedform-generated convective transport in bottom sediment. Nature (Lond.). 325: 341–343.

Torgersen, C.E., Price, D.M., Li, H.W., and McIntosh, B.A. 1999. Multiscale thermal refugia and stream habitat associations of chinook salmon in northeastern Oregon: Ecological Applications. v. 9: 301-319.

Triska, F. J., Kennedy, V. C., Avanzino, R. J., Zellweger, G. W. and Bencala, K. E. 1989. Retention and transport of nutrients in a third-order stream in northwestern California: hyporheic processes. Ecology. 70: 1893-1905.

Tufillaro, N., Dorighi, J., Collier, M., and Selker, J. 2007. Measuring Stream Dynamics with Fiber Optics. Agilent Measurement Journal. Issue 3: 68-74.

Vervier, P. and Naiman, R.J. 1992. Spatial and temporal fluctuations of dissolved organic carbon in subsurface flow of the Stillaguamish River (Washington, USA). Arch. Hydrobiol. 123: 401–412.

Volkman, J.K. 2003. Sterols in microorganisms. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology. 60: 495–506.

Wait, P.C. and Newson, T.P. 1995. Landau Placzek ratio applied to distributed fibre sensing. Published by Elsevier Science B.V.

Waller, R.M. 1988. Ground Water and the Rural Homeowner. U.S. Geological Survey, Reston, VA.

Woessner, W.W., Sullivan, K.E. 1984. Results of seepage meter and mini-piezometer study, Lake Mead, Nevada. Ground Water. 22: 561–568.

Webb, B.W., and Zhang, Y. 1997. Spatial and seasonal variability in the components of the river heat budget. Hydrol. Processes. 11: 79–101.

Westhoff, M.C., Savenije, H.H.G., Luxemburg, W.M.J., Stelling, G.S., Van de Giesen, N.C., Selker, J.S., Pfister, L., and Uhlenbrook. S. 2007. A distributed stream temperature model using high resolution temperature observations. Hydrol. Earth Syst. Sci. 11: 1469–1480.

White, D.S. 1993. Perspectives on defining and delineating hyporheic zones. J. North Am. Benthol. Soc. 12: 61–69.

Williams, G. P. 1989. Sediment Concentration Versus Water Discharge During Single Hydrologic Events in Rivers. Journal of Hydrology. 111: 89-106.

Winter, T.C. 1978. Numerical simulation of steady-state, threedimensional ground-water flow near lakes. Water Resour Res. 14: 245–254.

Winter, T.C. 1981. Uncertainties in estimating the water balance of lakes. Water Res. Bull. 17: 82-115.

Winter, T.C. 1983. The interaction of lakes with variably saturated porous media. Water Resour Res. 19: 1203–1218.

Winter, T.C. 1986. Effect of ground-water recharge on configuration of the water table beneath sand dunes and on seepage in lakes in the sandhills of Nebraska. J Hydrol. 86: 221–237.

Winter, T.C., Harvey, J.W., Franke, O.L., and Alley, W.M. 1998. Ground Water and Surface Water: A Single Resource. U.S. Geological Survey Circular 1139.

Wondzell, S.M., Cunningham, G.L. and Bachelet, D. 1996. Relationships between landforms, geomorphic processes, and plant communities on a watershed in the northern Chihuahuan Desert. Landscape Ecol. 11: 351-362.

Wondzell, S.M. and Swanson, F.J. 1999. Floods, channel change, and the hyporheic zone. Water Resour. Res. 35: 555–567.

Wood, P.J. and Petts, G.E. 1999. The influence of drought on chalk stream macroinvertebrates. Hydrological Processes. 13: 387–399.

AN ABSTRACT OF THE THESIS OF

<u>Michael W. Collier</u> for the degree of <u>Master of Science</u> in <u>Water Resources</u> <u>Engineering</u> presented on <u>August 22, 2008</u>. Title: <u>Demonstration of Fiber Optic Distributed Temperature Sensing to Differentiate</u> <u>Cold Water Refuge between Ground Water Inflows and Hyporheic Exchange.</u>

Abstract approved:

Richard H. Cuenca

Recent developments in Distributed Temperature Sensing (DTS) have allowed new insight into the surface-to-ground water interaction. The continuous temperature measurement by the DTS allows for cool water inflows to be located during warm summer months. These cool water inflows can then be differentiated between ground water and hyporheic exchange. The cool water inflows are important to many species that inhabit the rivers of the Western United States. As temperatures increase due to climate change the importance of cool water inflows will grow.

This study used fiber optic cable and the DTS system to measure the temperature in 2km of the Walla Walla River, near Milton-Freewater, Oregon. The temperature data was split into nighttime and daytime averages. The correlation between these two data sets was calculated to reveal when the daytime and nighttime data followed the same cooling pattern (evidence of ground water inflow) or when the nighttime temperature increased, but the daytime temperature decreased (evidence of hyporheic exchange). Nine areas of apparent ground water inflow and nine areas of expected hyporheic exchange were identified. The average quantity of inflow at each ground water site was calculated as 0.04 m³/s. The computed average hyporheic exchange depth along the 2000 m channel was 0.32 m. The located cold water inflows were compared to salmon and trout location from a US Fish and Wildlife Survey. This comparison showed that the cool mid-day inflows (either ground water or hyporheic exchange locations) made up 1/3 of the study reach length and had

approximately 60% of the cold water fish. Half of the cool water inflow sites did not have fish present during the survey which suggests that while influent cool water is a major factor for fish congregation, it is not the sole factor.

©Copyright by Michael W. Collier September 17, 2008 All Rights Reserved Demonstration of Fiber Optic Distributed Temperature Sensing to Differentiate Cold Water Refuge between Ground Water Inflows and Hyporheic Exchange

> by Michael W. Collier

A THESIS

submitted to

Oregon State University

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

Presented August 22, 2008 Commencement June 2009 Master of Science thesis of Michael W. Collier presented on August 22, 2008.

APPROVED:

Major Professor, representing Water Resources Engineering

Director of the Water Resources Graduate Program

Dean of the Graduate School

I understand that my thesis will become part of the permanent collection of Oregon State University libraries. My signature below authorizes release of my thesis to any reader upon request.

Michael W. Collier, Author

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The author expresses sincere appreciation to my faculty advisor, Richard Cuenca, he has been an encourager and friend throughout the graduate years. Also, to my minor advisor and project leader John Selker, he allowed me to work with him on this project and has helped me think through many of the complexities that this project has brought. John has also been a friend and his enthusiasm and energy for research is at a level few may ever understand. I appreciate the entire Hydraulic Science Team, Yutaka, Ari, Josh, Travis, Kent, and Suva, making the rainy Oregon winters bearable with office banter and for helping me with my thesis and research. A special thanks to Yutaka, you are the heart and soul of the HST. Thanks to all of you who read through my thesis, it was a great help. Thanks to Julie, Nick, and Martijn for help with MatLab. Thanks to Chadi and Chris for miscellaneous help throughout the project. I also wanted to acknowledge my parents for teaching me to enjoy education and trust in the Lord. To my family, friends, and fiancé for staying with me through some of the stressful times of research and thesis writing, many of whom also helped in the process. Rachelle, I love you and am grateful for the comfort and grace you have shown me. Lastly, I thank God for blessing me and carrying me through so much during my graduate school years.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

1.0 Introduction	1
2.0 Literature Review	4
2.1 Temperature and the Energy Budget	6
2.2 Tracers	10
2.3 Distributed Temperature Sensing	11
2.4 Ground Water to Surface Water Interaction	14
2.5 Ecological Considerations	17
3.0 Materials, Methods, and Theory	21
3.1 Instrumentation	21
3.2 Site	22
3.3 Objectives and Method 3.3.1 Initial Data Processing	26 26
3.3.2 Calculations	29
3.3.3 Fish Survey	54
4.0 Results	55
4.1 Calibration and Jitter Removal of DTS Data	55
4.2 Cold Water Refugia	56
4.3 Calculations	65
4.3.1 Solar Radiation	65
4.3.2 Ground Water	66 60
4.5.5 Hyporneic Exchange	08
4.4 Fish Locations	72

TABLE OF CONTENTS (Continued)

5.0 Discussion	77
5.1 Solar Radiation Blocked	77
5.2 Refugia	79
5.2.1 Ground Water Inflow5.2.2 Hyporheic Exchange	80 80
5.3 Fish Response to Cold Water Inflows	84
5.4 Difficulties	84
6.0 Concluding Remarks and Suggestions for Future Studies	90
7.0 References	95

<u>Page</u>

LIST OF TABLES

Table	<u>Page</u>
3.1 Key specifications for the Agilent N4386A	21
4.1 Surface water flow measurements and calculated ground water inflows.	61
4.2 Ground water inflows calculated; the inflow from 1980 to 2045m was neglected in average due to the possible end effects that could be giving a false decrease in temperature reading at this site	67
4.3 Calculated hourly energy fluxes	71
4.4 Snorkel surveys completed on 8/16/2007	74
4.5 Fish locations from USFWS survey in connection with sites of refugia	76

LIST OF FIGURES

Figures	Page
2.1 Surface water-ground water interaction in hyporheic exchange	9
3.1a Map of the general research location, circle encompasses the Walla Walla Watershed which crosses the Oregon/Washington Border	23
3.1b Map of study reach location on the Walla Walla River within the Walla Walla Watershed	24
 3.2 Detailed Milton-Freewater quadrangle, Oregon – Umatilla Co., 7.5 minute series, topographic map of study reach on Walla Walla River (contour interval 20ft. National Geodetic Vertical Datum of 1929). 	25
3.3 Image of study site including yellow markers every 100m, the cable junction, start and end of project, ground water and hyporheic exchange sites, and refugia sites with fish present	28
3.4 High precision temperature probe measurements compared to DTS measurements for 1000m of the study reach at 1pm	30
3.5 Average cool night-time daily summer time temperature profile for the study reach in the Walla Walla River, Oregon for July 30 th to August 20 th , 2007 with air temperature removed	34
3.6 Average peak daily summer time temperature profile for the study reach in the Walla Walla River, Oregon from July 30 th to August 20 th , 2007 with air temperature removed	35
3.7 Average daily summer time temperature profile for the study reach in the Walla Walla River, Oregon from July 30 th to August 20 th , 2007 with air temperatures removed	36
3.8 Depiction of ground water system	38
3.9 Example of what is expected from a trace from a ground water inflow site during summertime temperatures	39
3.10 Depiction of expected temperature change from hyporheic exchange during summer	40

LIST OF FIGURES (Continued)

Figures	Page
3.11 Depiction of the energy sources and sinks for the study reach in Milton Freewater, OR	44
3.12 Conceptual model of the continuous hyporheic exchange	45
3.13 Depiction of energy inflows and outflows to the control volume.	45
3.14 Expected temperature from the energy budget compared to the actual temperature with hyporheic exchange	48
3.15 Wind speed comparison between 2002 to 2007 for the Walla Walla River near Milton-Freewater, Oregon.	49
3.16 Comparison of air temperature and relative humidity between 2002 and 2007 for the Walla Walla River near Milton-Freewater, Oregon	50
3.17 Conceptual model of continuous hyporheic exchange	52
4.1 The un-calibrated graph shows eight hours of temperature profile for the reach	57
4.2 Single temperature profile of raw data for study site on Walla Walla River, 21 August 2007 at 4pm only adjusted for temperature offset.Single Temperature Profile of Raw Data Adjusted for Offset.	58
4.3 Daily temperature variations with jitter present for July 30 th to August 20 th , 2007 for meter markings on cable of 1077 to 1425m; typical examples of jitter circled	59
4.4 Daily temperatures from DTS with running average for to smooth Jitter from August 4 th to August 20 th from the 1077 to the 1425 meter mark.	60
4.5 Average day summertime temperature reduced by 2.2 °C compared with a correlation coefficient to nighttime temperature for July 30 th to August 20 th , 2007 along the study reach in the Walla Walla River. Oregon	62
	02

LIST OF FIGURES (Continued)

Figures	Page
4.6 Possible locations of ground water inflows for the Walla Walla River study site based on temperature data from 30 July to 20 August 2007.	63
4.7 Possible locations of hyporheic exchange for the Walla Walla River study site based on temperature data from 30 July to 20 August 2007	64
4.8 Example of a ground water inflow based on the locations found through the correlation coefficient from 915 to 930 meters	69
4.9 Two examples of hyporheic exchange based on the locations found through the correlation coefficient	73
5.1 Result of air temperature (giving a false hyporheic exchange reading from the correlation coefficient) and agricultural return flow (giving a false ground water inflow reading from the correlation coefficient) in the temperature data.	87
5.2 High loss cable (acceptable loss is 1dB/ km) and an approximate 0.5 dB loss encountered at a barrel connector at 1030 and 0.75 dB loss at the barrel connector at 2060 meters.	88
5.3 Air temperature and barrel connector site from the temperature profile, the barrel connector is the large spike during both the night and day at 1030 m.	89

1.0 Introduction

Fresh water is important to many aspects of aquatic and terrestrial life: food, shelter, oxygen, protection, temperature management, and hydration. Problems arise from the limited supply of fresh water available for an ever-increasing number of uses. Managing this limited resource is vital given the growing demand from industry, agriculture, municipalities, and recreation. Also, managers must consider natural ecosystems under stress from these anthropogenic uses (e.g., grazing and mining). The effects of these anthropogenic uses on the natural ecosystems are amplified by the increasing pace of climate change (e.g., Panagoulia and Dimou, 1996; Lettenmaier et al., 1999; Arnell and Liu, 2001; Snyder et al., 2002; Bower et al., 2004; Sophocleous, 2004; Barnett et al., 2005; Hatch, et al., 2006). There have been declining levels of water availability in many streams and aquifers, especially in the summer months, throughout the western United States (Winter et al., 1998; Sophocleous, 2000; Bachman et al., 2005; Hatch et al., 2006). With regards to natural ecosystems, the interaction between ground water and surface water is especially important for riparian systems to stabilize temperatures because they promote areas of increased biological activity. To appropriately manage the riparian systems it is vital to understand and quantify these interaction zones. Therefore, increasing our knowledge about the complexities and dynamics found in the fresh water supply, specifically between surface and ground water sources, is critical for improving our management strategies.

Ground water is water that has passed through the earth's subsurface and arrived at the water table as recharge and surface water is water on the earth's surface generally in the form of ponds, lakes, rivers, and streams (Dingman, 2002). While these have traditionally been managed as separate entities they are in reality one common source. An important aspect in surface-to-ground water interaction is that a change in the quantity of surface water will relate to a change in the water's source. In riparian systems, this relates to precipitation which percolates through the soil within the watershed and becomes ground water. The ground water can be identified and quantified if it flows into a river. Quantification of ground water flows will provide further understanding of spatial and temporal patterns of the interactions between surface and ground water. (Constantz, 1998; Kalbus et al., 2006b).

One limiting issue in understanding the dynamic nature of streams in the past was locating ground water inflows. Hydrologists have shown that stream temperatures can be used to better understand the hydrologic dynamics within a riverine system (Atwell et al., 1971; Ingebritsen et al, 1992; Constantz et al., 1994; Hondzo and Stefan, 1994; Johnson and Jones, 2000; Conant, 2004; Selker et al., 2006a; Selker et al., 2006b). Inflows can be located through temperature measurements that are continuous in time and in distance, however past technology could not give sufficiently high resolution readings over space and time to achieve this. Over the past decade, Distributed Temperature Sensing (DTS) has been developed and applied in a new way, identifying ground water inflows. The DTS system uses fiber optic technology to measure temperatures along the entire fiber. The temperature measurement is made by passing a laser's light through the fiber optic; the light from the laser passes through the glass and is scattered back to a sensor that counts returning photons. These photons return at the initial wavelength and, due to Raman scattering, wavelengths just above and just below this value. The measurement distance along the fiber optic cable is determined from the time of arrival of the back scattered light at the receiver. The intensity of the shorter returning wavelength is highly dependent on the temperature, and is called anti-Stokes. To improve accuracy, measurements are averaged spatially and temporally to increase the number of photons counted. The most common applications of DTS were for pipeline monitoring, oil well monitoring, power cable and fire detection systems (Grattan and Meggitt, 2000).

The possibility of applying DTS technology in the natural sciences has created much interest from hydrologists, ecological scientists, and geologists. This technology has been used in previous experiments (Selker et al., 2006b; and Westhoff et al., 2007) in headwater streams to identify ground water inflow locations. Although Selker et al. (2006b) and Westhoff et al. (2007) used DTS to measure stream temperature to quantify lateral inflow; this was not the first time temperature had been used for this purpose. Temperature is a proven way to quantify gains and losses to streams, either

through measurement of stream temperature or the bed material (Stallman, 1965; Lapham, 1989; Silliman et al., 1995; Constantz, 1998; Constantz et al., 2003; Becker et al., 2004; Niswonger et al., 2005). Past temperature methods were based on point measurements. A DTS system has the ability to have temporal resolution from seconds to months. Also, these same temperature measurements can be taken at thousands of locations along the fiber optic cable. These measurements can be done either discretely or on an averaged basis. The new quantity of temperature data available through the DTS technology makes it easier to locate multiple cool water inflows to a river.

The objective of this research is to improve upon locating discrete cool water inflows to the Walla Walla River near Milton Freewater, Oregon through the use of a DTS system. These cooling inflows can then be separated between ground water inflows and hyporheic exchange sites (locations where surface water enters the streambed and re-emerges down gradient). The ground water inflows can be quantified from the temperature measurements and surface water flows. Also, the depth of hyporheic exchange can be quantified by calculating the volumetric heat capacity of the hyporheic exchange from an energy budget. This research also examines the possible relationship between these cool water inflows and the locations trout and salmon may reside in during summertime peak temperatures. The fish locations will be taken from a Fish and Wildlife survey that was completed at the study reach while the instrumentation was in place (between July 30th and August 24th, 2007).

2.0 Literature Review

Ground water to surface water interaction has been an area under critical review. This section of the thesis will give an overview of the cooling processes found in surface waters, how temperature can be used as a tool to analyze these processes, some of the ecological impacts of temperature, and how the DTS system can be used to improve upon the current hydrologic principals for ground water to surface water interaction.

Only recently have water managers and the legal system begun to look upon ground water and surface water as a single interconnected source and managed them as such (Harvey and Fuller, 1998; Winter et al., 1998). For the most part they have been managed as two distinct sources. With increasing water demands however, incorporating the interplay between these water supplies in our calculations has been essential for land managers (Stonestrom and Constantz, 2003). Not only is ground water a necessary component for aquatic ecosystems, it has become important politically. Water rights disputes between ground water and surface water users are increasingly common. Despite the legal distinction, they are, in fact, drawing from a common pool of water. Methods to account for surface water diversions, ground water pumping, and return flows are therefore necessary (Harvey and Fuller, 1998).

The contribution of ground water to surface water has been well established. Field work and data analysis have shown that ground water can make up a large percentage of the surface water budget (Winter, 1978, 1981, 1983, 1986). One of the most difficult tasks for computing the water budget for surface waters is the field identification of ground water upwelling sites (Lee and Hynes, 1977; Lee, 1985). Silliman and Booth (1993) made a significant methodological contribution to quantifying ground water inflows through temperature measurements of the streambed and the surface water. In the past, for hydrologists to locate ground water to surface water interface and quantify ground water discharge to surface water, extensive arrays of boreholes and piezometers were used (Winter, 1986; Kenoyer and Anderson, 1989). Past monitoring was completed through a multitude of methods. Hydrologists would install heat flow meters (Kerfoot, 1987; Ballard, 1996) and complete hydraulic testing with minipiezometers (Lee and Cherry, 1978) and seepage meters (Lee and Cherry, 1978; Lee and Hynes, 1977; Carr and Winter, 1980; Shaw and Prepas, 1990; Shaw et al., 1990; Avery, 1994; Landon et al., 2001; Paulsen et al., 2001). To further understand the ground water component, hydrologists model vertical streambed temperature profiles (Lapham, 1989; Silliman et al., 1995; Constantz and Thomas, 1996; Constantz, 1998; Bartolino and Niswonger, 1999; Fryar et al., 2000) and perform tracer tests (Lee et al., 1980; Harvey and Bencala, 1993; Meigs and Bahr, 1995). These monitoring systems are intensive and expensive to employ, may alter the natural flow in the stream, and are unable to detect small-scale spatial exchanges through the streambed (Conant, 2004).

A more recent development in locating ground water inflows to surface water has been through remote sensing. For example, remote sensing using FLIR (Forward Looking InfraRed) is used to find discrete locations of inflows and has been well established through the work of Nelson et al. (1991), and Atwell et al. (1971). FLIR has high spatial resolution and can be sampled by airplane. FLIR images indicate the temperatures of the land and water surface, showing locations where ground water seepage near the stream banks occurs. One drawback of FLIR is that the image encompasses only a snapshot in time. Distinctions between ground water and surface water temperatures are controlled by weather in diurnal variations, meaning during certain times of year some sources may be missed. Furthermore, FLIR does not penetrate the water column; cold water is denser and sinks, so groundwater upwelling locations may not be visible. Finally, FLIR does not give insight into the ground water exchange dynamics that time series data would (Silliman and Booth, 1993).

Temperature can be measured through other methods besides FLIR imaging to find ground water fluxes into the surface water systems (Stonestrom and Constantz, 2003). Building on early work by Bredehoeft and Papadopolous (1965) and Stallman (1965), temperature profiles have been successfully used in basins to estimate ground water recharge and discharge rates (Cartwright, 1970; Taniguchi, 1993; Taniguchi, 1994; Ferguson et al., 2003; Anderson, 2005). Estimates of ground water discharge are most reliable when the difference between surface water and ground water temperatures are at a maximum. At this point, there is the largest difference in temperature and any variance between the true temperature and the measured temperature will less significantly affect the computed flux. At sites of focused ground water inflows, there are abrupt changes in longitudinal temperature measurements. These ground water inflow sites are more stable than the surface water, which is not directly influenced by the ground water inflows because ground water dampens the extremes found in the surface water alone (Stonestrom and Constantz, 2003; Conant, 2004; Lowry et al., 2007). The temperature differences between the surface and ground water inflows may be observed by a shift in the surface water temperature when compared to the trend in the longitudinal profile of the surface water temperatures for a particular reach (Selker et al., 2006b).

2.1 Temperature and the Energy Budget

To use temperature to find ground water inflows and to differentiate this flow from hyporhiec exchange, it is necessary to understand the processes that give rise to a river's temperature. Stream temperature is influenced by many processes; solar radiation, air temperature, wind speed, shade, relative humidity, percent shade, aspect, ground temperature, precipitation, surface water inflows, and hyporheic exchanges. Other sources of energy for stream temperature include conduction of temperature to the stream substrate (Crittenden, 1978; Hondzo and Stefan, 1994; Evans et al., 1995; Johnson and Jones, 2000), evaporation and sensible heat exchange with the atmosphere (Sinokrat and Stefan, 1993; Webb and Zhang, 1997; Johnson and Jones, 2000), and energy contributed by advection from ground water (Ingebritsen et al., 1992; Sinokrat and Stefan, 1993; Webb and Zhang, 1997; Constantz, 1998; Johnson and Jones, 2000).

The three major processes that contribute to peak river heat reduction are shade, ground water inflows, and hyporheic exchange. Solar radiation on the water surface is the major input of thermal energy to most streams (Beschta et al., 1987; Sinokrat and Stefan, 1993; Webb and Zhang, 1997; Johnson and Jones, 2000). Shading is known for blocking solar radiation, thus reducing the stream's heat during the day when the solar radiation would be expected to effectively warm the surface water (Davies and Nelson 1994; Hostetler 1991, Li et al., 1994, Naiman et al., 1992; Poole and Berman, 2001). Ground water inputs provide continuous summer cooling by adding water to the stream at distinct locations at the annual average air temperature (here only summer time is considered as this is when the cable was deployed) (Westhoff et al., 2007). Hyporheic exchange averages in time the river temperature, cooling mid-day peak temperature, and increasing nighttime low temperature. This temperature modification occurs due to the increased time water is held at the location of hyporheic exchange (Lee, 1985; Nelson, 1991; Silliman and Booth, 1992; Stonestrom and Constantz, 2003). These three processes of river heat reduction will be further considered in up coming sections of this thesis.

Through analysis of the temperature data we hoped to quantify ground water inflows and hyporheic exchange in the river, both of which could provide cold water refugia for fish. These refugia are expected to be found through the longitudinal temperature profiles acquired by the DTS. If the fiber optic cable goes through an unmixed zone of cool water, it is expected the cable will have a cooler signature until the cool water inflow thoroughly mixes with the surface water. The temperature offset may not differ between a ground water input and hyporheic exchange, both cooling the river during the heat of the day, at a single snap shot in time. The large difference between ground water and hyporheic exchange flows will be witnessed during the night, as ground water carries the average yearly air temperature and the hyporheic exchange will carry a lagged temperature signature from the river earlier in the day. It is anticipated that the return flow from the hyporheic exchange will show an increase in temperature during the night and a decrease during the day.

Hyporheic exchange is stream water that enters riparian sediment and reemerges further downstream, it is a process that creates surface water refugia but at a much smaller temporal and spatial scale than ground water exchange (Naiman and Bilby, 1998). Hyporheic exchange is pressure driven (Thibodeaux and Boyle, 1987; Savant et al., 1987; Stanford and Ward, 1988; Triska et al., 1989; Williams, 1989; Hendricks and White, 1991; White, 1993; Hutchinson and Webster, 1998; Wondzell and Swanson, 1999; Stonestrom and Constantz, 2003; Conant, B., Jr, 2004) and is caused by pool-to-riffle sequences, slope changes, and obstacles found in the stream bed, such as a log jam. Hyporheic exchange is an active area in current hydrologic research and is poorly understood due to the dynamic space and time nature and difficulty of measurement. (Larkin and Sharp, 1992; and Harvey and Bencala, 1993) The increased attention to hyporheic exchange has shown that it is present in most rivers (Boulton et al., 1998; Naiman et al., 1998; Winter et al., 1998). Water in the hyporheic exchange locations can range from 100% river water to a mixture dominated by ground water (Hinkle et al., 2001). The work here will concentrate on the thermal affects that this zone may have on surface water bodies and the possible quantification of such affects.

Hyporheic exchange time lag is determined by two components; the tortuous path the water is required to take and the heat capacity of the combined water and bed material. Hyporheic water will have the average temperature for the time duration it was flowing through the porous media of the substrate and will be dampened due to the heat capacity of the gravel and water it has flowed through (see Figure 2.1 for examples of hyporheic exchange). For example, if the surface water enters the substrate and later re-enters the river, it will carry the temperature the average surface water had for the same time duration the water was in the subsurface. The re-entering water would also have a decrease in temperature due to the lack of solar radiation input for the duration it flowed through the bed material and would have an additional drop in temperature due to the volumetric heat capacity in the hyporheic exchange zone versus that of the water alone.



Figure 2.1 Surface water-ground water interaction in hyporheic exchange. With (a) a pool and riffle sequence and (b) with stream meanders (Winter et al., 1998).

When considering a cooled section of stream due to hyporheic exchange it is important to define the hyporheic exchange by residence time. Residence time must be used to distinguish between a ground water inflow and something more closely related to hyporheic exchange if considering DTS temperature data. For this research the residence time has been approximated to be 6 hours in order to simplify calculations for differentiating the daily lag in the temperature measurement through the hyporheic exchange site. To distinguish between the ground water flow and the hyporheic flow from continuous temperature data, you need only average together multiple weeks of data. If the cold water source is in fact ground water, then once averaged, the temperature signature should remain. This is because ground water maintains the yearly average air temperature, which would be distinctly lower than the
average mid-summer stream temperature. At a location of ground water inflow the surface water should be cooler for nighttime, daytime, and for the average water temperature, during warm summer months. Hyporheic exchange, on the other hand, would cool the peak daytime river temperatures, but heat these same locations during the low nighttime river temperatures of summer. Rather than providing net cooling, hyporheic exchange simply moderates daily temperature extremes.

2.2 Tracers

The previous section discussed that the subsurface is important for stabilizing surface water temperature and recharging surface waters. One way to gain insight into the interactions between surface and subsurface water systems is through the use of tracers. This approach can be particularly useful for understanding flow patterns and the timing of subsurface waters (Flury, and Wai, 2003). Tracers have been proven useful for illuminating transport and transformation within subsurface flow systems. Use of tracers can improve knowledge of subsurface flows, giving new insight to the hydrological cycle; identifying subsurface flow connections, velocities, and dispersion are all common uses of tracers (Flury and Wai, 2003).

Tracers are chemicals, biological masses, isotopes, or anything else that can be detected at different points along the hydrologic cycle. Tracers used in hydrologic systems come in two main categories, added and natural tracers. Added tracers are artificially incorporated in known quantities at some point in the hydrologic cycle and then are detected at another point along the cycle. Usually there are very low to no background concentrations of these tracers so everything detected will come from the added source. Natural tracers include chemicals, temperature, or isotopes that are found in the natural setting and can be detected at different amounts throughout the hydrologic cycle (Bencala et al., 1987).

Much research has been completed using added chemical tracers to find ground water patterns and flows to surface waters. These studies did not quantify ground water inflows based on the tracer information. Chemical tracers for ground water applications work well if the concentration of the chemical in the ground water is uniform and significantly different than the surface water (Cook et al., 2003). If the concentration difference from ground water to surface water is not detectible, or if measuring the chemical tracer is costly, another method should be considered.

Temperature may be used as a tracer (Kobayashi, 1985; Shanley and Peters, 1988; Kobayashi et al., 1999). One study compared heat (as a natural tracer) to bromide (as an added tracer) (Constantz et al., 2003). Employing the heat and solute ground water transport model VS2DH (Healy and Ronan, 1996), showed that both bromide and natural temperature differences in the stream could be used to find ground water and surface water exchange sites. Cox et al. (2007) compared temperature with selected commonly measured water quality parameters and also found that temperature could be used as an in-stream tracer to evaluate spatial and temporal patterns of surface water and ground water exchange. Temperature as a natural tracer has an added benefit of differentiating between temporal variations in ground water inflows.

Temperature used as a hydrologic tracer has several advantages. The signal arrives naturally and will continue to arrive as long as the ground water and surface water are connected. Measurement of temperature is robust and relatively inexpensive. It also has the additional advantage of not contaminating the local environment with introduced chemicals (Stonestrom and Constantz, 2003; Kalbus et al., 2006a). One disadvantage is that the interactions cannot be seen through temperature measurements if the surface water and ground water are near the same temperature. The importance of using natural tracers, such as temperature, over added tracers to find cool water inflows rivers can now be further understood.

2.3 Distributed Temperature Sensing

Using temperature as a tracer is made robust with the application of the DTS technology. The DTS system sends light down the fiber optic cable and as the light interacts with the glass in the fiber optic cable a portion is scattered, with some returning toward the source. A portion of this scattered light is at the original laser energy and another portion of the light is adsorbed and reemitted at wavelengths just

above ("Stokes") and just below ("anti-Stokes") the original wavelength due to Raman scattering (Wait and Newson, 1995; Selker et al., 2006a). The back-scattered light has important properties that reflect the temperature of the glass at the scattering location. Specifically, anti-Stokes intensity is related exponentially to the temperature of the fiber, while the Stokes is much less temperature dependent. Thus, the temperature is linearly related to the log of the ratio of the Stokes and anti-Stokes intensities (Selker et al., 2006b). The distance for each recorded temperature measurement is based on the speed of light and the time it took for the light signal to return to the receiver. By the Central Limit Theorem the precision of the temperature measurements will increase with the square root of the integration interval, so for a very precise temperature reading, a longer integration time is required in order to have more photons counted by the receiver. Also, a more powerful laser can give more photons to count, again increasing the precision. (Selker, et al., 2006b)

To deploy a DTS system it is necessary to calibrate the system to the cable planned for use prior to field installment (via the Agilent Configuration Wizard) and it may be necessary to calibrate the temperature measurements post-collection (with at least two known temperatures along the cable). To calibrate the DTS to the specific cable the temperature offset, gain (a parameter to take into account the slope), and attenuation ratio of the fiber are needed. To find the offset, gain, and attenuation ratio two known temperatures are necessary along the cable. This can be done with either two temperature baths or running the DTS in the double-ended configuration. The ongoing auto-calibration present in a double-ended measurement further simplifies the calibration process and improves measurement accuracy by continuously correcting the attenuation ratio (Tufillaro et al., 2007). The offset and gain of the calibration should not change for the cable after the initial calibration, but the attenuation ratio may need re-calibrating if the DTS is not run in the double-ended configuration. The attenuation ratio can change for the cable if it makes many bends, or if the layout of the cable is changed. Calibration is very important for an accurate temperature reading. However, if interested in precise temperature changes and do not care about

the temperature itself the manufacturer's calibration of the DTS system is reliable. The calibration of the DTS from Agilent is typically precise on the order of 0.01°C.

There are several different types of DTS systems available. The DTS systems range in cost, power consumption, resolution, and durability. The Optimum DTS for a particular use depends on how the project characteristics correspond to these variables. This research project required a unit that had low energy consumption for remote use, durability for field deployment, and low cost. Resolution was of concern, but it was thought that all units would be adequate to meet the goals. In retrospect, more variables needed to be considered beyond the instrument itself, such as the loss of the fiber optic cable. Agilent's DTS (N4386A), which came to the market in May 2006, was selected. This system was designed for remote environmental applications. This DTS operates on less than 40 W at 12 V within an operating temperature range of 10 to 60° C (other systems operate from 85-150W at a max temperature of 40° C). Also, the Agilent DTS can report temperature every meter along the cable, but if more precise readings are desired the Agilent DTS can integrate over a longer distances of cable (Selker, et al., 2006a). The precision of the instrument doubles if the distance of integration is changed from 1 meter intervals to 1.5 meter intervals. The system consists of a computer with software installed for data retrieval and saving. The software creates ASCII files with temperatures, loss, the distances along the attached fiber optics cable, and the number of measurement points along the cable.

Before the DTS technology was available for environmental applications, temperature was taken through point measurements. One concern of point measurement methods is that the longitudinal resolution is low and there is a risk that some inflows may be missed (Kalbus et al., 2006b). The DTS system overcomes this by providing continuous temporal and longitudinal temperature measurements. The DTS will measure a temperature shift for incoming water at a different temperature than the stream temperature trend prior to the localized inflow (Selker et al., 2006b). This measurement may not be able to find the smallest inflows into large rivers, but it can show many of the significant flows that would occur over a reach and fall outside the standard deviation in the surface water temperature. When the temperature of an inflow is within the standard deviation of the DTS measurement of the river's temperature, the inflow will not be statistically different and not be able to differentiate from the noise found within the DTS measurements.

One concern with the use of fiber optic cable for temperature measurements was the time response upon a change in temperature. It has been shown that fiber optic cable has a fast temperature response through jacketing made of PVC and steel cable, found to be less than a 10 second response time from unpublished studies for a Brusteel fiber optic cable from Brugg.

If care is taken in calibration and high quality fiber optic cable is purchased, temperature resolution of 0.01°C and spatial resolution down to 0.5 m with temporal resolution down to 3 seconds along standard fiber optic communication cables with lengths of up to 30,000 m are all possible (depending on the DTS machine used, manufacturers and models vary) (Selker et al., 2006a; Moffett et al., 2007). There are tradeoffs between theses specifications; shorter integration distances and times will have higher uncertainty in the temperature measurements.

This technology has opened new possibilities for environmental sensing. The fiber is deployable in many different configurations, due to the flexibility of the cable allowing measurement in many new areas (measurement of an air shed or the snow through a net configuration, down a sinuous stream, or the creation of a high resolution pole through wrapping the fiber around a PVC pipe). Measurements that seemed impractical before seem manageable, such as taking thousands of measurements at points longitudinally down a river and collecting data from the network continuously for months. Using the DTS method for this research will give the needed measurements to separate the cool water inflows between ground water and hyporheic exchange.

2.4 Ground water to surface water interaction

One approach to quantify surface-to-ground water interactions is to monitor temperature variations in surface waters due to ground inflows (Lee, 1985; Nelson, 1991; Silliman and Booth, 1993). The use of temperature as a natural tracer has

become increasingly common because it can be measured with relative ease in a channel to obtain high resolution temporal and spatial information. (Hatch, et. al., 2006; Constantz and Thomas, 1996; Selker et al, 2006b; Westhoff et al., 2007). Riverine systems are very dynamic and the use of time series temperature data can increase understanding of the changing sources of flow.

Temperature was used to identify the interaction between the surface water and ground water system by Rorabaugh (1956). He used temperature measurements to estimate the stream loses below the Ohio River, OH. Heat has been used as a tracer of surface water and ground water exchanges and to quantify these exchanges (Silliman and Booth, 1993; Silliman et al., 1995). Much of this previous research concentrated on areas of stream loss (Constantz et al., 2002). Analysis of temperature profiles has shown point measurement of ground water flow beneath streams. The temperature differences found on a diurnal and seasonal basis are partially a function of the different temperatures between the stream and near stream sediment (Rorabough, 1963; Stephens and Heermann, 1988; Constantz et al., 1994; Constantz and Zellweger, 1995; Constantz and Thomas, 1996). Through continuous surface water temperature measurements, areas of gain to a stream from ground water can be found (Selker et al., 2006b; Westhoff et al., 2007).

Fiber optic cable (Brusense, Brugg, Switzerland) was installed in the Maisbich, a ground water fed, first order stream in Luxembourg with a DTS (Sentinel DTS-LR, Sensornet, London, England) system. Surface water flux along the study reach was determined through DTS and flow measurements. The changes in temperature at points of ground water input allowed for accurate estimates of point-wise ground water inflows based on an energy balance coupled with a mass balance (Selker et al., 2006b).

As seen by Selker et al., (2006b) a loss in a stream can be assumed when either upstream flows are larger than downstream flows, or when the upstream and downstream flow readings are the same and ground water inflows are witnessed. It is difficult to find where these losses occur through longitudinal surface water temperature measurements. Through a distributed temperature sensing (DTS) system,

the gains can be found through the longitudinal surface water temperature measurements and if discharge is not significantly different between upstream and downstream measurements we can conclude that there are some losing sections within this stream, as well as areas gaining. A loss, be it gradual or abrupt, only results in a gradual change of the temperature profile due to changes in warming and cooling patterns; it will reduce the volume and flow of the river which will give more solar radiation per volume of water in the same channel shape. Such losses might be quantified through a complete mass and energy balance for the stream; however, energy budgets of this precision are difficult in natural streams. To have the most distinct temperature difference, in order to estimate ground water inflows from surface flow measurements, data should be retrieved for times of low flow so that any increase in flow can be attributed to ground water inflow and not directly from precipitation (Kalbus et al., 2006b). In-stream flows measured at two points along a stream reach, accounting for stream diversions and tributary inflows first, can be used to determine if a stream is gaining or losing. If downstream flow is greater than upstream flow, the stream gains; if downstream flow is less than the upstream flow, the stream loses water to the aquifer (Riggs, 1972; Stonestrom and Constantz, 2003).

Exchange direction can be determined through stream bed sediment temperature measurements. In a gaining reach, the sediments will take on the ground water temperature, and therefore the sediments will have a stable temperature. On the other hand, losing reaches will take on the surface water temperature, which generally follow the diurnal daily temperature cycle (Winter et al., 1998; Stonestrom and Constantz, 2003; Kalbus et al., 2006a). For the purpose of this thesis, surface water temperature alone will be used to locate gaining portions of the study reach, based on a method that was established by Selker et al. (2006a), Selker et al. (2006b), and Westhoff et al. (2007). It is much more difficult to use only surface water temperatures to find the losing portions of a river, and stream temperature reduction is much more dependent on gaining cool water than on losing warmer water.

Since ground water temperature is generally stable throughout the year, the temperature difference can be interpolated between the ground water and the surface

water to differentiate the ground water inflows from the surface water. During the warmest and coldest times of the year there will be the most dramatic temperature difference between the surface and ground water supplies (Stonestrom and Constantz, 2003; Conant, 2004), allowing for easier differentiation.

Through the use of the DTS system cool water inflows to the river can be located during summer months for the entire length of the study reach. An important byproduct of locating the temperature drops in the surface water is determining the cool water inflows. Fluxes usually are calculated for the ground water-to-surface water interface through an application of Darcy's law (Darcy, 1856) which states that water flux is a function of hydraulic gradient and hydraulic conductivity. A second method is based on a water budget; ground water contribution is computed in this method as the difference between the inflow and outflow. For the mixing zones or areas of hyporheic exchange either of the methods can be used (Kalbus et al., 2006b).

2.5 Ecological considerations

The temperature data gathered to estimate ground water and hyporheic exchange can be valuable to ecologists to identify ecosystem dynamics within a river. Temperature-dependent water quality and geochemical processes can be calculated based on the locations found through temperature measurements (Selker et al., 2006b). Also, identification of habitat and migration patterns based on temporal and thermal conditions (Torgersen et al., 1999; Selker et al., 2006b) can be employed to determine the extent of expected distribution of selected species.

Maintaining a specific temperature range in surface waters is vital for many different aquatic habitats. The cooling of summer time surface water occurs from subsurface water emerging to the surface. These locations are important because coldwater fish species have begun to decline in population due to physiological effects from warming waters. The river waters have warmed due to many anthropogenic causes. These anthropogenic causes include de-vegetation, re-chanalization, broader streams from lack of root systems and impacts of grazers, and disconnection of flood plains (Resh et al., 1988; Hornung and Reynolds, 1995). Warming to many surface waters has also been attributed to climate change (Rahel et al., 1996).

Due to the increase in temperature and the decrease in available water, the amount and location of surface and ground water exchange are increasingly important to identify for ecosystem considerations of temperature sensitive fish species. For example, anadromous salmon and many trout require specific temperature ranges to successfully develop, migrate, and spawn (Power, 1980; Baltz et al., 1987; Curry and Noakes, 1995; Curry et al., 1995; Halupka, 2000; Stonestrom and Constantz, 2003). To protect these cold-water species ways must be found to continue to keep our surface waters cool; locating cooling sources is a wise first step (Silliman and Booth, 1993). Stream temperature is also a critical parameter to other ecosystems within the stream. Temperature controls rates of metabolism, the number of aquatic insects, growth, decomposition, and solubility of gases, as well as many other processes and biotic interactions (Beitinger and Fitzpatrick, 1979; Beschta et al., 1987; Harvey et al., 1998; Johnson and Jones, 2000). Hyporheic exchange increases stream temperature regulation and nutrient cycling (Hendricks and White, 1991; Wood and Petts, 1999; Hatch et al., 2006), both of which are important for aquatic habitat (Power et al., 1999; Hayashi and Rosenberry, 2002; Alexander and Caissie, 2003; Hatch et al., 2006).

The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) in 2001 employed several Global Climate Models and expects a 1 to 7 °C increase in mean global temperature within the next 100 years. This may have a devastating impact on cold water fish (Ficke et al., 2007). Many rivers and streams in Oregon have been determined to be in violation of the Clean Water Act due to high temperatures by the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) (DEQ, 2005). Trout and salmon populations in many of these systems are of concern because of the elevated temperatures and have experienced die off during warm summer periods. High water temperature has a significant influence on salmonid behavior and growth (Li et al., 1994). Several species of cold-water fish locate thermal refugia several degrees cooler than ambient water temperatures (Torgersen et al., 1999; Ebersole et al., 2003) during summer. Fish are known to move into cooler ground water springs for refuge from excessively warm stream temperatures (Power et al., 1999). Ground water discharge increases biological abundance, diversity, and biogeochemical cycling (McClain et al., 2003; Hunt, 2006; Lowry, 2007). Fish find these cool ground water sources not just for refuge but also because the flow between surface water and ground water creates habitat for species that are part of the food chain for these fish (Harvey et al., 1998).

When water temperatures are outside of a fish's survival range during the cold of winter or the heat of summer, ground water becomes a crucial component of river habitat. Ground water provides areas of warmer water inflow in the winter, and in the summer, ground water is important for maintaining discharge and moderating surface water temperatures. Learning more about these ground water distribution pathways is critical to developing plans to protect these species (Power et al., 1999).

Habitat suitable for rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) is temperature dependent, with the lethal limit taken to be 25 °C (Hokanson et al., 1977; Jobling, 1981; Bjornn and Reiser, 1991; Matthews and Berg, 1997). There is a rich supply of literature on the importance of cool water refugia for salmonids during summer periods of high water temperatures (e.g., Gibson, 1966; Keller and Hofstra, 1983; Berman and Quinn, 1991; Matthews et al., 1994; Nielsen and Kiorboe, 1994). In a study by Matthews and Berg (1997), areas of stream temperatures which remained cool due to ground water seeps during summer months consistently had more trout than did areas with higher water temperatures. The Oregon Department of Environmental Quality (DEQ) has temperature TMDLs (total maximum daily loads) for the Walla Walla River in Oregon (this study site) set to below 18 °C for salmonid and trout rearing from spring to early fall. Also, during spawning for these two species (January 1st to June 15th, 2007) 13 °C water is necessary. For Bull trout spawning, the temperature should be ≤ 12 °C. (DEQ, 2005)

Salmon and trout begin to experience serious effects at temperatures below their chronic lethal limits. Temperatures selected by these fish correlate with their optimal temperatures for growth, around 17 °C (Myrick and Cech, 2001). Increases in stream temperature below lethal levels have been linked to increased fish mortality of cold water fish (Brett, 1952; Beschta et al., 1988; McCullough, D., 1999), increased occurrence of disease (Becker and Fugihara, 1978), and increases in competition between species (Reeves et al., 1987; Johnson and Jones, 2000). The trout and salmon species are the focus for this thesis because they are the species found within the Walla Walla River that most depend on cool temperatures for their life cycle. Thus, locating and understanding the cool water inflows is vital to further protect these two species. This research was carried out in the northwestern United States where salmon and trout are important to commercial fishing, recreation, and are good indicator species for the current condition of aquatic ecosystems (Cairns, 1974).

3.0 Materials, Methods, and Theory

3.1 Instrumentation

The primary instrument used in this project was the Agilent N4386A Distributed Temperature Sensor.

Table 3.1 Key specifications for the Agilent N4386A	(Tufillaro	et al., 2007)
---	------------	---------------

Key specifications for Agilent N4386A DTS		Environment	
Distance Range	8 km	Operating Temperature Range	-10 to 60 C
Spatial Resolution (minimum)	1 m	Storage Temperature	-40 to 80 C
Temperature Resolution	0.01 K	Supply Voltage	10 to 30 V DC
Temperature Repeatability	0.1 K	Power	15 W at room temperature, 40 W maximum

Within the DTS housing a Fujitsu Stylistic ST5000 tablet PC was placed in order to run the DTS Configurator version 3.0 and for data saving. Two 1000m lengths of Kaiphone's Mini armored fiber optic cable. The cable was duplex, multi-mode, graded index, 50/125, armored (stainless steal wrapped), black jacketed in PE, and had aramid strength members. End connectors used to connect the cable to the DTS were APC e2000s. Where the two 1000m cables were connected and where the last cable doubled back, female/female e2000 adapters were used. The cable was tied into place along the river using 1/2 inch rebar stakes driven 1/3 of a meter into the streambed approximately every 75 meters. The fiber optic cable was held onto the rebar with zip ties. Aerial cable hangers were also used to secure the cable at three locations where the cable was purposefully out of the water.

Flow measurements were taken using cross-sectional data of the channel and by using a flow meter according to the "Standard Operating Procedure for Stream flow Measurement" (EPA, 2004) (completed by the Walla Walla Basin Watershed Council). Immediately prior to taking the cable out of the river two ice baths were placed along it for system calibration. One ice bath was placed near the DTS and one at the midway where the two cables were connected. Approximately 20 meters of cable were placed into each bath. A digital data logger thermometer (VWR model 61220-601) with a resolution of 0.001 °C and an accuracy of \pm 0.05 °C was used to take temperature measurements along the cable and in the ice baths to field check the DTS temperature measurements. Digital photos of the site were taken at locations identified by a Garmin Geko 301 GPS. Meteorological data was downloaded from the LeFore ETo station (identification #TOACI1) south of the research location to check for DTS system errors (sudden jumps in temperature data). Data interpretation was done through the use of Microsoft Excel 2003 and MatLab R2007a.

A snorkel fish survey conducted by the Fish and Wildlife Service parallel to the DTS installation was completed on 8/16/2007 by Courtney Newlon, Marshall Barrows, and Ryan Koch of the USFWS, Columbia River Fisheries Program Office, Vancouver, WA. The survey started at the downstream end of cable and ended at Mauer Lane.

3.2 Site

Milton Freewater, Oregon, USA is within the Walla Walla Watershed, which spans Oregon and Washington (see Figure 3.1a and 3.1b). The southern end of the site was at Mauer lane just north of the city of Milton Freewater. Measurements continued north 2 km along the river's thalweg ending prior to a well-known swimming hole, to reduce the likelihood of tampering and vandalism, approximately 500m south of the Washington State border. (Figure 3.2). The DTS was placed at the end of Mauer Lane (Figure 3.2). This location was chosen based on expected ground water emergences as advised by project collaborator Bob Bower from the Walla Walla Basin Watershed Council and the availability of line power.

The Walla Walla River is habitat to threatened and endangered species such as the Columbia River Salmon, Steelhead Trout, and Bull Trout. The upper geology of the study area consists of a shallow gravel aquifer (approximately 20 to 30m) on top of a deep fractured basalt rock aquifer. The Walla Walla watershed is a 1,758 square mile area with a majority found in the southeast corner of Washington (figure 3.1a). The headwaters originate in the Blue Mountains of Oregon at the eastern boundary of the

watershed. The climate is characterized by hot, arid summers and cold, wet winters. Summer temperatures in the basin soar frequently exceed 38° C (100° F) and fall below freezing in the winter. This watershed receives between 12 and 16 inches of annual precipitation (PRISM, 2002), most of which is contained in the annual snow pack (Baldwin and Stohr, 2007). The near-stream vegetation found at this site consists of grasses, blackberry vines, willows, alders and other riparian species (Volkman, 2003). The majority of the water drafted from this river is used for agriculture, some of which eventually returns to the river. Most of the properties surrounding the study reach were either riparian lands or agricultural fields.



Figure 3.1a Map of the general research location, circle encompasses the Walla Walla Watershed which crosses the Oregon/Washington Border. (Google, 2008)



Figure 3.1b Map of study reach location on the Walla Walla River within the Walla Walla Watershed (www.wallawallawatershed.org)



Figure 3.2 Detailed Milton-Freewater quadrangle, Oregon – Umatilla Co., 7.5 minute series, topographic map of study reach on Walla Walla River (contour interval 20ft. National Geodetic Vertical Datum of 1929). (USGS)

3.3 Objectives and Methods

The objectives of this research is to further understand ground water and hyporheic exchange flows as revealed by accurate temperature readings from the DTS for longitudinal temperatures of the Walla Walla River. These inflows were separated between ground water and hyporheic exchange. Then the inflows were compared to fish distribution along the study reach. For this particular project it was most important to get accurate temperature differences in space and time to identify and quantify cool water inflows. This was completed by taking measurements of the river every hour for a three-week duration (July 30th to August 24th, 2007).

The methodology for the research in this thesis can be split into two groups; those methods from before data collection and those after data collection. Prior to data collection consisted of cable selection and cable placement in the thalweg of the river. After the data collection included the initial data cleaning by calibrating the system, smoothing the diurnal temperature, and temperature measurement noise reduction. The analysis of the data was completed by comparing the average daytime and nighttime temperatures through a correlation coefficient. Once completed ground water inflow was quantified and an estimated depth of hyporheic exchange was calculated.

The data was calibrated and processed to locate possible errors in the data; some of the time steps from the DTS were flawed. After the initial data processing the data set was used to find and differentiate areas of cooling within the stream. Finally, the cooled river sections were compared with the US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS) snorkel fish survey to see if patterns emerged between fish location during summer daytime temperature and cool water inflows.

3.3.1 Initial data processing

The temperature data was collected through double-ended measurements, which was possible because the fiber optic cable looped back to the Agilent DTS. Double-ended measurements were a new capability for the Agilent DTS as of July 2007. This function passes light one direction through the fiber optic cable then passes light the opposite direction through the cable, allowing for automatic correct for the attenuation ratio (loss of optical energy that may create a false temperature change) and the gain (slope). Double-ended measurements should be used when attenuation ratio and gain may be inaccurate due to poor calibration or multiple sharp bends in the fiber optic cable.

DTS data from fiber optic cables generally require post-collection calibration to be corrected for temperature gain and offset in the measurement. In the case of double-ended measurements, only offset must be found. The data was collected on two cables, resulting in two unique offsets, one for each cable. First estimates for these offsets can be obtained prior to data collection by using the Calibration Wizard found in the Agilent DTS Configurator software package, but generally, these values must be adjusted after returning from the field to precisely address effects of connectors and other non-calibrated elements.

For this study, data acquisition was completed through the DTS Configurator software version 3.0 available for the Agilent DTS system. The data was then imported to MATLAB, a powerful numerical computer program that allows for easy manipulation of matrices. The DTS temperature measurements were double-checked with a hand measurement of the ice bath with the hand-held precision temperature probe (Figure 3.4). An ice or water bath that slowly changes temperature and a second temperature measuring device are important to validate the DTS temperature measurements. Redundant temperature data may be needed if calibration of the fiber optic cable was not properly completed prior to data acquisition from the DTS system. For this research the offset correction made use of a 0°C known temperature provided by two ice baths with 20m of submerged cable in each (Figure 3.3). The temperature measurements from the ice bath were averaged together for the 20 meter length and for one hour in time. The averaged ice bath temperature was then compared with the ice bath temperature taken with the hand-held temperature probe. The upstream ice bath was found to be -0.006° C and the downstream bath to be 0.012° C. The difference between these two temperatures was found and used for the temperature offset of the entire cable.



Figure 3.3 Image of study site including the cable junction, start and end of project, ground water and hyporheic exchange sites, and refugia sites with fish present. (Image from Google Earth, 26 June 2008)

The longitudinal temperature profiles were then plotted and viewed in a movie setting through MATLAB as multiple traces viewed through time. This movie making process (not presented in this thesis) is used to view stream dynamics through time, possibly locating temperature patterns for additional evaluation or possible erroneous data.

For this study a true or absolute temperature reading (accuracy) is not as important for final data interpretation as the ability to quantify spatial and temporal changes in temperature (precision). Since the DTS was run in double-ended mode the software adjusts for an incorrect slope of the trace automatically, giving precise measurements of temperature change. If a single temperature measurement is taken at a specific location on the fiber optic cable, then this location is heated and an additional temperature measurement is taken, the difference between the two temperatures is an attribute of the DTS itself and cannot be adjusted through calibration. The DTS has a high precision when looking at the temperature difference between two temperatures as long as the slope, and to a lesser amount, the gain of the trace is correct.

3.3.2 Energy Budget Calculations

For this thesis we used the water budget (based on the conservation of mass) in conjunction with the conservation of energy to quantify the ground water inflows to the surface water. First presented are simple quantifiable methods to see possible effects of different cooling components. The different components that are considered in this research are: how shade may block the solar radiation from increasing stream temperatures, the effect ground water will have on cooling a stream, and the effect the hyporheic exchange will have on cooling a stream.

Shade is a surface process that effects stream temperature. Shading blocks short-wave solar radiation from adding energy to the stream. This blocked solar radiation would have otherwise increased stream temperature. This form of cooling is actually better stated as heat blockage than an actual cooling influence. Shade does



Figure 3.4 High precision temperature probe measurements compared to DTS measurements for 1000m of the study reach at 1pm.

not universally reduce the temperature, but rather diminishes the rate of energy input during the daytime.

For this study it is important to quantify the effects of solar radiation upon the water surface. Once the calculations are completed shading effects on a localized scale can be determined (at our study reach in particular). To find the change in temperature expected for a 50 meter shaded section of the river, it is necessary to know the travel time of the water for the 50 meters, the solar energy expected for the particular setting (location, time of year, and time of day), and the channel width for the 50 meter shaded section of river. The total energy absorbed based on the density, volume, and heat capacity of water for the 50 meter section can then be found and the expected temperature change determined. Shading will be included in the calculations, but will not be located through DTS measurements.

Cold water refugia have been defined as portions of surface water where the water temperature is colder than the daily maximum temperature of the adjacent wellmixed flow of water. These refugia provide local cold water within the surface waters of warm streams, affording potential thermal refuge for cold water fishes during periods of heat stress for energy conservation (Berman and Quinn, 1991; DEQ, 2006; Ebersole et. al., 2003). Examples of common areas of cold water refugia are: water entering from subsurface flow, input from springs, hill slope seeps, and tributaries which have not mixed with surface stream flow. Both ground water upwelling and hyporheic exchange can provide cold water refugia. These locations are often found near islands, pools, and rock out-croppings along stream banks (Berman and Quinn, 1991).

This study concentrates on detection of cool water inflows using a DTS system. The goal is to calculate the effect each ground water inflow and hyporheic exchange will have on the temperature in the study reach on the Walla Walla River. This is completed through energy budget calculations based on the computed flows expected at a ground water site and the calculated volumetric heat capacity at a site of hyporheic exchange.

The correlation coefficient was used to locate cool water inflows and to distinguish them between ground water and hyporheic exchange water. The absolute value of the correlation coefficient of 1.0 is a perfect correlation and anything greater than 0.8 is well correlated. If a 0.7 correlation coefficient was chosen, sites other than refugia would be included; these sites may include deep pools of water and sites of high noise in the data. If a 0.9 correlation was used we would not include many of the refugia sites because they are naturally variable and only sites where the cable is out of the water or connector sites will be found. This correlation coefficient was completed for running 15 meter sections of the temperature dataset that had been averaged for three meter lengths. Fifteen meter sections were used for the correlation coefficient because this length recorded distinguishable ground water inflow and hyporheic exchange sites at above a 0.8 correlation without including areas that were due to noise in the temperature measurements or possibly due to deep pools. The inflows that are cooler both at night and daytime, giving a positive correlation coefficient result in a ground water inflow. The second type of cool water inflows are when the inflow is colder in the day but warmer at night, giving a negative correlation coefficient and resulting in a location of hyporheic exchange. The correlation coefficient shows the locations of temperature change that are distinguishable outside of the measurement noise. These locations can be compared with locations we have visually determined to be ground water or hyporheic exchange in order to see if the correlation coefficient can be used to easily find and differentiate the locations of cold water refugia from the DTS temperature profile.

A ground water inflow can be located by using time series longitudinal surface water temperature traces. The average temperature profile for cool summer nighttime data (3am to 7am) was processed and compared with the average temperature profile of the peak summer daytime data (6pm to 10pm). These traces were compared with the total average temperature trace of the river for the study duration (Figures 3.5, 3.6 and 3.7, respectively). When the comparison was completed, locations where sudden steps or slopes downward in the DTS data, that were at the same location throughout the daily temperature cycle, were considered to be ground water inflow sites.

Locating areas of continuous temperature shift is important when removing other factors that may contribute to cooled locations of surface water during daily peak temperatures. It can be argued that these cooled areas are due to riparian shading, wind, hyporheic exchange, or evapotranspiration. However, when nighttime temperature change is similar to daytime and overall average temperature trends, we are able to remove the temperature signature that may be from environmental factors that give a false cooling signal.

A heat balance equation to calculate ground water discharge from measurements of stream temperatures and surface water flow was developed by Kobayashi et al. (1999) and was used by Becker et al. (2004) and Kalbus et al. (2006). In their research a stream was divided into reaches where temperature measurements were taken and a balanced equation was set up. The local stream temperature is a function of the ground water discharge rate, the difference in stream water and ground water temperature, stream flow, and additional heat gains and losses through the stream surface. This approach will also calculate the ground water inflow based on the flow and temperatures of the surface water and the ground water. The difference between their method and the one chosen for this study is that the Kobayashi method has also incorporated the surface heat flux into its estimations. However, these are considered to be constant over the stream, and can be neglected for this data analysis.

Flow contributions along a reach can be separated into surface and subsurface flow using temperature, through application of mass and heat conservation. For this study a slightly modified versions of the Kobayashi mass and energy balance equations for flows and temperatures were used (Selker et al., 2006b; Westhoff et al., 2007; Tufillaro et al., 2007).

Mass balance, Energy balance, $Q_d = Q_u + Q_l$ $T_d Q_d = T_u Q_u + T_l Q_l$



Figure 3.5 Average cool night-time daily summer time temperature profile for the study reach in the Walla Walla River, Oregon for July 30th to August 20th, 2007 with air temperature removed.



Figure 3.6 Average peak daily summer time temperature profile for the study reach in the Walla Walla River, Oregon from July 30^{th} to August 20^{th} , 2007 with air temperature removed.



Figure 3.7 Average daily summer time temperature profile for the study reach in the Walla Walla River, Oregon from July 30th to August 20th, 2007 with air temperatures removed.

Where Q is discharge (m^3/s) , T (°C) is the water temperature and the subscripts d is downstream flow, u upstream flow and l is lateral inflow. The ratio between $\frac{Q_l}{Q_d}$ can be derived by solving the mass and energy balance equations above:

$$\frac{Q_l}{Q_d} = \frac{T_d - T_u}{T_l - T_u}$$

The determination of $\frac{Q_l}{Q_d}$ from temperature measurements can be done only if the lateral inflow significantly alters the stream water temperature. Thus, the more

precisely temperature can be measured, the more accurately inflows can be quantified.

An assumption that is implicit in these equations is that over the time interval

between the night and day temperature profiles T_1 and $\frac{Q_l}{Q_d}$ are constant. The approach assumes there is full mixing soon after the ground water enters the stream, and that the temperature over the cross section of the stream is constant. These equations also assume that the flow is constant over time and only varies due to ground water sources (Westhoff et al., 2007). Other assumptions are: there is no bed conduction loss; there is negligible solar, long wave, and evaporative heat exchange; and that there is negligible direct gain or loss through evaporation and precipitation.

We can move from quantifying each ground water input (for a depiction of the ground water system see Figure 3.8) to how ground water inflows will change surface water DTS measurements. The expected reaction of the summertime surface water temperature due to gains from a ground water inflow is illustrated in Figure 3.9. At a location of ground water inflow we expect that during summer the temperature trace will show reduction in temperature both day and night. This is the case as long as summertime surface water temperatures are above the average yearly air temperature, which is the temperature of incoming ground water from shallow sources. Ground water inflows can be found through the use of a correlation coefficient computed for spatial changes in daytime to nighttime temperatures. That is to say that at locations of ground water emergence we expect evidence of cooling with

downstream flow for both day and nighttime DTS data. The temperature change is determined from 10m before the ground water inflow location to 10m after the ground water inflow location. To use the correlation coefficient to locate the ground water inflows the surface water temperature of the average low nighttime and average peak daytime are used. The temperature data showing the ground water locations can be plotted to ensure that the locations are not only a positive correlation, but are in fact areas of cooling. Based on visual inspection, a false positive from the correlation coefficient can be seen in the data at areas of continuous warming or at a fiber optic cable junction site, both will be discussed later. Each of the ground water inflows that were found can be quantified using the coupled conservation of mass and energy equation from Selker et al., (2006b).



Figure 3.8 Depiction of ground water system (Waller, 1988).



Figure 3.9 Example of what is expected from a trace from a ground water inflow site during summertime temperatures.

Hyporheic exchange sites are found through the correlation coefficient however, a negative correlation also occurs in areas where the cable is out of the water and recording air temperatures. Thus, identification of hyporheic exchange needs to be validated. Areas with cable exposed to the air will have a greater temperature difference than the surface water between the night and day temperatures allowing visual inspection of the traces to easily differentiate between the sites that are hyporheic exchange and the sites that are air exposed cable.

Most hyporheic exchange occurs in pool to riffle sequences, with water entering the sediment after the pool and coming out of the sediment after the riffle. During the warm times of day this creates a slight drop in the temperature at the hyporheic exchange site, and during the cooler time of night it gives an increase in temperature at the same site (Figure 3.10). This change is due to the time it took the water to pass through the sediment. For the purpose of this thesis exchanges longer than 1day duration are not considered in our determination of hyporheic exchange. Hyporheic flow longer than a one day residence time can occur; examples of these longer duration hyporheic exchanges include when a secondary channel, braided channel, or meander bend is present in the surface waterway (Vervier and Naiman, 1992; Harvey and Bencala, 1993; Wondzell et al., 1996; Wondzell and Swanson, 1999). These longer duration exchanges cannot be found through the three week duration data that we have available. In essence, these locations of hyporheic exchange make the temperature of the surface water more stable, bringing the surface water back to the daily average temperature. These river temperature characteristics along with the porosity of the streambed will be used to calculate the depth and width



Figure 3.10 Depiction of expected temperature change from hyporheic exchange during summer.

of hyporheic exchange flows. These same parameters will define the water's travel time through the hyporheic exchange zone (Wondzell and Swanson, 1999).

Let us look at the collective cooling from hyporheic exchange between the surface water and the bed material over a section of river. For these calculations the hyporheic volume will be considered a continuous mixing zone throughout the entire length of the river. To estimate this overall hyporheic exchange we can consider the difference in temperature from the average daily temperatures to the average peak daily temperature for the upstream portion of the reach and compare it to this same measurement for the downstream portion of the stream. The upstream and downstream portions of the reach are considered to be the first and last 50 meters of in-stream fiber optic cable, respectively; bounding an 1800m section of the river. This will serve as the upper and lower boundary for an energy balance.

The energy balance is used to find the mass of material required to match the actual in-stream temperature change we see in the data. The amount of energy coming into the reach minus the energy leaving the reach must equal the energy stored within the reach (see Figure 3.11). The energy balance will be used to find the amount of energy that must go into the hyporheic exchange and volume of surface water. The stored energy can be put in terms of thermal heat capacity for the hyporheic exchange and surface water to determine the depth of the hyporheic exchange. To determine the depth of hyporheic exchange that is evenly distributed over the entire river bottom from the stored energy term we will use the surface area of the hyporheic exchange.

To calculate the depth of hyporheic exchange the solar radiation is equally distributed across the river reach, the quantity of ground water inflow are of equal magnitude at each inflow site, and the ground water inflows are restricted to the discrete locations found through the DTS temperature readings. The ground water inflows are included in the calculation for hyporheic exchange depth because we are basing the hyporheic exchange depth on the heat capacity of the hyporheic exchange site and to find the heat capacity we will need to include the ground water energy for the conservation of energy equation that is used. An important feature of this river reach is that the flow from the upstream to the downstream portion of the reach does not change. This is justified by the flow measurements along the reach completed by Bob Bower from the Walla Walla Basin Watershed Council that shows upstream to downstream measurements to be within the 10% error interval of the measurement method (personal communication, Bob Bower, October 2007). Since the flow

measurements are within the 10% error interval, there is no statistical difference between the upstream and downstream flows. Lastly, solar radiation, ground water inflow, and hyporheic exchange are assumed to be the major processes contributing to river cooling and are therefore the major components in the energy balance and are the main processes taken into account for this thesis. The long wave radiation, evaporation, and air exchange (convection) will be lumped into one term. The value for this term was estimated using a calibrated energy balance via the software Heat Source v. 7.0 (ODEQ, 2005), energy balance software that was calibrated and updated for the Walla Walla River in the summer of 2005.

We can now look at the method developed to find the expected volumetric heat capacity for the hyporheic exchange. Prior to calculation a conceptual model may help to understand the major contributions and makeup of the channel energy budget in question (see Figure 3.11 and 3.12). Using this conceptual model we can find the thermal mass of the hyporheic exchange by using a conservation of energy balance equation. For the conservation equation we need to account for all the major inputs and outputs of energy, depicted in Figure 3.11. The input energies to this system are the inflowing surface water energy, the solar energy, the ground water energy. The out flow of energies include the losses of surface water to ground water, the lumped term for the convection, evaporation, and long wave radiation energies, and the water energy leaving the study reach. The energies will be calculated as a flux in joules per second.

The objective here is to determine the thermal mass of hyporheic exchange. This was completed by computing the energy fluxes into and out of the control volume to find the rate of change of stored energy within the control volume. Since the control volume contains a known volume of surface water the thermal mass of hyporheic exchange can be separated and computed.

The energy balance for this study is based on the control volume in Figure 3.13. This control volume comes from the instantaneous energies for the study reach assuming all flows of water are steady. The control volume consists of the incoming energy of the water [1], the incoming solar radiation energy [2], the ground water

energy into the reach [3], the ground water energy out of the reach [4], the lumped energy term (from the energy for evaporation, convection, and long wave radiation) [5], the outgoing energy of the water [6], and the stored energy (going into hyporheic exchange and the surface water). Conduction is an additional energy in the system. The control volume contains both the river water and the conduction of river water to bed material (the hyporheic exchange site). Therefore, the conduction term is incorporated into the stored energy in the control volume.

The energy balance is based on the conservation of energy and can be written as the rate of change of stored energy is equal to the difference between the total incoming energy (E_{ti}) and the total out going energy (E_{to}).

Rate of change of stored energy within the control volume = $E_c [J/s] = E_{ti} - E_{to}$ For the purpose of this study it can be stated as:

Rate of change of stored energy = (incoming water energy + solar radiation energy + ground water energy in) – (ground water energy out + lumped energy + outgoing water energy)

Where the energy stored remains in the materials within the control volume, including the surface water and the hyporheic exchange zone.

The energy fluxes are denoted:

water energy in $= E_i [J/s]$

solar radiation energy = E_s [J/s]

ground water energy in $= E_{gi} [J/s]$

ground water energy out = E_{go} [J/s]

lumped energy term = $E_1[J/s]$

water energy out = $E_o [J/s]$

In this notation the energy balance can be written as:

 $E_{c} = (E_{i} + E_{s} + E_{gi}) - (E_{go} + E_{l} + E_{o})$



Figure 3.11 Depiction of the energy sources and sinks for the study reach in Milton Freewater, OR



Figure 3.12 Conceptual model of the continuous hyporheic exchange.



Figure 3.13 Depiction of energy inflows and outflows to the control volume.
The makeup of each energy flux within the energy balance can now be determined. The energy fluxes will be computed to solve for the difference between the inflowing and outgoing energy giving the rate of change of stored energy within the control volume (see Figure 3.14 for concept of dampened temperature at outflow due to hyporheic exchange). First the inflowing energy flux is computed. The incoming water energy [1] is computed at the point entry to the control volume by finding the incoming temperature (T_u [°C]). All temperatures are referenced to 0°C to insure correct energy flux calculations. To compute the energy flux the temperature is multiplied by the volumetric thermal heat capacity of water (C_{vw} = 4.18 x 10⁶ J/°C m³, for water at 20°C) and the flow into the study reach (Q_s [m³/s]) to determine the inflow energy.

 $E_i = C_{vw}(T_u)(Q_s)$

Solar radiation follows a diurnal pattern and is therefore a function of time. The energy input from solar radiation (S) [2] was acquired from weather station data in the Walla Walla River Basin near the study reach. The net solar energy flux is computed as the solar radiation as a function of time multiplied by the fraction of the river's surface area (R $[m^2]$) that is exposed to the solar radiation. Because the solar radiation does not directly impact the shaded portion of the river, the surface area will be multiplied by the fraction of area that is exposed to the solar radiation. In this case 10% of the river was shaded so the surface area was multiplied by a shade factor (F) of 0.9.

$E_s = S(R)(F)$

The energy of the ground water inflow [3] can be determined by finding the temperature of the ground water inflow ($T_{gi} = 14^{\circ}C$). The energy flux is computed by multiplying by the volumetric thermal heat capacity of water and the total ground water flow in the reach ($Q_{gi} = 0.36 \text{ m}^3/\text{s}$).

 $E_{gi} = C_{vw}(T_{gi})(Q_{gi})$

The energy for the ground water outflow [4] is determined similarly, taking its temperature to be equal to that of the surface water of the control volume, T_{cv} [°C]. The flow data for the study reach shows no significant change in water from the

inflow to the outflow; since we have determined that there is cold water flowing into the reach their must be an equal amount of water flowing out of the reach. For this particular case the ground water outflow we take to be equal to the ground water inflow ($Q_{go} = 0.36 \text{ m}^3/\text{s}$).

$E_{go} = C_{vw}(T_{cv})(Q_{go})$

The lumped energy term (L [J/s m²]) representing evaporation, convection and long wave radiation [5] was obtained from Heat Source v. 7.0 (ODEQ, 2005), an energy model that has been calibrated for this river reach. This term for our study reach was determined by using the Heat Source information from August 2002, giving an estimate for this study (summer of 2007). As seen in Figures 3.15 and 3.16 the climatic data for August in these two years is similar, therefore 2002 data can be used as an approximation for 2007. The energy taken from Heat Source is then multiplied by the surface area of the river reach.

 $E_l = L(R)$

The energy flux out of the river reach [6] is determined in the same manner as the energy into the reach. The volumetric heat capacity of water and the flow of the reach are multiplied by the downstream temperature (T_d [°C]).

 $E_o = C_{vw}(T_d)(Q_s)$

The conceptual model (Figure 3.12) above also pertains to the energy balance necessary to find the functional volume of the hyporheic exchange. The hyporheic exchange depicted in the model along with the surface area of the hyporheic exchange can be used together to find the functioning depth of this zone. Some assumptions made for this calculation are that the hyporheic exchange is continuous along the study reach and is directly below the surface water, not coming in on the sides of the channel. The second assumption stated above is viable when there is such a large width of surface water to depth of water ratio. These assumptions help to keep this calculation as a stripped down simple formula to help quantify the hyporheic exchange. The same idea of the continuous hyporheic exchange can be used to find the depth for discrete zones of hyporheic exchange; the depth will be much greater in discrete locations of hyporheic exchange because the same amount of cooling must



Figure 3.14 Expected temperature from the energy budget compared to the actual temperature with hyporheic exchange.



Figure 3.15 Wind speed comparison between 2002 to 2007 for the Walla Walla River near Milton-Freewater, Oregon.



Figure 3.16 Comparison of air temperature and relative humidity between 2002 and 2007 for the Walla Walla River near Milton-Freewater, Oregon

take place in a shorter distance. Both continuous and discrete hyporheic exchange are important to consider, but the DTS instrument is capable to pin point the discrete locations based on the peak hot and cold daily temperature profiles.

Depth of the hyporheic exchange can be found through consideration of the control volume (Figure 3.13). Since we have the calculation for the rate of change of stored energy for the control volume (hyporheic exchange plus surface water) and we know the volumetric heat capacity for water and the bed material, the volume of water above the hyporheic exchange site, and the porosity of the bed material to be 0.3 (Constantz et al., 1996; Edwards, 1998), we are able to calculate the volume of the hyporheic exchange site. Since the porosity of the bed material is 0.3 we know that the bed material takes up 0.7 of the volume in the hyporheic exchange site, this will be used to help calculate the volume of the hyporheic exchange site.

The energy stored within the control volume (E_c [J/s]) resides in both surface water and the water sediment mix of the hyporheic exchange. The depth of hyporheic exchange calculation is based on the energy stored in the control volume that is not stored in the surface water.

The energy balance will be based on the volumetric heat capacities of the different material within the control volume and the stored energy within the control volume. The stored energy within the control volume will be integrated over time in order to find the cumulative energy the thermal mass of the hyporheic exchange must account for. From Figure 3.17 we can see a model of what the control volume contains. Using this model (containing a known volume of surface water), the volumetric heat capacity of the sediment, and the temperature change of the control volume over a specific time period we can derive an equation to determine the depth of the hyporheic exchange.



Figure 3.17 Conceptual model of continuous hyporheic exchange.

The terms used for this derivation are denoted:

 E_c = Rate of change of stored energy within the control volume (J/s)

 V_{cv} = Total volume of control volume (m³)

 V_h = Total volume of hyporheic (m³)

 V_w = Total volume of water above hyporheic exchange zone (m³)

T = Temperature of the control volume for time duration (°C)

t = Time duration the calculation was completed (s)

 C_{cv} = Thermal volumetric heat capacity of control volume (J/°C m³)

 C_{vw} = Thermal volumetric heat capacity of water (J/°C m³)

 C_{vs} = Thermal volumetric heat capacity of sediment (J/°C m³)

SA = Surface area of hyporheic zone (m²)

 D_h = Depth of hyporheic zone (m)

We begin with the previously calculated energy stored within the control volume and find:

$$E_{c} = \left(\frac{dT}{dt}\right) C_{cv} V_{cv}$$

This can be integrated as:

$$\int dT = \frac{E_c}{C_{cv}V_{cv}} \int dt$$

Giving:

$$\Delta T = \frac{E_c}{C_{cv} V_{cv}} \Delta t$$

Now we can expand the control volume terms to incorporate the materials involved.

$$C_{cv}V_{cv} = C_{vw}(V_w + 0.3V_h) + C_{vs}0.7V_h$$

This can be substituded in for the control volume terms:

$$\Delta T = \frac{E_c}{C_{vw} (V_w + 0.3V_h) + C_{vs} 0.7V_h} \Delta t$$

The volume of hyporheic exchange can be computed as:

$$V_h = \frac{\frac{\Delta t E_c}{\Delta T} - C_{vw} V_w}{0.3 C_{vw} + 0.7 C_{vs}}$$

Once the volume of the hyporheic exchange has been calculated the depth of the exchange can be found by simply dividing the calculated volume by the surface area the hyporheic exchange occurs over (for our case we have made the assumption that the hyporheic exchange occurs over the entire length and width of the channel).

$$D_h = \frac{V_h}{SA}$$

3.3.3 Fish Survey

During this study, the USFWS conducted a survey on the fish found in this reach of the Walla Walla River. The survey determined the number of fish and species found throughout the study reach during warm daytime temperatures. The surveyors recorded the cable distances when they came to a school of fish during their snorkel survey which started at the downstream section of the study reach and went up the river to the end of the study reach. This fish survey will be used to determine if the fish populations are locating the cold water inflows during warm daytime periods.

4.0 Results

4.1 Calibration and Jitter Removal of DTS Data

The temperature offset for post calibration of the DTS data was determined to be approximately 5° C by checking ice bath temperatures using a high resolution VWR temperature probe, which has a temperature resolution of 0.001° C. This was determined through calculating the difference between the VWR temperature measurement and the temperature measurement given by the DTS for the ice bath. The upstream ice bath was found to be -0.006° C and the downstream bath to be 0.012° C. The two fiber optic cables used for this study meet at the ice bath at the 1030 meter mark. This junction is noticeable in the temperature measurements because at this point the temperature profile shows a spike in the record due to the barrel connector. In Figure 4.1 it is easy to see that the ice slurry baths are not read as zero by the DTS system, giving the necessity for the offset correction. The entire temperature profile was adjusted for this offset to get temperatures that will be close to the true stream temperature.

The offset was found to be a reduction of the DTS measurements by 5.02° Celsius. Figure 4.2 shows the basic trace acquired from DTS viewed through MatLab that has been adjusted for the offset. This trace gives the temperature averaged for one hour every meter along the 2000 meter study reach.

When the temperature data was viewed in the MatLab movie format, a jitter (typically between 0.5 to 1.0° C) was seen, where the data was displaced either up or down (movie not presented in this thesis). This "jitter" was first seen in an ice temperature bath. The temperature should not quickly change within the bath, but some jumps were noticed. Through discussions with the DTS manufacturer it was learned that this defect reflected a firmware defect which is prominent when the instrument is used in double-ended mode with high loss fiber optic cable (our case). The jitter seen was not due to true temperature changes from the river and therefore it was necessary to remove before further data interpretation took place. This jitter was

corrected for by first plotting temperature versus the time for the DTS measurements (Figure 4.3). The plotted river temperature should follow a smooth pattern due to the influence of air temperature, solar radiation, and the high thermal heat capacity of water. This was not the case with the jitter present so the data set needed to be smoothed out post collection. To accomplish the smoothing, a 5hr running average of the hourly temperatures was taken to get an adjusted temperature measurement (see Figure 4.4). For the running average a section from 1077 to 1425 meters along the river was used because it showed quality water temperature with no spikes due to air temperature. The differences between the averaged temperature and the true temperature were found and added to the entire dataset for the duration of the study. This gave a new adjusted temperature dataset to be used for all calculations.

4.2 Cold Water Refugia

The temperature data was viewed at several different time intervals throughout the day to see how nighttime temperature changes may differ from the ones during the daytime (see Figures 3.5 and 3.6). The temperature data were averaged throughout space and time to find locations where there was a continuous drop in the surface water temperature; possibly indicating areas of cool water inflow (see Figure 4.5). The three meter average nighttime (3am to 7am) temperature was plotted along with the three meter average hot daytime (6pm to 10pm) temperature in Figure 4.5 to see if the dynamics expected between hyporheic interaction zones and ground water inflows would become noticeable in this dataset.

The flow survey done by the Walla Walla Basin Watershed Council (WWBWC) at the time of the DTS and fish study found average stream flow of 0.9 m^3/s (Table 4.1) for the entire river reach with an error of 10 % for the cross-sectional flow measurement method used (Bob Bower, per communication, 2007). The flow data was necessary to help quantify the ground water inflow to our study reach. The ground water temperature is also necessary for the combined conservation of mass and conservation of energy equation used to quantify ground water inflow.



Figure 4.1 The un-calibrated graph shows eight hours of temperature profile for the reach. The duplex cable used shows a mirrored image after 2060 meters. Blue circles indicate ice baths and red circles locations of known air exposed sections of cable.



Figure 4.2 Single temperature profile of raw data for study site on Walla Walla River, 21 August 2007 at 4pm only adjusted for temperature offset.



Figure 4.3 Daily temperature variations with jitter present for July 30th to August 20th, 2007 for meter markings on cable of 1077 to 1425m; typical examples of jitter circled.



Figure 4.4 Daily temperatures from DTS with running average for to smooth Jitter from August 4th to August 20th from the 1077 to the 1425 meter mark.

		Surface						
Ground Water		Water	Te	emperati	ure (C)	Ground Water		
		Flows						
Start (m)	Stop (m)	(cfs)	Tg	Ti	То	Flow (cfs)	Flow (m^3)	
315	355	32.8	14	17.96	17.87	0.76	0.02	
460	500	34.2	14	18.04	17.96	0.69	0.02	
630	705	32.5	14	18.12	18.00	0.98	0.03	
918	940	32.6	14	18.04	17.84	1.70	0.05	
978	1008	32.1	14	17.92	17.72	1.73	0.05	
1610	1643	32.9	14	18.20	18.00	1.64	0.05	
1900	2048	30.4			Average	1.25	0.04	
	Average	32.9						

Table 4.1 Surface water flow measurements and calculated ground water inflows. Shaded ground water inflow neglected in averages due to connector effect.

The data from ground water wells in the same aquifer indicate the average ground water temperature for July of 2006 (most recent data) to be 14° C. The ground water inflow sites were determined through the correlation coefficient from cool nighttime to the warm daytime temperature of the surface water (Figure 4.5). Any place that the two dropped in unison was designated as ground water and the distance that the drop lasted was recorded (see Figure 4.6 for specific sites). At each identified ground water inflow the temperatures from 10m before the drop to 10m after the temperature drop were recorded and the ground water inflows were quantified using (Table 4.1).

The traces for peak daytime temperature and for cool nighttime temperature (Figures 3.5 and 3.6) can be examined for hyporheic exchange as well. The overall average will not show any temperature shift or will show very little temperature structure for the location of hyporheic exchange. However, when comparing the peak daily to the cool nightly temperatures the location of hyporheic exchange should be noticeable. Remembering that these locations can be seen as temperature drops during the peak daily surface water temperatures, but should rise in temperature at the same location during the low nightly temperatures (see Figure 4.7 for possible hyporheic exchange sites). The temperature shift between night and daytime temperatures at these hyporheic exchange sites are a negative correlation coefficient (Figure 4.5).



Figure 4.5 Average day summertime temperature reduced by 2.2 °C compared with a correlation coefficient to nighttime temperature for July 30th to August 20th, 2007 along the study reach in the Walla Walla River, Oregon. Light blue line represents locations fish were found from the USFWS survey.



Figure 4.6 Possible locations of ground water inflows for the Walla Walla River study site based on temperature data from 30 July to 20 August 2007.



Figure 4.7 Possible locations of hyporheic exchange for the Walla Walla River study site based on temperature data from 30 July to 20 August 2007

4.3 Calculations

4.3.1 Solar Radiation

For this section the influence of solar radiation is considered. This calculation will be used to understand the expected magnitude of the solar radiation from sunrise to mid-day and the amount shade will reduce the surface water temperature. To complete this calculation we will use the solar radiation, a shade factor (the shade changes diurnally on the channel, we have used the shade expected during the mid-day peak solar radiation), and the channel's surface area. The total solar radiation will be determined based on the surface area of the water that is affected by the solar radiation. Using the Lefore Eto meteorological station data for the study duration we found the average hourly values of solar radiation from sunrise to sunset. The length for the site specific channel values was taken from the DTS measurements and the width was determined from a field visit (the width is not precise and therefore can be considered an assumed width). The calculation for the effect of shading at peak solar radiation can be completed as follows:

Peak solar radiation: 1000 W/m^2 or $1000 \text{ J/}(\text{m}^2\text{s})$ (NASA, 2008)

Example shaded channel distance: 50 m

Average channel width: 10 m

Average water depth: 0.1 m

Heat capacity of water: 1 cal/ (gram °C) or 4.18 J/ (gram °C)

Water flow (Q): $32 \text{ cfs or } 0.9 \text{ m}^3/\text{s}$

Velocity = Q / cross-sectional area

 $= 0.9 \text{ m}^3/\text{s} / (0.1 \text{m}^*10 \text{m}) = 0.9 \text{m/s}$

Time of water travel = distance / velocity

= 50m/0.9 m/s = 55 s

Water mass = density * volume

 $= 1 \text{g/cm}^{3} (1000 \text{cm}^{*}10 \text{cm}^{*}5000 \text{cm}) = 5.0^{*}10^{7} \text{g}$

Total Solar radiation = Travel time * solar energy * surface area

 $= 55.12s * 1000 \text{ J/} (\text{m}^2\text{s}) * 500 \text{ m}^2 = 2.76*10^7 \text{ J}$

Energy per water mass

 $= 2.76^{*}10^{7} \text{ J} / (5.0^{*}10^{7} \text{g}) = 0.55 \text{ J/g}$

Change in water temperature from 50m of shade

= 0.55 J/g / (4.18 J/ (g °C)) = 0.13 °C

4.3.2 Ground Water

To quantify the expected down stream temperature in the river due to ground water inflow, it is necessary to use the flow and temperature of the upstream water and average it with the flow and temperature of each ground water inflow site. The following is a simple calculation to quantify the effect a ground water inflow has on the surface water temperature in our study reach in the Walla Walla River, Oregon. Surface water flow, 32 cfs or 0.9 m³/s; average ground water inflow quantified (table 4.1), 1.4 cfs or 0.04 m³/s; surface water average peak summer daytime temperature to be 20.44 °C found from averaging the daytime temperature from the temperature measurements in Figure 4.6; and ground water temperature, 14 °C. After mixing (weighted average) the expected down stream temperature is $= (0.9 \text{ m}^3/\text{s} * 20.44 °C + 0.04 \text{ m}^3/\text{s} * 14 °C)/(0.04 \text{ m}^3/\text{s} + 0.9 \text{ m}^3/\text{s}) = 20.18 °C$

This calculation suggests that there is an average decrease of 0.26 $^{\circ}C$ to the surface water per ground water site. All sites do not have the same flow, but here we have used the average flow expected for the typical ground water site along the study reach (see Table 4.2 for flow data). This value is useful when determining how much each ground water site throughout the study reach may decrease the river's overall temperature. Also, the calculated temperature decrease from ground water is important to find the expected energy stored in hyporheic exchange, which is discussed later in this thesis.

As discussed earlier, the ground water inflow sites (Figure 4.6) have a strong positive correlation coefficient because in summer months the ground water inflows are continuously at a cooler temperature than the surface water flow. Both nighttime and daytime temperatures at these sites will be cooler than the surface water

Table 4.2 Ground water inflows calculated; the inflow from 1980 to 2045m was neglected in average due to the possible end effects that could be giving a false decrease in temperature reading at this site. Standard deviations of surface water temperature of the 10m section before and 10m section after the ground water inflow are given.

		Tei	mperatu	re (C)			Tempe	erature (C)			
Gro	und	Surface		Co	old	Standard	Ground			Standard	Ground
Wa	iter	Water		Nigh	ttime	Deviation	Water	Warm	n Daytime	Deviation	Water
Start	Stop	Flows					Flow				Flow
(m)	(m)	(m^3/s)	Тg	Ti	То		(m^3/s)	Ti	То		(m^3/s)
240	260	0.93	14	16.98	16.94	0.06	0.01	20.45	20.30	0.02	0.02
600	630	0.97	14	17.38	17.23	0.04	0.05	20.47	20.33	0.03	0.02
918	940	0.92	14	17.57	17.38	0.11	0.05	20.08	19.78	0.07	0.05
970	1000	0.91	14	17.55	17.15	0.03	0.12	19.88	19.65	0.01	0.04
1330	1345	0.92	14	17.73	17.61	0.02	0.03	19.98	19.84	0.03	0.02
1445	1455	0.92	14	17.84	17.69	0.08	0.04	19.91	19.82	0.04	0.01
1825	1835	0.91	14	17.89	17.82	0.02	0.02	20.13	19.92	0.05	0.03
1925	1950	0.93	14	17.81	17.57	0.08	0.06	20.00	19.70	0.06	0.05
1980	2045	0.86	14	17.55	16.70		0.27	19.77	18.97		0.14
						Average	0.05			Average	0.03
					Average	Inflow	0.04				

temperatures found upstream to these sites; one example is Figure 4.8. In Figure 4.8 the highlighted section of the graph shows that both the nighttime temperature and the daytime temperature both have a cooling trend in this location which, according to our definitions, is a ground water inflow.

Using the nighttime temperature change at meters 915 - 930, using the ground water inflow calculation we find:

$$Q_1 = 0.9 \text{ m}^3/\text{s} * \left(\frac{17.38 \text{ }^\circ\text{C} - 17.57 \text{ }^\circ\text{C}}{14.0 \text{ }^\circ\text{C} - 17.57 \text{ }^\circ\text{C}}\right) = 0.05 \text{m}^3/\text{s}$$

And for a daytime temperature change at the same location we find:

$$Q_1 = 0.9 \text{ m}^3/\text{s} * \left(\frac{19.78 \text{ }^\circ\text{C} - 20.08 \text{ }^\circ\text{C}}{14.0 \text{ }^\circ\text{C} - 20.08 \text{ }^\circ\text{C}}\right) = 0.05 \text{m}^3/\text{s}$$

this represents about 5 % of the total stream flow per ground water site.

4.3.3 Hyporheic Exchange

For this discussion hyporheic exchange will be characterized as an area where surface water drops below the bed material into the subsurface where it is not directly affected by solar radiation for duration of up to one day. The water then re-emerges to combine with the surface water. The temperature in the hyporheic exchange is based on the diurnal temperature cycle and therefore was important to set the passage of water through the hyporheic exchange to six hours. If the duration of water passage through the gravel was less than six hours it is expected that downstream temperatures would not cool off to the same degree that were found in the measurements. The water would not carry the temperature signature from a cooler time of day, but rather a signature from a time of day slightly prior to the recorded time. Likewise, if the time of travel were much longer than the six hours, a longer lag in the temperature would be expected and it will begin to re-enter the stream with a signature close to the average daily or average weekly temperature. If hyporheic exchange is defined by a longer duration it will be difficult to locate through DTS measurements. Water emerging with residence time greater than one day will be designate as a ground water for the purpose of this study.



Figure 4.8 Example of a ground water inflow based on the locations found through the correlation coefficient from 915 to 930 meters.

For the hyporheic exchange we are interested in finding the depth of the hyporheic exchange that is necessary for the temperatures we have recorded along the fiber optic cable. For the data interpretation, a 6-hour travel time for water through the gravel will be used to further simplify the calculations. Through the energy balance incoming and outgoing calculated energies are used to find the necessary rate of change of stored energy in our control volume to show where any excess energy must have gone. The energy balance can be used to find the rate of change of stored energy in the control volume with the assumption that the hyporheic exchange is continuous over the entire study reach (1.7 km). In order to further understand the calculation it has been broken up into energy budget components and calculated for each hour from sunrise to peak solar radiation (the example calculations will be for 1pm, peak solar radiation for the Walla Walla River in August, 2007).

Incoming energy, $E_i = C_{vw}(T_u)(Q_s)$

$$4.18 \times 10^6 \text{ J/}(^{\circ}Cm^3) \times 20.64 \text{ }^{\circ}C \times 0.9 \text{ m}^3\text{/s} = 7.8 \times 10^7 \text{ J/s}$$

Solar radiation energy, $E_s = S(R)(F)$

 $1011 \text{ J/sm}^2 * 20000 \text{ m}^2 * 0.9 = 1.6 \text{ x } 10^7 \text{ J/s}$

Ground water energy in, $E_{gi} = C_{vw}(T_{gi})(Q_{gi})$

$$4.18 \ge 10^6 \text{ J/}(^\circ \text{Cm}^3) \ge 14^\circ \text{C} \ge 0.32 \text{ m}^3/\text{s} = 1.9 \ge 10^7 \text{ J/s}$$

Ground water energy out, $E_{go} = C_{vw}(T_{cv})(Q_{go})$

4.18 x 10⁶ J/(°*Cm*³) * 20.45 °*C* * 0.32 m³/s = 2.0×10^7 J/s

Lumped energy term, $E_l = L(R)$

 $88.2 \text{ J/sm}^2 * 20000 \text{m}^2 = 1.5 \text{ x } 10^6 \text{ J/s}$

Outgoing energy, $E_o = C_{vw}(T_d)(Q_s)$

The rate of change of stored energy would be the incoming energies minus the outgoing energies, $E_c = (E_i + E_s + E_{gi}) - (E_{go} + E_l + E_o) = 6.5 \times 10^6 \text{ J/s}$

This was done for all hours from sunrise to the peak mid-day solar radiation (Table 4.3) and the sum was computed. The depth of the hyporheic exchange can now be found from the cumulative amount of energy that went into storage. This depth can

be computed with the known volumetric heat capacity of both water and sediment in the control volume, the porosity of the bed material, and the known volume of surface water.

Hour	Ei (J/s)	Es (J/s)	Egi (J/s)	Ego (J/s)	EI (J/s)	Eo (J/s)	Ec (J/s)
5am	5.4E+07	2.2E+05	1.9E+07	2.0E+07	2.8E+06	5.8E+07	-8.2E+06
6am	5.7E+07	2.1E+06	1.9E+07	2.1E+07	2.8E+06	6.0E+07	-5.7E+06
7am	6.1E+07	4.5E+06	1.9E+07	2.2E+07	2.6E+06	6.3E+07	-3.5E+06
8am	6.5E+07	7.5E+06	1.9E+07	2.3E+07	2.4E+06	6.5E+07	-1.4E+05
9am	7.0E+07	9.7E+06	1.9E+07	2.5E+07	2.0E+06	7.0E+07	1.6E+06
10am	7.3E+07	1.2E+07	1.9E+07	2.6E+07	1.6E+06	7.3E+07	3.1E+06
11am	7.6E+07	1.3E+07	1.9E+07	2.7E+07	1.5E+06	7.5E+07	4.3E+06
12pm	7.7E+07	1.5E+07	1.9E+07	2.7E+07	1.4E+06	7.6E+07	6.1E+06
1pm	7.8E+07	1.6E+07	1.9E+07	2.7E+07	1.5E+06	7.7E+07	6.5E+06
						Sum	4.0E+06

Table 4.3 Calculated hourly energy fluxes.

The apparent heat capacity of the hyporheic exchange should equal the heat capacity of the overlaying water (C_{vw}) plus the heat capacity of the sediment (C_{vs}) (2.64 x 10⁶ J/(°*C* m³)) (Kulongoski and Izbicki, 2008) and the water in the hyporheic exchange combined. Using these values we may calculate the apparent hyporheic exchange depth. The heat capacities used are volumetric so the volumes of water (V_w) and hyporheic exchange (V_h) must be incorporated. These volumes are necessary to calculate the depth of hyporheic exchange. The volume for the hyporheic exchange is based on porosity for the alluvium; the stream bed material for the study has an assumed porosity of 0.3. Once the volume for the hyporheic exchange is found, the depth can be derived by dividing the volume by the surface area (SA) for the reach; 17,080 m². For a continuous hyporheic exchange in this study reach we can calculate the volume as:

$$V_{h} = \frac{\frac{32400s * 4.0 * 10^{6} J/s}{5.3^{\circ}C} - 4.18 * 10^{6} J/m^{3} \circ C}{0.3 * 4.18 * 10^{6} J/m^{3} \circ C + 0.7 * 2.64 * 10^{6} J/m^{3} \circ C} = 5530m^{3}$$

V_h/SA = Depth
5530m³ / 17080 m² = 0.32 m
0.3 m *100 cm/m = 30 cm

Having assumed that there is 10 cm surface water present above these locations of hyporheic exchange (based on field visits) the same methodology as used for the continuous hyporheic exchange above is acceptable for discrete locations of hyporheic exchange with one exception; the surface area of allowable exchange has been limited. The volume of the discrete hyporheic exchange will still be the same:

$$V_{h} = \frac{\frac{32400s * 4.0 * 10^{6} J/s}{5.3^{\circ}C} - 4.18 * 10^{6} J/m^{3} \circ C}{0.3 * 4.18 * 10^{6} J/m^{3} \circ C + 0.7 * 2.64 * 10^{6} J/m^{3} \circ C} = 5530m^{3}$$

However the surface area of interaction has changed: 5530 m³ / 3100 m² = giving 1.8 m of depth per site.

Individual locations, determined through the negative correlation coefficient between night and daytime surface water temperature measurements, of hyporheic exchange can be seen in Figure 4.9.

4.4 Fish locations

The last objective of this research was to compare the USFWS fish survey with the locations of cool water refugia that had been determined through the correlation coefficient. The USFWS survey was overlain on the hyporheic and ground water sites found through the stream analysis. This was done to see if the cold water fish species are congregating in cool water inflows during the warmest times of the day. Through this comparison the number of cold water fish found at these sites is compared to the total amount of cold water fish found over the entire reach (see Figure 3.3 for satellite imagery of the stream reach). Table 4.4 shows the fish location data collected by the USFWS during their fish survey completed for the study reach. Through the cool water location data and the fish survey data, a greater understanding of where fish may be located to avoid warm river temperatures in the Walla Walla River may be realized. The percentage of fish congregating at cold water refugia sites and whether they are cold water species is seen in Table 4.5 and is discussed later in this thesis. Ultimately, this may provide valuable information for the protection of these species.



Figure 4.9 Two examples of hyporheic exchange based on the locations found through the correlation coefficient.

Table 4.4

Snorkel surveys completed on 8/16/2007. This survey was completed by Courtney Newlon, Marshall Barrows, and Ryan Koch of the USFWS, Columbia River Fisheries Program Office, Vancouver, WA.

Snorkeling started at the downstream end of cable and ended at Maurer Lane.

Cable	Cable	Hat.	Nat CHK	0 mykies	Padeida			N	Adult
Start (matama)	(mantana)			0. IIIyKiss	Ch	Deee			Chinaala
(meters)	(meters)	juv	juv	juv	Sn.	Dace	sucker	pikeminnow	Спіпоок
13	45	0	24	12	200	200	60	100	0
58	85	0	17	10	50	150	10	25	0
68	94	3	6	7	80	150	20	15	0
111	141	2	25	21	100	150	20	20	3
192	228	3	8	20	50	250	100	25	0
438	462	2	75	30	200	300	10	30	0
496	527	0	15	4	25	500	25	5	0
604	627	0	160	22	200	400	35	25	0
645	660	0	20	0	250	200	100	10	0
698	712	0	144	25	100	200	40	15	0
733	756	0	26	3	50	300	25	15	0
860	883	1	194	55	300	500	100	50	0
948	1018	0	15	35	50	100	0	5	0
1045	1068	2	40	18	50	100	10	10	0
1120	1135	0	19	8	50	20	5	2	0
1154	1180	1	40	25	150	300	40	30	0

74

1318	1332	1	16	15	20	150	5	2	0
1366	1398								
		4	128	60	100	400	60	30	0
1550	1564	0	41	27	20	250	0	3	0
1616	1664	0	105	63	200	550	75	100	0
1787	1798	0	23	5	18	55	0	3	0
1845	1886	1	75	38	100	200	50	25	0
		Hat.							
		CHK	Nat. CHK	O. mykiss	Redside			N.	Adult
		juv	juv	juv	Sh.	Dace	sucker	pikeminnow	Chinook
	Totals	20	1216	503	2363	5425	790	545	3

Table 4.2 (continued)

Shading for locations with ground water inflow or hyporheic exchange Chinook Cable start Cable end Distance Salmon and Rainbow Trout (meters) (meters) (meters) All fish % stream length in refugia with fish present 17.8 Cold water All Fish species Total Individuals residing in refugia

% of Individuals residing

in refugia

Table 4.5 Fish locations from USFWS survey in connection with sites of refugia

5.0 Discussion

When the data analysis was first underway some issues arose that had to be managed for; this included the high noise in this data set and the jitter from the DTS. The temperature profiles for this study had high noise; the standard deviation in the data is 0.52 °C. This high noise is probably due to the high loss cable used (discussed further in the concluding remarks of this thesis) and the short distance that was used to integrate the temperature over (one meter). For the jitter found in this data set a smoothing average was employed to have the data follow the smooth daily temperature variations that are occurring in the natural setting. Still some small bumps in the data remain. These bumps, seen in Figure 4.3, may represent true temperature variations that occur in this river. The river is completely regulated during the time of year the cable was deployed. The temperature changes may be due to water being drafted or diverted for agriculture up stream of the study reach (per communication with WWBWC, 25 June 2008).

5.1 Solar Radiation Blocked

Solar radiation is the largest contributor to river heat and is therefore important to understand. It is equally important to understand what happens to the river temperature when the solar radiation is blocked. Shading blocks solar radiation, in essence, cooling a stream reach by reducing the heat load (Hostetler, 1991; Naiman et al., 1992; Davies and Nelson, 1994; Li et al., 1994; Poole and Berman, 2001). The magnitude of reduced heating from shading can be seen through simple calculations that account for the heat capacity of water, the solar radiation input, the surface area of the river, and the flow for the river. The objective is to see if these calculations will show that the heat blocked from a shaded stretch of a river reach will be noticed in the DTS temperature profile of the study reach.

Let us consider the difference a 50-meter patch of shading would have on a 2000-meter section of river. The addition of a 50-meter patch of shade would result in a 0.13 °C reduction in the peak downstream temperature, as seen in the results section.

This calculation was completed using the peak summertime solar radiation of 1000 $Watt/m^2$, as discussed earlier. This gives the basic understanding of what may be expected for a small section of shade in a 2000-meter segment of river in a location similar to the Walla Walla River where this study was completed. Due to the high noise in our measurements and the gradual nature of surface water cooling from shade we are unlikely to detect the discrete temperature changes from shade, in our study reach. A single patch of shade will have a temperature change that would fall within the standard deviation of a single trace.

Now consider our study site in the Walla Walla River specifically. A majority of the river had limited vegetative cover during the peak solar radiation. There was approximately triple the amount of shade from the above example, 150-meters of shade over the entire 2000-meter stretch that was surveyed. This suggests a maximum of 0.47 $^{\circ}$ C mid-day reduction of temperature once the water flows from the top to the bottom of the 2000-meter study reach. Since this temperature change in the natural setting is gradual for the river reach (shading is in distinct locations covering the entire river at some locations, and is in patchy spots for other locations) sudden drops in the DTS temperature trace due to the shaded sections are not expected. Cumulatively these shaded sections have an effect on the reach, giving a net change of temperature for the entire study reach of $0.47 \circ C$. This shows how re-vegetating a river may decrease the river's temperature significantly if completed over a long stretch of the river. Shading a river can have a large cumulative affect on decreasing the river's overall daily temperature. This is especially true for those rivers that need a 1 or 2 °C drop in the peak temperature for their TMDLs. By shading an additional 300 meters of the study reach we would expect approximately a 1 °C drop in the temperature of the outflow of the reach during peak temperatures.

This same calculation can be used to find solar heating for the entire 2000 meter reach un-shaded. When calculated for peak daily solar radiation, an increase in temperature by about 40 times this amount or $5.3 \degree C$ was found. If the 2000 meter study reach was not shaded the water temperature would increase $5.3 \degree C$ from beginning to end of the study reach. Through this we can see that when a river reach

has its vegetative cover completely removed, we may expect some devastating affects on cool water dependent fish species. The shade does not create any sudden changes in structure in the temperature profile that would give rise to thermal refuge for surface water species; however it does keep the river from maximized temperatures.

For the study reach the heat blocked by shade is scattered and is therefore difficult to quantify and locate through the DTS measurements. Much of this study reach has full sun exposure and is not well shaded. This study will take into account the effect shade will have on blocking solar radiation, but will not try and find an example of shading using the DTS measurements. There may be a reduction in temperature for the entire river due to shade, but for the study reach it is difficult to locate specific changes from the DTS temperature data due to stream shade.

5.2 Refugia

The hyporheic exchange and ground water inflow sites (Figures 4.6 and 4.7) were found by using DTS temperature data. The sections of the river that were identified through the correlation coefficient as either hyporheic exchange or ground water inflow were then visually checked to see if the locations agreed with our understanding of what a ground water inflow or hyporheic exchange location would look like from temperature profiles of the river. We have created a method to continuously locate areas along any particular river reach that give the most amount of cooling. These locations can be differentiated and maintained in order to help ensure that cooling at the hyporheic exchange and ground water sites during peak temperatures continues.

One concern with temperature measurements from the DTS system is the magnitude of the temperature change that the DTS measures from the cool water input to the river. The DTS is giving a reading every meter, but the water flowing from the hyporheic exchange may not fully mix for several meters, so a false reading for the amount of cooling occurring to the surface water from hyporheic exchange or ground water input may be seen. If the surface water is not completely mixed with the cool water inflow a larger drop in temperature for each cool water inflow site would be

used in the calculations, giving calculated cool water inflows that are larger than reality.

5.2.1 Ground Water Inflow

The ground water inflow sites were chosen based on the positive correlation coefficient between the night and daytime temperatures. This was then visually inspected to make sure that the temperature pattern expected for ground water is found from the data determined to be ground water through the correlation coefficient. Areas that are not accepted as ground water inflow sites are discussed later. For an example of ground water inflow see Figure 4.8, the correlation coefficient for the site is 0.95. The expectation for a strong positive correlation for a ground water location is a sudden drop in temperature for both night and day time temperatures. Surface water temperatures will not show a sudden decrease in temperature continuously for the three week average day and three week average nighttime temperatures unless a cooling source enters the river. For the data from the Walla Walla River, locations that have the characteristics seen in example Figure 4.8 are considered ground water sources. Through the DTS method we have successfully located cool ground water inflows to the study reach. This information will be useful for the Walla Walla Basin Watershed Council to help protect cold water fish in the region.

The ground water inflows were based on the surface water flows found in the river at one hour of the day. This river fluctuates in surface water flow during the summer months due to withdrawals upstream. The fluctuating surface water flows will give a fluctuating computed ground water inflow; this was not accounted for in this thesis. The surface water flows from the single hour flow survey were used to show the utility of the hyporheic exchange calculation not for accurate daily ground water flow measurements.

5.2.2 Hyporheic Exchange

The apparent global hyporheic exchange and evidence for local hyporheic exchange were also considered in this research. The difference in energy inflows and

outflows to the study reach will show the amount of energy the hyporheic exchange must have stored. For the hyporheic exchange calculation to find the incoming water temperature the first 50 meters of DTS surface water temperature data were used. For the outgoing water temperature the last 50 meters of DTS water temperature data were used. By subtracting the average daily temperature from the peak daily temperature for the upstream section, we find a $1.73 \,^{\circ}C$ average daily and when the same is done for the downstream section we get a $0.88 \,^{\circ}C$ average daily increase. Making this calculation we see that the upstream temperature change is greater than the downstream temperature? We think that this can be explained through the hyporheic exchange sites in the river.

The stored energy in the control volume gives the necessary thermal mass for the hyporheic exchange in order for the downstream temperature of the study reach to have a temperature lower than what would be found through the energy budget if no hyporheic exchange was considered. Because there is no assumed depth we can use the heat capacity of the hyporheic exchange and surface area of the river to determine the necessary depth of the hyporheic exchange.

From what has been calculated for the thermal mass of the hyporheic exchange the necessary depth for this zone can now be found. This depth is the distance that surface water had to continuously infiltrate into the streambed for the entire reach length in order to create the energy exchange needed for the downstream temperature found in the DTS temperature profile.

The effective depth that the surface water flowed into the hyporheic is approximately 30 cm. This is on the same order as the 2.5-15cm range that Harvey et al. (1998) found for similar stream bed porosity as this study (0.3). This indicates that approximately 50 percent of the total water is continually in hyporheic exchange, or that an additional 9.6 cm of water can be found in the sediment below the 10 cm of surface water that is flowing along the stream reach.

It is important to consider locations of hyporheic exchange that may be located through the DTS temperature measurements; these are the discrete hyporheic
exchange sites. The same calculations as used for continuous hyporheic measurement were for the effective depth of the hyporheic exchange at each of the discrete hyporheic exchange locations. Each site is assumed to have had 10 cm of surface water above them so a majority of the water flows through the porous media of the stream bed. The nine locations where the discrete hyporheic exchange takes place will be used; this is based on a -0.8 correlation coefficient or less.

By changing the calculation from a continuous hyporheic exchange to discrete locations of exchange, while maintaining all other aspects of the study channel equal, each hyporheic site would have approximately 1.8 meters depth of exchange. This depth for a single hyporheic exchange site is comparable with some of the findings by Fellows et al. (2001) where one of the streams in their study had a hyporheic exchange depth of 2.04 meters. This means that below the 10 cm of water on the surface there is an additional 50 cm of water within the sediment, or that 80 percent of the total amount of water is flowing through hyporheic exchange at these locations. This does not seem impractical from what was seen in the field. These calculations show that this new method of locating and describing hyporheic exchange continuously along a river reach looks to be comparable to past research. This method has advantages over past methods in that it will continuously locate the hyporheic exchange and show the temperature dynamics found at the research site. An additional aspect of the method is the use of simple calculations to find the depth of hyporheic exchange sites.

Once the negative correlation has been validated the hyporheic exchange site can be used to quantify the expected depth of sediment that is needed for the amount of cooling that had taken place. For the representative site chosen in Figure 4.9 from distance 705 to 720m the correlation coefficient from Figure 4.5 is found to be -0.83. From Figure 4.9 we can see that at night the river temperature increases approximately 0.1 °C at this location and during the day time the river temperature decreases approximately 0.2 °C at the same location. The calculation was completed for this site that shows the hyporheic depth of exchange for to be approximately 1.8 m in order to reduce the temperature of the water by the amount viewed in the DTS data. In reality both global and localized hyporheic interaction processes take place, but the analysis completed thus far will be enough to help identify these locations in the DTS data from the research site. One additional point must be made; some of the calculations done here were based on assumptions for the data, or data from a different year, or from low quality data. If higher quality data that represented the exact times considered were used the calculated hyporheic exchange depth would become much more accurate.

The river characteristics that are used for the calculations for the global hyporheic exchange were not very accurate and could easily be off by 25%. So let us consider a situation where the river characteristics make the river cooler, which should give a hyporheic exchange that is not as deep. We will say that the river is 7.5 m wide instead of 10 m, the flow is 1.1 m³/s instead of 0.9 m³/s, the 35% of the channel is shaded instead of 10%, and all other factors will remain the same. This would give a negative 4.5 m depth of hyporheic exchange. This means that for these new river characteristics and the temperature change of the control volume we would actually need the hyporheic exchange to increase the temperature of the river. Another possibility is that the river characteristics make a warmer situation than we have shown. Now the river is 12.5 m wide instead of 10 m, the flow is $0.7 \text{ m}^3/\text{s}$ instead of 0.9 m^3 /s, the 0% of the channel is shaded instead of 10%, and all other factors will remain the same. For these river characteristics and the same temperature change for the control volume the global hyporheic exchange would need to be 2.7 m in depth. We can see how accurate measurements of the river's characteristics are important to give accurate measurements of hyporheic exchange depth.

We can also consider how hyporheic exchange changes the river temperature. For the original hyporheic exchange calculation we find the control volume's outflow temperature from sunrise to daily peak solar radiation to have changed by 5 °C. If there is no hyporheic exchange (such as a bedrock reach) we would see this change to be 7 °C and if the hyporheic exchange was doubled we would find the temperature change of the river from sunrise to the daily peak solar radiation to be 3 °C. During peak solar radiation the temperature of the river dropped by 0.1 °C from the bedrock scenario to the hyporheic exchange found in our calculations then dropped another 0.1°C when the hyporheic exchange was doubled.

5.3 Fish Response to Cold Water Inflows

Cross-analysis of the fish survey with the DTS data shows that 60% of the cold water fish (salmonids and trout) were found in the cold water inflow locations that make up 18% of the river, showing that the areas identified by the DTS to be either ground water or hyporheic exchange had over three times the density of cold water fish population than the overall stream. In addition, when cold water fish and warm water fish are combined, 53% of the fish are found in 18% of the river at these cold water inflows (see Table 4.5). This shows that most of the cold water fish will reside at these cold water inflows during warm summer months. A cold water inflow does not seem to be the only attribute that determines fish presence. An additional 13% of the river reach consisted of cold water inflows but did not have fish present. This suggests that cold water inflows are not the sole driver for cold water fish movement, but are one of the defining attributes.

5.4 Difficulties

This research was new and exploratory which led to many difficulties along the way. In this section we will disclose some of the problems that were faced so projects in the future will not follow the same path.

One such difficulty came up when visually validating the cool water inflows determined through the correlation coefficient. Occasionally the cool water inflows were not found at the locations where they were expected from the correlation coefficient analysis. An example of this was when the cable was out of the water as seen in Figure 5.1 from 1570 to 1583 meters. This can happen when the cable is moved around by the water during high flows (if the cable is not well anchored to the river bed) or when people or animals drag the cable out of the water. The cable is also taken out of the water when there is a connector or if the cable is placed into an ice or water bath. At these locations you may find air temperatures show up in the data.

These locations are easy to identify; they will have a strong negative correlation similar to the hyporheic exchange sites, but the temperature will follow the diurnal cycle (warm in the day and cold at night), unlike the expectations for a cool water refugia. This is because the DTS will be measuring the air temperature which has greater peaks than the surface water temperature. For this study the air temperatures, were removed prior to data interpretation.

Unexpected warm water additions to the river added an additional problem with data analysis. This discrepancy was found in the data when using the correlation coefficient to locate cool water inputs. It could be seen as a continuous warm water inflow, such as an agricultural return flow (see Figure 5.1 from a distance of 1627 to 1634 meters for an example). The correlation coefficient for this site is strongly positive (0.95) which would lead us to believe it is a ground water inflow. Visual inspection reveals the opposite of what is expected for a ground water inflow. Instead of the expected ground water temperature change (a drop in temperature both day and night) an increase in temperature both day and night is found, possibly giving the signature that would be expected from an agriculture return flow or some other warm water supply continuously entering the river at this location.

When barrel connectors (a female / female connector, see Figure 5.2 at the 1030 meter distance) are present, there is an increase in the amount of light that escapes; giving more loss. In this circumstance both the night and day time temperature will either remain at an extremely high or low temperature (Figure 5.3). This is for a short distance and has much higher amplitude than the temperature variations that are expected. This large loss at the site of the barrel connecter will give more noise in the signal for the remainder of the measurements. Another problem is that the connectors themselves have shown temperature dependency, this was seen in a project completed at Lake Tahoe (accepted for publication at Water Resource Research, 2008). In addition, it is important to have the connectors be sealed from water. For this reason in this project the connectors remained out of the water which gives us an increased amount of air temperature data. The sections of river where this occurs can be removed from the data set so that it they will not impact any data

analysis. However, due to the double-ended nature of the temperature measurements, the locations have already increased the noise of the temperature measurements. This barrel connector affect shows that fusing cables together may be a better option than trying to use the barrel connector.



Figure 5.1 Result of air temperature (giving a false hyporheic exchange reading from the correlation coefficient) and agricultural return flow (giving a false ground water inflow reading from the correlation coefficient) in the temperature data.



Figure 5.2 High loss cable (acceptable loss is 1dB/ km) and an approximate 0.5 dB loss encountered at a barrel connector at 1030 and 0.75 dB loss at the barrel connector at 2060 meters.



Figure 5.3 Air temperature and barrel connector site from the temperature profile, the barrel connector is the large spike during both the night and day at 1030 m.

6.0 Concluding Remarks and Suggestions for Future Studies

Through continuous temperature analysis we have begun to locate cool water inflows to surface water. Once these areas of interaction are found they can be identified as either ground water or hyporheic exchange (depending on the designated timescales used) and quantified. Using the temperature measurements and stream data we can begin to determine the approximate depth that we would expect for the hyporheic exchange. The research has also used simple calculations to estimate expected temperature changes for a river from increasing shade, known ground water inputs, and from any hyporheic exchange that may be occurring or new hyporheic exchange zones planned in future projects. This temperature data is also being used in correlation with fish surveys to locate areas of habitat; fish rely on during peak day time temperatures and see if the fish locations relate to sites of cool water refugia found through DTS temperature analysis.

Cooling of surface waters during peak temperatures is important for the future of surface water ecosystems. With increasing temperatures worldwide do to climate change, it is important to find new ways to examine, define, and measure cool water inflows. We have presented the basics behind warming a river due to solar radiation. We briefly described the affects of shading on a river reach, quantified the amount of energy that is blocked by shading, and translated this to effective temperature reduction of the river. Then cold water inflows that cool peak temperatures, possibly sources of cold water refugia (ground water inflows and hyporheic exchange sites), were found. These sources of cool water were used to calculate the cooling expected on the study reach in the Walla Walla River. Then the data was used to quantify ground water inflows and the depth of the hyporheic exchange throughout the study reach. The data from the DTS was used to locate the cool water inflows for peak day time temperatures during the summer months. By comparing the nighttime to peak daytime temperatures through the correlation coefficient the hyporheic exchange sites were separated from the ground water inflows. This gave the WWBWC locations that can be protected for cold water inflows into the river to try to meet the TMDLs (Total

Maximum Daily Load) for temperature. Finally, the cold water sites were matched with a US Fish and Wildlife Service survey to see if the cold water fish were congregating at these cold water sites during the warm daytime temperatures. We found that 60% of the cold water fish were gathering in 18% of the river where cool water inflows were present. It is also important to note that 56% of the cold water inflows had the cold water fish present. The cold water inflows (ground water and hyporheic exchange) make up approximately one-third of the river's total length. We have given a method to locate cool water inflows and determine where approximately 60% of the cold water fish are located during summer daytime temperatures. We now know that 60% of the fish are in 18% of the river and that through the DTS measurements we can narrow the search for these cold water fish to 32% of the river.

This project has given new insight into river dynamics through the use of distributed temperature measurement. This data can be valuable to land managers in determining locations that deserve special protection in order to maintain cool water flows to the river and has shown how different cold water fish species rely on the cold water inflows for habitat during the warm summer months. We gave a simple overview on how cooling of surface waters may be represented in a natural setting and how this may look quantitatively.

A few problems did arise during the data acquisition and interpretation that should be briefly reviewed. DTS technology has been used in the environmental sciences for only a few decades and is still relatively new. The technology is coming along quickly, but there are a few problems that were seen during our field deployment. One of these issues is calibration of the system. Calibrating the DTS to your specific cable is very important, but can be difficult, especially when multiple cables are used. Each section of cable must be calibrated using two different known temperatures for each calibrated cable in order to get a correct calibration for both gain and offset. Recently, Agilent created a double-ended measurement which corrects for attenuation constantly along the cable which is a great improvement for the technology; however this has increased the overall noise of the temperature measurements. Since noise has a significant effect on fine-scaled measurements, a high quality cable is important. One of the cables used in this study had a large amount of loss (on the order of 8dB once connectors were added) which got attributed to both ends of the cable due to the double-ended measurement setup. A cable should have less than 1dB/km loss to maintain minimal noise in the measurement when using the double ended setting. Also, it is important to minimize the number of connectors used as they have a much greater loss than a fusion splice. The fusion splices are another issue; they are a necessary evil. The fusion splice is a learned skill and some of the field deployable units are finicky and demand a very clean environment. It is important to be well prepared before attempting fusions in the field.

Additional problems became evident during data interpretation. The cable doubles back at the 2061 meter mark, at this point there is a large drop in temperature. This drop may be where the ground water table is at the river's elevation, but it could also be due to a large loss and possibly some other effects from the connector at this location. This data had a slight "jitter" in the daily temperatures. The jitter was an artifact of the Agilent DTS; it was noticed because the water temperature did not follow the daily air temperature and daily solar radiation pattern. The daily air temperature and daily solar radiation data sets were plotted and viewed on an hourly basis for the entire stream we could see jumps in the data occurring, since water changes temperature slowly due to solar radiation and air temperature these jumps were determined to be instrument noise and have since been brought to the attention of Agilent.

DTS measurements are an excellent way to record temperature data for an entire stream reach continuously over time. This technology can be used in the future for the Walla Walla Basin Watershed Council, or by others, to show cold water inflows into a river. An additional season of data would greatly help clarify some of the findings presented in this thesis. It would allow us to determine if the ground water inflows are still occurring in the same locations and how the hyporheic exchange sites might change year to year. We could also investigate whether the fish are still in the same cold water refugia as observed in the summer of 2007. We might be able to determine if the large cool water zone at the end of the 2061 meters of cable was indeed a ground water upwelling. This could be found by increasing the reach length approximately 100 meters on the downstream end of the reach. If this location continued to show a large cooling we would know that there is a large interaction with the ground water occurring. If it had disappeared or had moved down to the new cable end, we would know that there is either a problem with the cable layout or the DTS itself.

Due to the high amount of light loss in the cable, the low spatial resolution of 1m, and capturing the data only ¼ of the time desired the temperature measurements from the project have high noise. We expect to find 1dB loss for 1km of cable distance, so for this project we would expect 4db loss for the 4km of cable we were getting data from. However, for this project we had a total loss of 12dB, which is a 93.7% loss of light and is 33.7% less light than what was expected. Since noise goes with the light^{0.5} a quality cable would give 2.5 times less noise, changing spatial resolution from 1m to 1.5m would give 1.4 times less noise, and capturing data every 15 minutes instead of every hour would give 2 times less noise; giving a possible total noise reduction of 7 times; therefore improving the calculated ground water inflow and hyporheic exchange depth quantities.

This research attempts to further introduce the DTS technology as an important new technology for environmental analysis. The DTS can be a useful tool in many areas of ecological engineering. Newer DTS instruments may not have as many of the problems that were noticed in this instrument; jitter in data, lack of temperature validation until the end of the project, the use of high loss fiber optic cable, increased care in the deployment and retrieval of the cable (at least with a 5 man crew if relying on man power), and loss of data due to the instrument not taking as much data as expected due to the nature of the double-ended measurement setting. Recently, a competing company has made steps toward a new DTS option that will automatically calibrate the cable to the DTS system. This development would be great progress in making the DTS a tool for land managers of all disciplines; as calibration is one of the more problematic features of the current technology. There was a large learning curve in the use of DTS as a tool for ecosystem science during this project. Future work can rely on this account to get through instrument set-up, deployment, and interpretation without some of the same issues arising. Additional studies using the DTS system should have a better data set to work with if the problem items listed above are taken into account. This should improve the temperature measurements greatly, reducing the noise to levels that will allow easier determination of the temperature changes in the sites of refugia.

This report will be sent to Bob Bower and the WWBWC to further their threatened and endangered fish projects in the basin. It will be added to the general research that has occurred in the basin in conjunction with Oregon State University over the past decade. It will also be used for practical management that may come from increased knowledge of the locations of the cool water locations found throughout the study reach.

7.0 References

Alexander, M.D. and Caissie, D. 2003. Variability and comparison of hyporheic water temperatures and seepage fluxes in a small Atlantic salmon stream. Ground Water 41: 72–83.

Anderson, M. P. 2005. Heat as a ground water tracer. Ground Water. 43: 951–968.

Arnell, N. W., and Liu, C. 2001. Hydrology and water resources, in Climate Change 2001: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability: Contribution of Working Group II to the Third Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change: 194–227. Cambridge Univ. Press, New York.

Atwell, B.H., MacDonald, R.B., and Bartolucci, L.A. 1971. Thermal mapping of streams from airborne radiometric scanning. Water Resources Bulletin. 7(2): 228-243.

Avery, C. 1994. Interaction of ground water with the Rock River near Byron, Illinois. U.S. Geological Survey Water-Resources Investigations Report. 94(4034).

Bachman, S., Hauge, C., McGlothlin, R., Parker, T.K., Saracino, A.M. and Slater, S.S. 2005. California Groundwater Management. 272. Groundwater Res. Assoc. of Calif., Sacramento.

Baldwin, K. and Stohr, A. 2007. Walla Walla Watershed Temperature Total Maximum Daily Load Water Quality Improvement Report. Water Quality Program and Environmental Assessment Program Washington State Department of Ecology Olympia, Washington 98504-7710. Publication No. 07-10-030.

Ballard, S. 1996. The in situ permeable flow sensor: A ground-water flow velocity meter. Ground Water. 34(2): 231-240.

Baltz, D.M., Vondracek, B., Brown, L.R., and Moyle, P.B. 1987. Influence of temperature on microhabitat choice by fishes in a California stream. Trans. Amer. Fish. Soc. 116: 12-20.

Barnett, T. P., Adam, J.C. and Lettenmaier, D.P. 2005. Potential impacts of a warming climate on water availability in snow-dominated regions. Nature. 438(7066): 303–309.

Bartolino, J.R., Niswonger, R.G. 1999. Numerical simulation of vertical ground-water flux of the Rio Grande from ground-water temperature profiles, central New Mexico. US Geol Surv Water-Resour Invest Rep. 99(4212): 34.

Becker, C.D., and Fugihara, M.P. 1978. The bacterial pathogen, Flexibacter columnaris, and its epizootiology among Columbia River fish: a review and synthesis. Am. Fish. Soc. Monogr. No. 2.

Becker, M.W., Georgian, T., Ambrose, H., Siniscalchi, J., and Fredrick, K. 2004. Estimating flow and flux of groundwater discharge using water temperature and velocity. Journal of Hydrology 296(1–4): 221–233.

Beitinger, T.L., and Fitzpatrick, L.C. 1979. Physiological and ecological correlates of preferred temperature in fish. Am. Zool. 19: 319–329.

Bencala, K.E., McKnight, D.M., and Zellweger, G.W. 1987. Evaluation of natural tracers in an acidic and metal-rich stream. Water Resour. Res. 23: 5.

Berman, C.H. and Quinn, T.P. 1991. Behavioral thermoregulation and homing by spring Chinook salmon, Oncorhynchus tshawytscha (Walbaum), in the Yakima River. Journal of Fish Biology. 39: 301-312.

Beschta, R.L., Bilby, R.E., Brown, G.W., Holtby, L.B., and Hofstra, T.D. 1987. Stream temperature and aquatic habitat: fisheries and forestry interactions. In Streamside management: forestry and fishery interactions. Edited by Salo, E.O. and Cundy, T.W. Institute of Forest Resources, University of Washington, Seattle, Wash.: 191–232.

Beschta, R.L., and Taylor, R.L. 1988. Stream temperature increases and land use in a forested Oregon watershed. Water Resour. Bull. 24: 19–25.

Bjornn, T.C. and Reiser, D.W. 1991. habitat requirements of salmonids in streams. p. 83-138 in W.R. Meehan, editor. Influences of forest and rangeland management on salmonid fishes and their habitats. American Fisheries Society Special Publication. 19.

Boulton, A.J., Findlay, S., Marmonier, P., Stanley, E.H., and Valett, H.M. 1998. The functional significance of the hyporheic zone in streams and rivers. Annual Reviews in Ecology and Systematics. 29: 59–81.

Bower, D., Hannah, D.M., and McGregor, G.R. 2004. Techniques for assessing the climatic sensitivity of river flow regimes. Hydrol. Processes. 18: 2515–2543.

Bredehoeft, J. D. and Papadopolous, I.S. 1965. Rates of vertical groundwater movement estimated from the Earth's thermal profile, Water Resour. Res. 1: 325–328.

Brett, J.R. 1952. Temperature tolerances in young Pacific salmon, Oncorhynchus. J. Fish. Res. Board Can. 9: 268–323.

Cairns. 1974. Indicator species vs. the concept of community structure as an index of pollution. Journal of the American Water Resources Association. 10(2): 338–347.

Carr, M.R., and Winter, T.C. 1980. An annotated bibliography of devices developed for direct measurement of seepage. U.S. Geol. Surv. Open-File Rep. 80(344): 38.

Cartwright, K. 1970. Groundwater discharge in the Illinois basin as suggested by temperature anomalies. Water Resources Research. 6(3): 912–918.

Conant, B., Jr. 2004. Delineating and quantifying ground water discharge zones using streambed temperatures. Ground Water. Vol. 42. No. 2: 243-257.

Constantz, J. 1998. Interaction between stream temperature, streamflow, and groundwater exchanges in alpine streams. Water Resources Research. Vol. 34. No. 7: 1609–1615.

Constantz, J., Cox, M.H., Su, G.W. 2003. Comparison of Heat and Bromide as Ground Water Tracers Near Streams. Ground Water. 41 (5): 647–656.

Constantz, J., Stewart, A.E., Niswonger, R., and Sarma, L. 2002. Analysis of temperature profiles for investigating stream losses beneath ephemeral channels. Water Resources Research, Vol. 38, No. 12: 1316.

Constantz, J. and Thomas, C.L. 1996. The use of streambed temperature profiles to estimate the depth, duration, and rate of percolation beneath arroyos. Water Resources Research. 32(12): 3597-3602.

Constantz, J., Thomas, C.L., and Zellweger, G. 1994. Influence of diurnal variations in stream temperature on streamflow loss and groundwater recharge, Water Resour. Res. 30(12): 3253–3264.

Constantz, J. and Zellweger, G. 1995. Relations between stream temperature, discharge, and stream/groundwater interaction along several mountain streams. *In* Guy, B. T. and Barnard, J. (Eds), Mountain Hydrology Proceedings. Can. Wat. Resour. Ass., Ontario, Canada. p. 285.

Cook, P.G., Favreaub, G., Dighton, J.C., and Tickell, S. 2003. Determining natural groundwater influx to a tropical river using radon, chlorofluorocarbons and ionic environmental tracers. Journal of Hydrology. Volume 277, Issues 1-2: 74-88.

Cox, M.H., Su, G.W., Constantz, J. 2007. Heat, Chloride, and Specific Conductance as Ground Water Tracers near Streams. Ground Water. 45 (2): 187–195.

Crittenden, R.N. 1978. Sensitivity analysis of a theoretical energy balance model for water temperatures in small streams. Ecol. Model. 5: 207–224.

Curry, R.A., and Noakes, D.L.G. 1995. Groundwater and the selection of spawning sites by brook trout (Salvelinus fontinalis). Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 52: 1733–1740.

Curry, R.A., Noakes, D.L.G., and Morgan, G.E. 1995. Groundwater and the emergence of brook trout (Salvelinus fontinalis). Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 52: 1741–1749.

Davies, P.E. and Nelson, M. 1994. Relationships between riparian buffer widths and the effects of logging on stream habitat invertebrate community composition and fish abundance. Aust. J. Mar. Freshwater Res. 45: 1289–1305.

Darcy, H. 1856. Les fontaines publiques de la ville de Dijon. Dalmont, Paris.

DEQ (Oregon Department of Environmental Quality). August 2005. Walla Walla Subbasin Stream Temperature Total Maximum Daily Load and Water Quality Management Plan.

http://www.deq.state.or.us/wq/tmdls/docs/wallawallabasin/tmdlwqmp.pdf. [accessed 26 June 2008]

DEQ (Oregon Department of Environmental Quality). 2006. Draft Proposed Rule Revisions to OAR Chapter 340, Division 041: Water Quality Standards. <http://www.deq.state.or.us/wq/standards/WQStdsTurbidity.htm>. [accessed 29 December 2007].

Dingman, S.L. 2002. Physical Hydrology 2nd ed. Prentice-Hall, Inc. Upper Saddle River, New Jersey. p. 252, 325 and 489.

Ebersole, J.L., Liss, W.J., and Frissell, C.A. 2003. Thermal Heterogeneity, stream channel morphology, and salmonid abundance in northeastern Oregon streams: Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences. v. 60: 1266-1280.

Edwards, R.T. 1998. The hyporheic zone. In: Naiman RJ, Bilby RE, editors. River ecology and management. New York: Springer-Verlag. p 399–429.

EPA. 2004. Standard operating procedure for streamflow measurement. http://www.epa.gov/region6/6pd/qa/qadevtools/mod5_sops/misc_field_procudures/r6f lowmeasure_sop013103.pdf. [accessed 26 June 2008]

Evans, E.C., Greenwood, M.T., and Petts, G.E. 1995. Short communication: thermal profiles within river beds. Hydrol. Processes. 9: 19–25.

Fellows, C., Valett, H., Dahm, C. 2001. Whole-stream metabolism in two montane streams: contribution of the hyporheic zone. Limnol Oceanogr 46: 523-531

Ferguson, G., Woodbury, A.D., and Matile, G.L.D. 2003. Estimating deep recharge rates beneath an interlobate moraine using temperature logs. Ground Water. 41(5): 640–646.

Ficke, A.D., Myrick, C.A., Hansen, L.J. 2007. Potential impacts of global climate change on freshwater fisheries. Rev Fish Biol Fisheries. 17: 581–613.

Flury, M. and Wai, N.N. 2003. Dyes as tracers for vadose zone hydrology. Rev. Geophys. 41(1): 1002.

Fryar, A.E., Wallin, E.J., and Brown, D.L. 2000. Spatial and temporal variability in seepage between a contaminated aquifer and tributaries to the Ohio River. Ground Water Monitoring and Remediation. 20(3): 129-146.

Gibson, R. J. 1966. Some factors influencing the distribution of brook trout and young Atlantic salmon. Journal of the Fisheries Research Board of Canada. 23: 1977-1980

Google. 2008. Google Maps. http://maps.google.com/maps?hl=en&tab=wl. [accessed 27 July 2008]

Grattan, L.S., and Meggitt, B.T. 2000. Optical fiber sensor technology: advanced applications Bragg gratings and distributed sensors. Springer, London.

Halupka, K.C., Bryant, M.D., Willson, M.F., and Everest, F.H. 2000. Biological characteristics and population status of anadromous salmon in southeast Alaska. Gen. Tech. Rep. PNW-GTR-468. Portland, OR: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Research Station. 255 p.

Harvey, J.W. and Bencala, K.E. 1993. The effect of streambed topography on surface-subsurface water exchange in mountain catchments. Water Resources Research. 29(1): 89-98.

Harvey, J.W. and Fuller, C.C. 1998. Effect of enhanced manganese oxidation in the hyporheic zone on basin-scale geochemical mass balance. Water Resour. Res. 34:623–36

Hatch, C.E., Fisher, A.T., Revenaugh, J.S., Constantz, J., and Ruehl, C. 2006. Quantifying surface water–groundwater interactions using time series analysis of streambed thermal records: Method development. Water Resources Research. Vol. 42: W10410. Hayashi, M. and Rosenberry, D.O. 2002. Effects of ground water exchange on the hydrology and ecology of surface water. Ground Water. 40: 309–316.

Healy, R.W. and Ronan, A.D. 1996. Documentation of computer program VS2DH for simulation of energy transport in variably saturated porous media – modification of the US Geological Survey's computer program VS2DT. US Geol. Surv. Water-Resour. Invest. Rep. 96(4230): 36.

Hendricks, S.P. and White, D.S. 1991. Physicochemical patterns within a hyporheic zone of a northern Michigan river, with comments on surface water patterns. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 48: 1645–1654.

Hinkle, S. R., Duff, J.F., Triska, F.J., Laenen, A., Gates, E.B., Bencala, K.E., Wentz, D.A., and Silva, S.R. 2001. Linking hyporheic flow and nitrogen cycling near the Willamette River—A large river in Oregon, USA. J. Hydrol. 244: 157–180.

Hokanson, K.E.F., Kleiner, C.F., and Thorslund, T.W. 1977. Effects of constant temperatures and diel temperature fluctuations on specific growth and mortality reates and yield of juvenile rainbow trout, Salmo gairdneri. J. Fish. Res. Bd Can. 34: 639-648.

Hondzo, M., and Stefan, H.G. 1994. Riverbed heat conduction prediction. Water Resour. Res. 30: 1503–1513.

Hornung, M. and Reynolds, B. 1995. The effects of natural and anthropogenic environmental changes on ecosystem processes at the catchment scale. Trends in Ecology and Evolution. Volume 10. Issue 11. Pages 443-449.

Hostetler, S.W. 1991. Simulation of lake ice and its effect on the late-Pleistocene evaporation rate of Lake Lahontan. Climate Dyn. 6: 43-48.

Hunt, R.J. 2006. Ground water modeling applications using the analytic element method. Ground Water. 44: 5–15.

Hutchinson, P.A. and Webster, I.T. 1998. Solute uptake in aquatic sediments due to current–obstacle interactions. J Environ Eng, ASCE. 125(5): 419–426.

Ingebritsen, S.E., Sherrod, D.R., and Mariner, R.H. 1992. Rates and patterns of groundwater flow in the Cascade range volcanic arc, and the effect on subsurface temperature. J. Geophys. Res. 97: 4599–4627.

Jobling, M. 1981. Dietary digestibility and the influence of food components on gastric evacuation in plaice, Pleuronectes platessa. L. J. Fish Biol. 19: 29–36.

Johnson, S.L. and Jones, J.A. 2000. Stream temperature responses to forest harvest and debris flows in western Cascades, Oregon. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 57(Suppl. 2): 30–39.

Kalbus, E., Reinstorf, F., and Schirmer, M. 2006a. Measuring methods for groundwater – surface water interactions: a review. Hydrol. Earth Syst. Sci. 10: 873–887.

Kalbus, E., Reinstorf, F., and Schirmer, M. 2006b. Measuring methods for groundwater, surface water and their interactions: a review. Hydrol. Earth Syst. Sci. Discuss. 3: 1809–1850.

Keller, E. A. and Hofstra, T.D. 1983. Summer cold pools in Redwood Creek near Orick, California, and their importance as habitat for anadromous salmonids. Pages 221-224 in Proceedings of first biennial conference of research in California national parks. U.S. National Park Service, Cooperative Park Studies Unit, Davis, California.

Kenoyer, G.J., and Anderson, M.P. 1989. Groundwater's dynamic role in regulating acidity and chemistry in a precipication-dominated lake. J. Hydrol. 109: 287-306.

Kerfoot, H.B. 1987. Soil-Gas measurement for detection of groundwater contamination by volatile organic compounds. Environ. Sci. Technol. 21(10): 1022–1024.

Kobayashi, D. 1985. Separation of the snowmelt hydrograph by stream temperatures. J. Hydrol. 76: 155-165.

Kobayashi, D., Ishii, Y. and Kodama, Y. 1999. Stream temperature, specific conductance and runoff process in mountain watersheds. Hydrol. Process. 13: 865-876.

Kulongoski, J.T. and Izbicki, J.A. 2008. Simulation of fluid, heat transport to estimate desert stream infiltration. Ground Water. 46(3): 462-474.

Landon, M.K., Rus, D.L., and Harvey, F.E. 2001. Comparison of instream methods for measuring hydraulic conductivity in sandy streambeds. Ground Water. 39(6): 870-885.

Lapham, W. W. 1989. Use of temperature profiles beneath streams to determine rates of vertical ground-water flow and vertical hydraulic conductivity. U.S. Geol. Surv. Water Supply Pap. 2337: 35.

Larkin, R.G. and Sharp, J.M. Jr. 1992. On the relationship between river-basin geomorphology, aquifer hydraulics, and ground-water flow direction in alluvial aquifers. Geological Society of America Bulletin. 104: 1608-1620.

Lee, D.R. 1985. Method for locating sediment anomalies in lakebeds that can be caused by groundwater flow. Journal of Hydrology. 79: 187-193.

Lee, D.R. and Cherry, J.A. 1978. A field exercise on groundwater flow using seepage meters and minipiexometers. J. Geol. Educ. 27: 6-10.

Lee, D.R., Cherry, J.A., and Pickens, J.F. 1980. Groundwater transport of a salt tracer through a sandy lakebed. Limnology and Oceanography. 25(1): 45-61.

Lee, D.R. and Hynes, H.B.N. 1977. Identification of groundwater discharge zones in a reach of Hillman Creek in Southern Ontario. Water Pollut. Res. Can. 13: 121-133.

Lettenmaier, D.P., Wood, A.W., Palmer, R.N., Wood, E.F., and Stakhiv, E.Z. 1999. Water resources implications of global warming: A U.S. regional perspective. Clim. Change. 43: 537–579.

Li, H.W., Lamberti, G.A., Pearsons, T.N., Tait, C.K., and Buckhouse, J.C. 1994. Cumulative effects of riparian disturbances along high desert trout streams of the John Day Basin, Oregon: Transactions of the American Fisheries Society. v. 123: 627-640.

Lowry, C.S., Walker, J.F., Hunt, R.J., and Anderson, M.P. 2007. Identifying spatial variability of groundwater discharge in a wetland stream using a distributed temperature sensor. Water Resources Research. Vol. 43: W10408.

Matthews, K.R. and Berg, N.H. 1997. Rainbow trout responses to water temperature and dissolved oxygen stress in two southern California stream pools. Journal of Fish Biology. 50: 50–67.

Matthews, K.R., Berg, N.H., and Azuma, D.L. 1994. Cool water formation and trout habitat use in a deep pool in the Sierra Nevada, California. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society. 123: 549-564.

McClain, M.E., Boyer, E.W., Dent, C.L., Gergel S.E., Grimm N.B., Groffman P.M., Hart S.C., Harvey J.W., Johnston C.A., Mayorga E., McDowell W.H., and Pinay G. 2003. Biogeochemical hot spots and hot moments at the interface of terrestrial and aquatic ecosystems. Ecosystems. 6: 301–312.

McCullough, D. 1999. A Review and Synthesis of Effects of Alterations to the Water Temperature Regime on Freshwater Life Stages of Salmonids, with Special Reference to Chinook Salmon. Columbia Intertribal Fisheries Commission, Portland, OR. Prepared for the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency Region 10. EPA 910-R-99-010.

Meigs, L.C. and Bahr, J.M. 1995. Three-dimensional groundwater flow near narrow surface water bodies. Water Resources Research. 31(12): 3299-3307.

Moffett, K.B., Tyler, S.W., Torgersen, T., Menon, M., Selker, J.S. and Gorelick, S.M. 2007. Processes Controlling the Thermal Regime of Salt Marsh Channel Beds. Env. Sci. and Tech.

Myrick, C.A. and Cech Jr., J.J. 2001. Temperature Effects on Chinook Salmon and Steelhead: a Review Focusing on California's Central Valley Populations. Bay-Delta Modeling Forum Technical Publication 01-1.

Naiman, R.J., Beechie, T.J., Benda, L.E., Berg, D.R., Bisson, P.A., MacDonald, L.H., O'Connor, M.D., Olson, P.L., and Steel, A. 1992. Fundamental elements of ecologically healthy watersheds in the Pacific Northwest coastal ecoregion. *In* Watershed Management. R.J. Naiman. (ed.). pp. 127–188. New York: Springer-Verlag.

Naiman, R.J. and Bilby, R.E. (eds.). 1998. River Ecology and Management: Lessons From the Pacific Coastal Ecoregion. New York: Springer-Verlag.

Naiman, R.J., Magnuson, J.J., and Firth, P.L. 1998. Integrating cultural, economic, and environmental requirements for fresh water. Ecological Applications. 8: 569-570.

NASA. National Aeronautics and Space Administration. 2008. Educational Brief. Solar Radiation and the Earth System. Relating Solar Radiation Physics to Earth and Space Science Concept. http://edmall.gsfc.nasa.gov/inv99Project.Site/Pages/sciencebriefs/ed-stickler/ed-irradiance.html. [accessed 26 June 2008]

Nelson, R.L., McHenry, M.L., and Platts, W.S. 1991. Mining. Pages 425-457 *in* W.R. Meehan. (ed.). Influences of forest rangeland management on salmonid fishes and their habitatas. American Fisheries Society Special Publication 19.

Nielsen, T.G. and Kiorboe, T. 1994. Regulation of zooplankton biomass and production in a temperate, coastal ecosystem. 2. Ciliates. Limnol Oceanogr. 39: 508–519.

Niswonger, R. G., Prudic, D. E., Pohll, G., and Constantz, J. 2005. Incorporating seepage losses into the unsteady streamflow equations for simulating intermittent flow along mountain front streams. Water Resour. Res. 41. W06006.

Panagoulia, D., and Dimou, G. 1996. Sensitivities of groundwater-streamflow interaction to global climate change. Hydrol. Sci. J. 41(5): 781–796.

Paulsen, R.J., Smith, C.F., O'Rourke, D., and Wong, T.F. 2001. Development and evaluation of an ultrasonic ground water seepage meter. Ground Water. 39(6): 904-911.

Poole, G.C. and Berman, C.H. 2001. An ecological perspective on in-stream temperature: natural heat dynamics and mechanisms of human-caused thermal degradation. Environ. Manage. 27: 787–802.

Power, G. 1980. The brook Charr, Salvelinus Fontinalis. *In* Balon, E.K. (Ed.). Charrs: Salmonid Fishes of the Genus Salvelinus. Junk, The Hague. 141-203.

Power, G., Brown, R.S., Imhof, J.G. 1999. Groundwater and fish - insights from northern North America. Hydrological Processes. Volume 13. Issue 3: 401 – 422.

PRISM. 2002. Oregon annual precipitation. http://www.ocs.orst.edu/prism/. [accessed 18 March 2008]

Rahel, F.J., Keleher, K.J., and Anderson, J.L. 1996. Potential habitat loss and population fragmentation for cold water fish in the North Platte River drainage of the Rocky Mountains: response to climate warming. Limnol. Oceanogr. 41: 1116–1123.

Reeves, G.H., Everest, F.H., and Hall, J.D. 1987. Interactions between the redside shiner (Richardsonius balteatus) and the steelhead trout (Salmo gairdneri) in western Oregon: the influence of water temperature. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 44: 1603–1613.

Resh, V.H., Brown, A.V., Covich, A.P., Gurtz, M.E., Li, H.W., Minshall, G.W., Reice, S.R., Sheldon, A.L., Wallace, J.B., and Wissmar, R.C. 1988. The Role of Disturbance in Stream Ecology. Journal of the North American Benthological Society. Vol. 7. No. 4. pp. 433-455.

Riggs, H.C. 1972. Low-flow investigations: U.S. Geological Survey Techniques of Water-Resources Investigations. Book 4, chap. B1: 18.

Rorabaugh, M.I. 1956. Ground water in North-eastern Louisville, Kentucky, with reference to induced infiltration. US Geological Survey Water-Supply Paper. 1360-B, 68.

Rorabough, M.I. 1963. Stream-bed percolation in development of water supplies, *in* Methods of Collecting and Interpreting Groundwater Data. R. Bentall. (ed.). U.S. Geol. Surv. Water Supply Pap. 1544-H: 47–62.

Savant, S. A., Reible, D.D., and Thibodeaux, L.J. 1987. Convective transport within stable river sediments. Water Resour. Res. 23: 1763–1768.

Selker, J.S., The´venaz, L., Huwald, H., Mallet, A., Luxemburg, W., Van de Giesen, N., Stejskal, M., Zeman, J., Westhoff, M., and Parlange, M.B. 2006a. Distributed fiber-optic temperature sensing for hydrologic systems. Water Resour. Res. 42: W12202.

Selker, J., Van De Giesen, N., Wethoff, M., Luxemburg, W., and Parlange, M.B. 2006b. Fiber optics opens window on stream dynamics. Geophys. Res. Lett. 33: L24401.

Shanley, J.B. and Peters, N.E. 1988. Preliminary observations of streamflow generation during storms in a forested Piedmont watershed using temperature as a tracer. Journal of Contaminant Hydrology. 3: 349–365.

Shaw, R.D. and Prepas, E.E. 1990. Groundwater-lake interactions. I. Accuracy of seepage meter extimations of lake seepage. J. Hydrol. 119: 105-120.

Shaw, R.D., Shaw, J.F.H., Fricker, H., Prepas, E.E. 1990. An integrated approach to quantify groundwater transport phosphorus to Narrow Lake, Alberta. Limnol. Oceanogr. 35: 870-886.

Silliman, S.E., and Booth, D.F. 1993. Analysis of time-series measurements of sediment temperatures for identification of gaining vs. losing portions of Juday Creek, Indiana. J. Hydrol. 146(1–4): 131–148.

Silliman, S. E., Ramirez, J., and McCabe, R. 1995. Quantifying downflow through creek sediments using temperature time series: Onedimensional solution incorporating measured surface temperature. J. Hydrol. 167(1–4): 99–119.

Sinokrat, B.A., and Stefan, H.G. 1993. Stream temperature dynamics: Measurement and modeling, Water Resour. Res. 29(7): 2299–2312.

Snyder, M. A., Bell, J.A., Sloan, L.C., Duffy, P.B. and Govindsamy, B. 2002. Climate responses to a doubling of atmospheric carbon dioxide for a climatically vulnerable region. Geophys. Res. Lett. 29(11): 1514.

Sophocleous, M. 2000. From safe yield to sustainable development of water resources—The Kansas experience. J. Hydrol. 235: 27–43.

Sophocleous, M. 2004. Climate change: Why should water professionals care?, Ground Water. 42(5): 637.

Stallman R.W. 1965. Steady one-dimensional fluid flow in a semi-infinite porous medium with sinusoidal surface temperature. J. Geophys. Res. 70: 2821–2827.

Stanford, J.A., and Ward, J.V. 1988. The hyporheic habitat of river ecosystems. Nature (Lond.). 335: 64–66.

Stephens, D. B., and Heermann, S. 1988. Dependence of anisotropy on saturation in a stratified sand. Water Resour. Res. 24. 770–778.

Stonestrom, D.A., and Constantz, J. (ed.). 2003. Heat as a tool for studying the movement of ground water near streams. USGS Circular 1260. USGS.

Taniguchi, M. 1993. Evaluation of vertical groundwater fluxes and thermal properties of aquifers based on transient temperature-depth profiles. Water Resources Research 29(7): 2021–2026.

Taniguchi, M. 1994. Estimated recharge rates from groundwater temperatures in the Nara Basin, Japan. Hydrogeology Journal. 2(4): 7–14.

Thibodeaux, L.J., and Boyle, J.D. 1987. Bedform-generated convective transport in bottom sediment. Nature (Lond.). 325: 341–343.

Torgersen, C.E., Price, D.M., Li, H.W., and McIntosh, B.A. 1999. Multiscale thermal refugia and stream habitat associations of chinook salmon in northeastern Oregon: Ecological Applications. v. 9: 301-319.

Triska, F. J., Kennedy, V. C., Avanzino, R. J., Zellweger, G. W. and Bencala, K. E. 1989. Retention and transport of nutrients in a third-order stream in northwestern California: hyporheic processes. Ecology. 70: 1893-1905.

Tufillaro, N., Dorighi, J., Collier, M., and Selker, J. 2007. Measuring Stream Dynamics with Fiber Optics. Agilent Measurement Journal. Issue 3: 68-74.

Vervier, P. and Naiman, R.J. 1992. Spatial and temporal fluctuations of dissolved organic carbon in subsurface flow of the Stillaguamish River (Washington, USA). Arch. Hydrobiol. 123: 401–412.

Volkman, J.K. 2003. Sterols in microorganisms. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology. 60: 495–506.

Wait, P.C. and Newson, T.P. 1995. Landau Placzek ratio applied to distributed fibre sensing. Published by Elsevier Science B.V.

Waller, R.M. 1988. Ground Water and the Rural Homeowner. U.S. Geological Survey, Reston, VA.

Woessner, W.W., Sullivan, K.E. 1984. Results of seepage meter and mini-piezometer study, Lake Mead, Nevada. Ground Water. 22: 561–568.

Webb, B.W., and Zhang, Y. 1997. Spatial and seasonal variability in the components of the river heat budget. Hydrol. Processes. 11: 79–101.

Westhoff, M.C., Savenije, H.H.G., Luxemburg, W.M.J., Stelling, G.S., Van de Giesen, N.C., Selker, J.S., Pfister, L., and Uhlenbrook. S. 2007. A distributed stream temperature model using high resolution temperature observations. Hydrol. Earth Syst. Sci. 11: 1469–1480.

White, D.S. 1993. Perspectives on defining and delineating hyporheic zones. J. North Am. Benthol. Soc. 12: 61–69.

Williams, G. P. 1989. Sediment Concentration Versus Water Discharge During Single Hydrologic Events in Rivers. Journal of Hydrology. 111: 89-106.

Winter, T.C. 1978. Numerical simulation of steady-state, threedimensional ground-water flow near lakes. Water Resour Res. 14: 245–254.

Winter, T.C. 1981. Uncertainties in estimating the water balance of lakes. Water Res. Bull. 17: 82-115.

Winter, T.C. 1983. The interaction of lakes with variably saturated porous media. Water Resour Res. 19: 1203–1218.

Winter, T.C. 1986. Effect of ground-water recharge on configuration of the water table beneath sand dunes and on seepage in lakes in the sandhills of Nebraska. J Hydrol. 86: 221–237.

Winter, T.C., Harvey, J.W., Franke, O.L., and Alley, W.M. 1998. Ground Water and Surface Water: A Single Resource. U.S. Geological Survey Circular 1139.

Wondzell, S.M., Cunningham, G.L. and Bachelet, D. 1996. Relationships between landforms, geomorphic processes, and plant communities on a watershed in the northern Chihuahuan Desert. Landscape Ecol. 11: 351-362.

Wondzell, S.M. and Swanson, F.J. 1999. Floods, channel change, and the hyporheic zone. Water Resour. Res. 35: 555–567.

Wood, P.J. and Petts, G.E. 1999. The influence of drought on chalk stream macroinvertebrates. Hydrological Processes. 13: 387–399.